IDEALS OF FUNCTION RINGS ASSOCIATED WITH SUBLOCALES

by

DORCA NYAMUSI STEPHEN

submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in the subject

MATHEMATICS

at the

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AFRICA

SUPERVISOR: Professor T.A. Dube

MARCH 2021

Declaration

Student number: 65104226

I declare that Ideals of Function Rings Associated with Sublocales is my own work and that all the sources that I have used or quoted have been indicated and acknowledged by means of complete references. This thesis has not been submitted for examination or degree at any other university.

Signed: _____ Dorca Nyamusi Stephen

Date:15.03.2021

Abstract

The ring of real-valued continuous functions on a completely regular frame L is denoted by $\mathcal{R}L$. As usual, βL denotes the Stone-Čech compactification of L. In the thesis we study ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ induced by sublocales of βL . We revisit the notion of purity in this ring and use it to characterize basically disconnected frames. The socle of the ring $\mathcal{R}L$ is characterized as an ideal induced by the sublocale of βL which is the join of all nowhere dense sublocales of βL .

A localic map $f: L \to M$ induces a ring homomorphism $\mathcal{R}h: \mathcal{R}M \to \mathcal{R}L$ by composition, where $h: M \to L$ is the left adjoint of f. We explore how the sublocale-induced ideals travel along the ring homomorphism $\mathcal{R}h$, to and fro, via expansion and contraction, respectively.

The socle of a ring is the sum of its minimal ideals. In the literature, the socle of $\mathcal{R}L$ has been characterized in terms of atoms. Since atoms do not always exist in frames, it is better to express the socle in terms of entities that exist in every frame. In the thesis we characterize the socle as one of the types of ideals induced by sublocales.

A classical operator invented by Gillman, Henriksen and Jerison in 1954 is used to create a homomorphism of quantales. The frames in which every cozero element is complemented (they are called *P*-frames) are characterized in terms of some properties of this quantale homomorphism. Also characterized within the category of quantales are localic analogues of the continuous maps of R.G. Woods that characterize normality in the category of Tychonoff spaces.

Keywords Frame, locale, sublocale, ideal, quantale, ring of real-valued continuous functions.

Contents

	Decl	aration	ii		
	Abst	tract	iii		
	Ack	nowledgements	vi		
	Ded	ication	viii		
1	Introduction and preliminaries				
	1.1	A brief history of ideals induced by sublocales	1		
	1.2	Synopsis of the thesis	2		
	1.3	Frames and their homomorphisms	4		
	1.4	The ring $\mathcal{R}L$ and the cozero map $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	6		
	1.5	The Stone-Čech Compactification	7		
	1.6	Sublocales and localic maps	9		
2	2 Ideals induced by sublocales				
	2.1	Relating the O - and M -ideals of $C(X)$ to those of $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$	12		
	2.2	Basic properties	15		
	2.3	Purity revisited	20		
	2.4	Characterizing basic disconnectedness	30		
3 Pulling and pushing the sublocale-induced ideals					
	3.1	Indispensable localic maps	34		

	3.2	Pulling back	43			
	3.3	Pushing forward	47			
	3.4	What happens in $C(X)$?	51			
4 Annihilator ideals and the socle of $\mathcal{R}L$						
	4.1	Annihilator ideals	58			
	4.2	The socle	61			
5	5 Mapping ideals to sublocales					
	5.1	Making Δ a quantale homomorphism $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	74			
	5.2	Characterizing Woods' WN-maps	85			
	5.3	The Lindelöf analogue	89			
Bi	Bibliography					

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I want to express my sincere gratitude to the Almighty God for His sufficient grace and favour upon me, my promoter and my family.

My utmost appreciation goes to my mentor and promotor, Professor Themba Dube, for his patience, motivation, guidance, encouragement, and continuous support throughout my PhD research and preparation of my thesis. I am truly privileged to have studied under his supervision and for that I am profoundly indebted to him.

I wish to extend my sincere gratitude to the Department of Mathematical Sciences at the University of South Africa, Florida Campus, for their unwavering support in providing me with a study room, and the friendly atmosphere throughout my studies.

I would also wish to express my gratitude to the Topology Research Group in our department for their continuous motivation towards research and to my fellow students at UNISA especially Ms Dlamini, Mr Blose and Mr Tlharesakgosi. Much appreciation to Prof O. Ighedo for her tireless encouragement and guidance throughout my PhD studies.

Further thanks to Ms Busi Zwane for her help during my admission process and the entire period of my studies. Dr Stella Mugisha gave motherly support throughout my studies, and for that I thank her most heartily. Mrs Swanepoel Magda and her husband gave the parental love and hospitality when I needed it most during the Covid-19 pandemic period, may you always be blessed. Dr Jissy Nsonde was always available when I needed his assistance and guidance. I sincerely thank Prof E. Onyari's family for occassionally hosting me in their home. God bless you all.

I am truly grateful to the Technical University of Mombasa, my employer, for granting me a study leave. I wish to thank the Department of Mathematics and Physics at the same university for their moral support towards the completion of my studies. Special thanks goes to the Chair of Department Mathematics and Physics, Dr E. O. Jobunga for the support and understanding by relieving me from the duties during my study leave. I also acknowledge Dr M. M. Munywoki for advising me on my studies and Dr B. Menge for her motherly support and guidance throughout my studies.

May I also express my gratitude for financial support I have received from my supervisor Professor Themba Dube in the first two academic years of my studies, I don't take it for granted. Finally, my most affectionate gratitude goes to my beloved husband, David Atika and our dear son Steve Nyarige, for their patience throughout the period I have been away from them during the course of this study. I also want to express my profound gratitude to my father and mother who took care of my son wholeheartedly when I was away. Of course I will not forget my brothers and sisters, and my inlaws for all their support. Special thanks to my parents inlaw who constantly visited my son while I was away.

Dedication

To my son, Steve Nyarige, I LOVE YOU.

Chapter 1

Introduction and preliminaries

Then main aim in this chapter is to recall the concepts that will be central to the study in the rest of the thesis. We however do not recall all the concepts here; others will be recalled as and when needed. It is also here that we fix notation. Our references for frames are [29] and [35].

1.1 A brief history of ideals induced by sublocales

For a Tychonoff space X, the ideals O^p and M^p associated with a point $p \in \beta X$ are studied in detail in the Gillman-Jerison text [24]. They appear to first have been considered by Gillman, Henriksen and Jerison in [23].

In their study of functions with compact support in [28], Johnson and Mandelker generalized these types of ideals so that they are indexed by all subsets (instead of just points, or singleton) of βX . In [18], Dube extended the idea of Johnson and Mandelker to locales. With each sublocale A of βL , he defined the ideals M^A and O^A by

$$\boldsymbol{M}^{A} = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid A \subseteq \mathrm{cl}_{\beta L}(r_{L}(\cos \alpha)) \}$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{O}^{A} = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid A \subseteq \operatorname{int}_{\beta L} \operatorname{cl}_{\beta L}(r_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)) \},\$$

where r_L denotes the right adjoint of the join map $\bigvee : \beta L \to L$. He used these ideals mainly for purposes of studying what he called *P*-sublocales, but he did not explore the properties of these ideals that we do in the thesis.

1.2 Synopsis of the thesis

In Chapter 1 we recall most of the background material from frames and locales that we shall need for the rest of the thesis. There are no proofs in this chapter because what appears in it is already available in the literature. It is also in this chapter that we fix notation.

All our frames in the thesis are assumed to be completely regular, except in a few instances where we explicitly state that complete regularity is not assumed. Similarly, all spaces are Tychonoff, which is to say they are completely regular and Hausdorff. We start Chapter 2 by recalling how the O- and M-ideals of the ring $\mathcal{R}L$ of real-valued continuous functions on a frame L are defined. As done in the paper where these ideals were introduced, we use the same notation O^A and M^A as in spaces. There is no danger of confusion because the index (which is the superscript, in this case) makes its clear where the ideal resides.

Although the ring C(X) of real-valued continuous functions on a Tychonoff space X is isomorphic to $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$ via the isomorphism $\varphi_X \colon C(X) \to \mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$ that sends an $f \in C(X)$ to the element of $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$ that maps as f^{-1} , it is not immediate what, for a subset $A \subseteq \beta X$, the image of the ideal of C(X) associated with A looks like. In Chapter 2 we show how the **O**- and **M**-ideals of C(X) are related to those of $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$ via this ring isomorphism. We also consider some basic properties of these ideals.

Still within Chapter 2, we revisit purity of ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$. It is apposite to mention that pure ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ were shown in [16] to be precisely the **O**-ideals associated with closed sublocales of βL . Since different sublocales of βL can induce the same ideal, it does not mean that a non-closed sublocale cannot induce a pure ideal. We characterize when an arbitrary sublocale induces a pure ideal. A closed sublocale of L need not be closed in βL , and hence need not induce a pure ideal. We characterize the fames L for which every closed sublocale of L induces a pure ideal. The chapter closes with a characterization of basically disconnected frames via purity.

In Chapter 3 we study how an ideal associated with a sublocale travels forwards and backwards across a ring homomorphism induced by a localic map. More precisely, let $f: L \to M$ be a localic map and let $h: M \to L$ be its left adjoint. Then, exactly as in spaces, f has a Stone extension $\beta f: \beta L \to \beta M$. So, given a sublocale A of βL , we have its direct image $\beta f[A]$ which is a sublocale of βM . Thus, we have the ideals $\mathbf{O}^{\beta f[A]}$ and $\mathbf{M}^{\beta f[A]}$ of $\mathcal{R}M$. Oppositely, given a sublocale B of βM , we have its pullback $(\beta f)_{-1}[B]$ which is a sublocale of βL , and the ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ associated with this sublocale.

For the ring homomorphism $\mathcal{R}h: \mathcal{R}M \to \mathcal{R}L$, we have the ideal $\mathcal{R}h^{-1}[\mathcal{O}^A]$ which we then compare with the ideal $\mathcal{O}^{\beta f[A]}$, and similarly for the \mathcal{M} -ideals. On the other hand, we compare the ideal $\mathcal{O}^{(\beta f)-1[B]}$ to the ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ generated by $\mathcal{R}h[\mathcal{O}^B]$, and similarly for the \mathcal{M} -ideals. There are (somewhat) expected containments and some rather surprising inequalities. Regarding equalities, the localic versions of functions that were introduced by R.G. Woods [41] in his study of normality in Tychonoff spaces play a rather unexpected role. In this regard, we have actually started the chapter by developing some results concerning such localic maps. In the last section of the chapter, the localic results are interpreted in C(X).

The main gist of Chapter 4 is about a new look at the socle of $\mathcal{R}L$. Unlike in previous papers such as Dube [15] where the socle of $\mathcal{R}L$ was first was studied, here we show that it equals the sublocale-induced ideal $\mathbf{O}^{\mathrm{Nd}(\beta L)}$, where $\mathrm{Nd}(\beta L)$ denotes the join of all nowhere dense sublocales of βL . Thus characterized, it is then easy to give criteria, in terms of sublocales, of when the socle is zero and also for when it is an essential ideal. The latter is best achieved by computing its annihilator. It is for this reason that annihilation of ideals is treated first within the chapter. In Chapter 5, we show how an operator that was introduced by Gillman, Henriksen and Jerison in 1954 [23] can be used in our context to create a quantale homomorphism. To recall, for any ideal I of C(X), the authors of [23] set

$$\Delta(I) = \bigcap \{ \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X} Z(f) \mid f \in I \},\$$

and use this merely as a notation of convenience. We show how to make a similarly defined Δ , with domain the lattice of ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ and codomain the frame $\mathcal{S}(\beta L)^{\text{op}}$ of sublocales of βL a homomorphism of quantales. We study the ramifications of this, and, along the way, characterize *P*-frames using an adjunction that arises from the quantale homomorphism. We also characterize some of the localic versions Woods' maps mentioned earlier within the category of quantales.

1.3 Frames and their homomorphisms

A *frame* is a complete lattice L in which the infinite distributive law

$$a \land \bigvee S = \bigvee \{a \land s \mid s \in S\}$$

holds for every $a \in L$ and $S \subseteq L$. We denote the bottom element and the top element of L by 0_L and 1_L , respectively. We drop the subscript if it is not necessary to specify the frame. If X is a topological space, the frame of its open sets is denoted by $\Omega(X)$.

A mapping $h: M \to L$ between frames is called a *frame homomorphism* if it preserves joins and binary meets. In particular, frame homomorphisms preserve the top and the bottom elements. The category of frames and their homomorphisms is denoted **Frm**.

Every frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$ has a *right adjoint*, which is a mapping $h_*: L \to M$ given by

$$h_*(a) = \bigvee \{ u \in M \mid h(u) \le a \}.$$

The right adjoint is exactly the categorical right adjoint if h is viewed as a functor between posets. It is thus uniquely determined by

$$h(x) \le y \quad \iff \quad x \le h_*(y).$$

Some of the properties of h_* are:

- h is surjective iff $h \circ h_* = \mathrm{id}_L$ iff h_* is injective.
- h is injective iff $h_* \circ h = \mathrm{id}_M$ iff h_* is surjective.

A frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$ is called *dense* if, for any $a \in M$, the equality h(a) = 0implies a = 0. This is so precisely when $h_*(0) = 0$.

The *pseudocomplement* of an element $a \in L$ is the element

$$a^* = \bigvee \{ x \in L \mid a \land x = 0 \}.$$

The unary operation $(-)^*$ satisfies several properties, including, for every $a, b \in L$ and any family $(a_i \mid i \in I)$ of elements of L:

$$a \le b \implies b^* \le a, \qquad a \le a^{**}, \qquad \left(\bigvee_i a_i\right)^* = \bigwedge_i a_i^*.$$

An element a is said to be:

- regular if $a = a^{**}$;
- complemented if $a \lor a^* = 1$;
- dense if $a^* = 0$.

If every element of L is complemented, then L is called a *Boolean frame*. Boolean frames are precisely the complete Boolean algebras. It is easy to check that a frame is Boolean if and only if each of its elements is regular.

An element $a \in L$ is rather below an element $b \in L$, written $a \prec b$, if there exists an $s \in L$ (called a *separating element*) such that

$$a \wedge s = 0$$
 and $s \vee b = 1$.

One checks routinely that $a \prec b$ if and only if $a^* \lor b = 1$. If there is a sequence $(x_r \mid r \in \mathbb{Q} \cap [0, 1])$ of elements of L, indexed by the rational numbers in the unit interval [0, 1], such that $a = x_0$, $b = x_1$ and $x_r \prec x_s$ whenever r < s, then a is said to be *completely below* b, written $a \prec b$. A frame is *regular* (resp. *completely regular*) if each of its elements is the join of those that are rather below (resp. completely below) it. Writing it out for the latter case, L is completely regular if

$$\forall a \in L, \qquad a = \bigvee \{x \in L \mid x \prec a\}.$$

All frames in this thesis are assumed to be completely regular unless if it is specifically stated otherwise. Likewise, all topological spaces are Tychonoff unless stated otherwise. We write **CRFrm** for the full subcategory of **Frm** consisting of completely regular frames.

A prime element of L is an element p < 1 such that $x \wedge y \leq p$ implies $x \leq p$ or $y \leq p$. We denote by Pt(L) the set of prime elements of L. By the distributive law, $p \in Pt(L)$ if and only if p < 1 and $x \wedge y = p$ implies x = p or y = p. In regular frames, prime elements are precisely the elements that are maximal strictly below the top. If X is T_1 -space, then

$$Pt(\Omega(X)) = \{X \smallsetminus \{x\} \mid x \in X\}.$$

1.4 The ring $\mathcal{R}L$ and the cozero map

Good references for this subsection are [5] and [6]. See also [35, Chapter XIV]. The *frame of* reals, denoted $\mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R})$, is the (completely regular) frame generated by the ordered pairs (p, q) of rational numbers subject to the relations

(R1)
$$(p,q) \land (s,t) = (p \lor s, q \land t)$$

(R2) $(p,q) \lor (s,t) = (p,t)$ whenever $p \le s < q \le t$

(R3)
$$(p,q) = \bigvee \{(s,t) \mid p < s < t < q\}$$

(R4) $1_{\mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R})} = \bigvee \{ (p,q) \mid p,q \in \mathbb{Q} \}.$

The ring $\mathcal{R}L$ has as its elements frame homomorphisms $\mathfrak{L}(\mathbb{R}) \to L$, with operations induced by those of \mathbb{Q} as an ℓ -ring. We denote the zero of this ring and its identity by **0** and **1**, respectively. For any Tychonoff space $X, C(X) \cong \mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$.

The *cozero map* of L is the mapping

$$\operatorname{coz} : \mathcal{R}L \to L$$
 defined by $\operatorname{coz} \alpha = \alpha(-, 0) \lor \alpha(0, -),$

where

$$(-,0) = \bigvee \{(p,0) \mid p < 0\}$$
 and $(0,-) = \bigvee \{(0,q) \mid q > 0\}.$

The assignment $L \mapsto \mathcal{R}L$ is functorial. For any frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$, the ring homomorphism $\mathcal{R}h: \mathcal{R}M \to \mathcal{R}L$ is given by $(\mathcal{R}h)(\alpha) = h \circ \alpha$, and satisfies

$$\cos((\mathcal{R}h)(\alpha)) = h(\cos\alpha)$$

for every $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}M$.

We catalogue in a proposition some of the properties of the cozero map that we shall freely use, sometimes without comment. The proofs can be found in [4].

Proposition 1.4.1. *The following hold for any* $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{R}L$ *.*

- (1) $\cos \alpha = \cos(\alpha^2)$.
- (2) $\cos \alpha = 0$ iff $\alpha = 0$.

- (3) $\cos \beta = 1$ iff β is invertible in $\mathcal{R}L$.
- (4) $\cos(\alpha\beta) = \cos\alpha \wedge \cos\beta$.
- (5) $\cos(\alpha + \beta) \le \cos \alpha \lor \cos \beta$.
- (6) $\cos(\alpha^2 + \beta^2) = \cos \alpha \vee \cos \beta$.

An element $c \in L$ is called a *cozero element* if $c = \cos \gamma$ for some $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$. The lattice of all cozero elements of L is called the *cozero part* of L and is denoted by $\operatorname{Coz} L$. It is closed under finite meets and countable joins. Furthermore, if L is completely regular, then, for any $a \in L$,

$$a = \bigvee \{ c \in \operatorname{Coz} L \mid c \leq a \} = \bigvee \{ c \in \operatorname{Coz} L \mid c \prec a \}.$$

Here are some characterizations of cozero elements sourced from [6, Proposition 1].

Proposition 1.4.2. The following are equivalent for any $a \in L$.

- (1) $a \in \operatorname{Coz} L$.
- (2) There is a sequence $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in L such that $x_n \prec a$ for every n and $a = \bigvee_n x_n$.
- (3) There is a sequence $(a_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in L such that $a_n \prec a_{n+1}$ for every n and $a = \bigvee_n a_n$.

The following properties of the completely below relation will be put to good use in many instances. They are also sourced from [6].

Proposition 1.4.3. The following hold in any completely regular frame L.

- (1) If $a \prec b$, then there exists $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$ such that $a \prec c \prec b$.
- (2) If $a \prec b$, then there exists $s \in \operatorname{Coz} L$ such that $a \wedge s = 0$ and $s \vee b = 1$.

1.5 The Stone-Čech Compactification

A frame L is compact if for every $S \subseteq L$ with $\bigvee S = 1$, there is a finite $T \subseteq S$ with $\bigvee T = 1$. Compact completely regular frames form a coreflective subcategory **KCRFrm** of **CRFrm**. The coreflection of L, denoted βL , is called the *Stone-Čech compactification* of L. One way of constructing it, that we shall adopt throughout, is as follows.

An ideal I of $\operatorname{Coz} L$ is called *completely regular* if for every $u \in I$ there exists $v \in I$ such that $u \prec v$. Then βL is the lattice of all completely regular ideals of $\operatorname{Coz} L$. The mapping

$$j_L: \beta L \to L$$
 defined by $j_L(I) = \bigvee I$

is dense onto, and is the coreflection map to L from compact completely regular frames. Its right adjoint, denoted r_L , is given by

$$r_L(a) = \{ c \in \operatorname{Coz} L \mid c \prec a \}.$$

Every element of βL is expressible as a join (and, in fact, a union) of ideals of the form $r_L(a)$. Namely,

$$I = \bigvee_{u \in I} r_L(u) = \bigcup_{u \in I} r_L(u);$$

the join coinciding with the union because it is a join of a directed collection. Some other properties of the mapping $r_L \colon L \to \beta L$ that we shall frequently use are:

- (a) If $a \prec b$ in L, then $r_L(a) \prec r_L(b)$ in βL .
- (b) If $a \wedge b = 0$, then $r_L(a \vee b) = r_L(a) \vee r_L(b)$.
- (c) If $c, d \in \operatorname{Coz} L$, then $r_L(c \lor d) = r_L(c) \lor r_L(d)$.
- (d) For any $I \in \beta L$, $I^* = r_L((\bigvee I)^*)$.

Every frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$ has the *Stone extension*, which is the unique frame homomorphism $\beta h: \beta M \to \beta L$ making the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \beta M & \xrightarrow{\beta h} & \beta L \\ \downarrow^{j_M} & & \downarrow^{j_L} \\ M & \xrightarrow{h} & L \end{array}$$

commute. Its action on elements I of βM is given by

$$(\beta h)(I) = \{ c \in \operatorname{Coz} L \mid c \le h(u) \text{ for some } u \in I \}.$$

1.6 Sublocales and localic maps

A frame is also called a *locale*, especially when frame homomorphisms are not considered as part of the discussion. Every frame is a Heyting algebra, with the Heyting implication explicitly given by

$$a \to b = \bigvee \{ x \in L \mid a \land x \le b \}.$$

A sublocale of a frame L is a subset $A \subseteq L$ such that

- for every $A \subseteq S$, $\bigwedge A \in S$, and
- for every $a \in L$ and $s \in S$, $a \to s \in S$.

A sublocale is a frame in its own right, with meets (and hence the partial order) calculated in L. The lattice of all sublocales of L is denoted by $\mathcal{S}(L)$. The meet in this lattice is intersection, and the join of any collection $\{S_i \mid i \in I\} \subseteq \mathcal{S}(L)$ is given by

$$\bigvee_{i} S_{i} = \left\{ \bigwedge M \mid M \subseteq \bigcup_{i} S_{i} \right\}.$$

Partially ordered by inclusion, S(L) is a *coframe*, which is to say for any $S \in S(L)$ and any family $(S_i \mid i \in I)$ of sublocales, the distributive law below holds:

$$S \vee \bigwedge_{i} S_{i} = \bigwedge_{i} (S \vee S_{i}).$$

The smallest sublocale of L is $\{1\}$, and is usually denoted by O. It is called the *void sublocale*. If T and S are sublocales, we say T misses S, or T and S are disjoint, if $S \cap T = O$.

A sublocale of L is *complemented* if it has a complement in $\mathcal{S}(L)$. Complemented sublocales are *linear*, meaning that if C is a complemented sublocale, then

$$C \cap \bigvee \{S_i \mid i \in I\} = \bigvee \{C \cap S_i \mid i \in I\},\$$

for any family $(S_i \mid i \in I)$ of sublocales. In fact, complemented sublocales are precisely the linear ones. Unlike the lattice of subspaces of a topological space, S(L) is not always a Boolean algebra. Thus, in general, not every sublocale has a complement. However, every sublocale Shas a *supplement* (which is dual to pseudocomplement in frames), denoted $L \setminus S$ or $S^{\#}$, and given by

$$L \setminus S = \bigcap \{T \in \mathcal{S}(L) \mid T \lor S = L\} = \bigvee \{R \in \mathcal{S}(L) \mid R \cap S = \mathsf{O}\}.$$

The open and the closed sublocales corresponding to each $a \in L$ are, respectively, the sublocales

$$\mathfrak{o}_L(a) = \{a \to x \mid x \in L\} = \{x \mid x = a \to x\} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{c}_L(a) = \uparrow a = \{x \in L \mid x \ge a\}.$$

We shall at times drop the subscript if there is only one frame under discussion. If $a \in \operatorname{Coz} L$, we say $\mathfrak{o}(a)$ is a *cozero-sublocale*, and $\mathfrak{c}(a)$ is a *zero-sublocale*.

Some of the properties of open and closed sublocales that we shall freely use are:

- $\mathfrak{o}(0) = \mathfrak{c}(1) = \mathsf{O}$ and $\mathfrak{o}(1) = \mathfrak{c}(0) = L$.
- $\mathfrak{c}(a) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}(b)$ iff $a \lor b = 1$.
- $\mathfrak{o}(a) \subseteq \mathfrak{c}(b)$ iff $a \wedge b = 0$.
- $\mathfrak{o}(a) \cap \mathfrak{o}(b) = \mathfrak{o}(a \wedge b)$ and $\mathfrak{c}(a) \vee \mathfrak{c}(b) = \mathfrak{c}(a \wedge b)$.
- $\bigvee_i \mathfrak{o}(a_i) = \mathfrak{o}(\bigvee_i a_i)$ and $\bigcap_i \mathfrak{c}(a_i) = \mathfrak{c}(\bigvee_i a_i).$

The closure of a sublocale S of L, denoted \overline{S} or $cl_L(S)$, and its *interior*, denoted S° or $int_L(S)$, are the sublocales

$$\overline{S} = \bigcap \{ \mathfrak{c}(a) \mid S \subseteq \mathfrak{c}(a) \} = \mathfrak{c}(\bigwedge S) \quad \text{and} \quad S^{\circ} = \bigvee \{ \mathfrak{o}(a) \mid \mathfrak{o}(a) \subseteq S \} = \mathfrak{o}(\bigwedge (L \setminus S)).$$

In particular, $\overline{\mathfrak{o}(a)} = \mathfrak{c}(a^*)$ and $\mathfrak{c}(a)^\circ = \mathfrak{o}(a^*)$. A sublocale S of L is *dense* if $\overline{S} = L$. This is the case if and only if the bottom element of S is the bottom element of L. Every frame has the smallest dense sublocale, denoted $\mathfrak{B}L$, and called the *Booleanization* of L. As a set,

$$\mathfrak{B}L = \{ a \in L \mid a = a^{**} \} = \{ b^* \mid b \in L \},\$$

and joins in $\mathfrak{B}L$ are given by

$$\bigvee^{\mathfrak{B}L} S = \left(\bigvee S\right)^*$$

for any $S \subseteq \mathfrak{B}L$. The mapping

$$\mathsf{b}_L \colon L \to \mathfrak{B}L$$
 given by $\mathsf{b}_L(x) = x^{**}$

is a dense onto frame homomorphism, whose right adjoint is the identical embedding $\mathfrak{B}L \rightarrow L$. A mapping $f: L \rightarrow M$ is called a *localic map* if for every $a \in L, b \in M$, and $S \subseteq L$,

- (L1) $f(\bigwedge S) = \bigwedge f[S]$ (and, in particular, f(1) = 1),
- (L2) $f(f^*(b) \to a) = b \to f(a)$, and
- (L3) f(a) = 1 implies a = 1.

We shall write $f^*: M \to L$ for the left adjoint of f. Of course, f^* is a frame homomorphism, and if h is a frame homomorphism, h_* is a localic map. A localic map $f: L \to M$ gives rise to two mappings

$$f[-]: \mathcal{S}(L) \to \mathcal{S}(M)$$
 and $f_{-1}[-]: \mathcal{S}(M) \to \mathcal{S}(L)$

given by

$$f[S] = \{f(x) \mid x \in S\}$$
 and $f_{-1}[T] = \bigvee \{A \in \mathcal{S}(L) \mid A \subseteq f^{-1}[T]\}.$

We have that f[-] preserves all joins, and $f_{-1}[-]$ preserves all meets (recall that they are intersections) and all binary joins, which then makes the mapping

$$f_{-1}[-]: \mathcal{S}(M)^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathcal{S}(L)^{\mathrm{op}}$$

a frame homomorphism whose right adjoint is the mapping f[-].

For any $b \in M$,

$$f_{-1}[\mathfrak{o}_M(b)] = \mathfrak{o}_L(f^*(b))$$
 and $f_{-1}[\mathfrak{c}_M(b)] = \mathfrak{c}_L(f^*(b)).$

Remark 1.6.1. Finally, let us mention that we shall consistently write a frame homomorphism as $h: M \to L$, with M as domain and L as codomain. The reason is that in the Stone-Čech compactification of L, the frame homomorphism $j_L: \beta L \to L$ (a mapping which plays a most crucial role here) maps into L, and the corresponding localic map $r_L: L \to \beta L$ maps out of L. Since most results we refer to in the literature have homomorphisms $L \to M$, we trust that the reader will note the swopping of the domain and codomain.

Chapter 2

Ideals induced by sublocales

Our aim in this chapter is to show how the ideals of C(X) associated with subspaces of βX are related to those of $\mathcal{R}L$ associated with sublocales of βL .

This will be useful in subsequent chapters. We also present some basic properties of the latter types of ideals, and undertake a detailed study of purity in the ring $\mathcal{R}L$.

2.1 Relating the O- and M-ideals of C(X) to those of $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$

In this section we recall the definitions of O- and M-ideals of C(X), and relate them to those of $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$. The ideal O^A is defined by

$$\boldsymbol{O}^{A} = \{ f \in C(X) \mid A \subseteq \operatorname{int}_{\beta X} \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X} Z(f) \}.$$

These ideals are special cases of the ideals O^p , for $p \in \beta X$, that are studied extensively in [24]. They were introduced in [28], where the authors also define the ideal

$$\boldsymbol{M}^{A} = \{ f \in C(X) \mid A \subseteq \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X} Z(f) \}.$$

It is easy to see that $O^A = \bigcap_{p \in A} O^p$ and $M^A = \bigcap_{p \in A} M^p$.

Taking a cue from this, in [18] the author defines for each sublocale A of βL the ideals \boldsymbol{O}^{A} and

 \boldsymbol{M}^{A} of $\mathcal{R}L$ by setting

$$\boldsymbol{O}^{A} = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid A \subseteq \operatorname{int}_{\beta L} \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)) \} = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^{*}) \}$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{M}^{A} = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid A \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)) \}.$$

It is clear that for any sublocale A of βL , $\mathbf{O}^A \subseteq \mathbf{M}^A = \mathbf{M}^{\overline{A}}$, and for any sublocales A and B of βL with $A \subseteq B$, $\mathbf{O}^B \subseteq \mathbf{O}^A$, and similarly for the \mathbf{M} -ideals. Furthermore, for any family $(A_k \mid k \in K)$ of sublocales of βL ,

$$oldsymbol{O}^{igvee_{k\in K}A_k} = igcap_{k\in K}oldsymbol{O}^{A_k} \qquad ext{and} \qquad oldsymbol{M}^{igvee_{k\in K}A_k} = igcap_{k\in K}oldsymbol{M}^{A_k}.$$

Note that if A is a closed sublocale of βL , say $A = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)$ for some $I \in \beta L$, then

$$\boldsymbol{O}^{A} = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid \operatorname{coz} \alpha \in I \} = \operatorname{coz}^{-1}[I] \quad \text{and} \quad \boldsymbol{M}^{A} = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid r_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha) \subseteq I \}.$$

We comment that usage of the same symbols M and O in both C(X) and $\mathcal{R}L$ will not lead to confusion because the superscript will always make the context clear.

Recall that a *point* of a frame L is an element p such that p < 1 and whenever $x \land y \leq p$ then $x \leq p$ or $y \leq p$. We denote by Pt(L) the set of all points of L. A *one-point* sublocale of L is a sublocale of the form $\{p, 1\}$ for some $p \in Pt(L)$. Let X be a Tychonoff space. We use the notation of [35] that if $A \subseteq X$ and $x \in X$, then \widetilde{A} denotes the sublocale of $\Omega(X)$ induced by A, and \widetilde{x} denotes the point $X \setminus \{x\}$ of $\Omega(X)$. Since Tychonoff spaces are sober and satisfy the T_D -axiom, every spatial sublocale of $\Omega(X)$ is of the form \widetilde{A} for some $A \subseteq X$. Furthermore, for any $A \subseteq X$, \widetilde{A} is the join of its one-point sublocales; that is,

$$\widetilde{A} = \bigvee \{\{\widetilde{x}, 1\} \mid x \in A\}.$$

We recall from [5] that if X is a Tychonoff space, then the map

$$\varphi_X \colon C(X) \to \mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$$
 given by $\varphi_X(f) = \Omega(f)$

is a ring isomorphism. For use below, we relate the O- and M-ideals of C(X) to those of $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$ via this isomorphism. Usage of the same symbols in C(X) and $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$ will not lead to confusion because the superscript makes the context clear. We view X as a subspace of βX

and consider the identical embedding $i_X \colon X \to \beta X$. The right adjoint of the induced frame homomorphism $\Omega(i_X) \colon \Omega(\beta X) \to \Omega X$ maps thus:

$$\Omega(i_X)_*(U) = \beta X \smallsetminus \mathrm{cl}_{\beta X}(X \smallsetminus U).$$

Since $\Omega(\beta X)$ is a compact regular frame, we can view the Stone-Čech compactification of the frame $\Omega(X)$ as being given by the dense-onto frame homomorphism $\Omega(i_X): \Omega(\beta X) \to \Omega(X)$. So, in the r_L -notation for the right adjoint of $\beta L \to L$, we have $r_{\Omega(X)} = \Omega(i_X)_*$.

For any $p \in \beta X$, the one-point sublocale $\{\tilde{p}, 1\}$ of $\Omega(\beta X)$ is the closed sublocale $\mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(\beta X)}(\tilde{p})$, hence, for any $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$,

$$\alpha \in \boldsymbol{M}^{\{\tilde{p},1\}}$$
 iff $\Omega(i_X)_*(\cos \alpha) \subseteq \tilde{p}$.

Lemma 2.1.1. For any $p \in \beta X$, $\varphi_X[\mathbf{M}^p] = \mathbf{M}^{\{\tilde{p},1\}}$.

Proof. Let $f \in C(X)$, and note that $coz(\Omega(f)) = f^{-1}(\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}) = X \setminus Z(f)$. Thus, in view of the definition of the ideal M^p , we have

$$f \in \mathbf{M}^{p} \quad \text{iff} \quad p \in \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X} Z(f)$$

$$\text{iff} \quad \beta X \smallsetminus \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X} Z(f) \subseteq \beta X \smallsetminus \{p\}$$

$$\text{iff} \quad \Omega(i_{X})_{*}(\operatorname{coz}(\varphi_{X}(f))) \subseteq \tilde{p}$$

$$\text{iff} \quad \varphi_{X}(f) \in \mathbf{M}^{\{\tilde{p},1\}},$$

which proves the result.

In [14, Lemma 5.3(2)] it is shown that, exactly as in C(X), for any frame L, any $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L$, and any $\mathfrak{p} \in Pt(\beta L)$, $\alpha \in O^{\{\mathfrak{p},1\}}$ if and only if $\alpha \gamma = \mathbf{0}$ for some $\gamma \notin M^{\{\mathfrak{p},1\}}$. We therefore have the following corollary, because $\varphi_X \colon C(X) \to \mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$ is an isomorphism.

Corollary 2.1.2. For any $p \in \beta X$, $\varphi_X[O^p] = O^{\{\tilde{p},1\}}$.

Coming to ideals associated with subspaces, we have the following.

Corollary 2.1.3. For any $A \subseteq \beta X$, $\varphi_X[\mathbf{M}^A] = \mathbf{M}^{\widetilde{A}}$ and $\varphi_X[\mathbf{O}^A] = \mathbf{O}^{\widetilde{A}}$.

Proof. Since $M^A = \bigcap_{p \in A} M^p$, and since the set-function φ_X is a bijection, we have

$$\varphi_X[\boldsymbol{M}^A] = \varphi_X\Big[\bigcap_{p \in A} \boldsymbol{M}^p\Big] = \bigcap_{p \in A} \varphi_X[\boldsymbol{M}^p] = \bigcap_{p \in A} \boldsymbol{M}^{\{\tilde{p},1\}} = \boldsymbol{M}^{\bigvee\{\{\tilde{p},1\}|p \in A\}} = \boldsymbol{M}^{\tilde{A}}.$$

The other equality is shown similarly.

2.2 Basic properties

The **O**-ideals and **M**-ideals come with a host of containments that always hold. For instance, for any sublocale A of βL and any sublocale S of L, we always have the containments

$$oldsymbol{O}^A\subseteq oldsymbol{M}^A, \quad oldsymbol{O}^{ar{A}}\subseteq oldsymbol{O}^A\subseteq oldsymbol{O}^{A^\circ}, \quad oldsymbol{M}^{A^\circ}\subseteq oldsymbol{M}^A$$

and, similarly,

$$O_S \subseteq M_S, \quad O_{\operatorname{cl}_L(S)} \subseteq O_S \subseteq O_{\operatorname{int}_L(S)}, \quad M_{\operatorname{int}_L(S)} \subseteq M_S,$$

which is achieved via the following definition. Please note the slight change in notation – sublocales appearing as subscripts and not superscripts.

Definition 2.2.1. For any sublocale S of L, we define the ideals O_S and M_S of $\mathcal{R}L$ to be the ideals $O_S = O^{r_L[S]}$ and $M_S = M^{r_L[S]}$.

In this section we explore a little more the consequences of requiring some containments that always hold to be actually equalities. As has been demonstrated elsewhere (in spaces and in locales), this is not a gratuitous exploration. For instance:

- (a) In [33], Mandelker defines a subset A of βX to be *round* in case $O^A = M^A$, and then develops an interesting theory around round subsets.
- (b) In [18], Dube defines a closed sublocale A of L to be a P-sublocale if $M_A = O_A$. He then goes on to show that for basically disconnected frames these P-sublocales have some rather unexpected properties.

We shall see in the next section that the containment $O^{\bar{A}} \subseteq O^A$ is an equality precisely when the ideal O^A is pure. This however does not tell us about the localic properties of sublocales Afor which $O^A = O^{\bar{A}}$.

Observation 2.2.2. If U is an open sublocale of βL , then $O^U = O^{\overline{U}^\circ} = M^{\overline{U}^\circ} = M^U$.

Proof. Pick $I \in \beta L$ such that $U = \mathfrak{o}(I)$. Now, for any $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L$, we have

$$\alpha \in \boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{o}(I)} \quad \text{iff} \quad \mathfrak{o}(I) \subseteq \mathfrak{c}(r_L(\cos \alpha))$$
$$\text{iff} \quad I \wedge r_L(\cos \alpha) = 0_{\beta L}$$
$$\text{iff} \quad I^{**} \wedge r_L(\cos \alpha) = 0_{\beta L}$$
$$\text{iff} \quad \mathfrak{o}(I^{**}) \subseteq \mathfrak{c}(r_L(\cos \alpha))$$
$$\text{iff} \quad \alpha \in \boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{o}(I^{**})},$$

which then says $\mathbf{M}^U = \mathbf{M}^{\overline{U}^\circ}$. The rest follows because, for any open sublocale V of βL , $\mathbf{O}^V = \mathbf{M}^V$, as one checks easily.

In part of the proof of the first proposition we shall use the fact that if I and J are elements of βL with $I \prec J$, then $\bigvee I \in J$ (see [14, p. 156]).

As we shall shortly see, this fails for open sublocales. Also, the O-version of the equivalence in the preceding paragraph is false; only one implication holds. In the proof that follows, we shall use the notion of P-element. To recall, an element $a \in L$ is called a P-element if the associated closed sublocale is a P-sublocale.

Proposition 2.2.3. Let L be a completely regular frame.

- (a) If A is a closed sublocale of βL with $\mathbf{O}^A = \mathbf{O}^{A^\circ}$, then A is regular-closed. The converse does not hold.
- (b) If A is a closed sublocale of L with $O_A = O_{int_L(A)}$, then A is regular-closed. The converse does not hold.
- (c) If U is an open sublocale of βL , then $\mathbf{O}^U = \mathbf{O}^{\overline{U}}$ iff \overline{U} is a round sublocale of βL .
- (d) If U is an open sublocale of L, then $O_U = O_{cl_L(U)}$ iff $cl_L(U)$ is a P-sublocale of L.

Proof. (a) Pick $I \in \beta L$ with $A = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)$. Then $A^{\circ} = \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I^*)$. Let $c \in I^{**}$. Pick $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$ such that $c = \cos \gamma$. We show that $\gamma \in \mathbf{O}^{A^{\circ}}$. Since $I^* \wedge I^{**} = \mathfrak{0}_{\beta L}$ and since $r_L(c) \leq I^{**}$, we have $I^* \wedge r_L(c) = \mathfrak{0}_{\beta L}$, which implies $I^* \leq r_L(c^*)$, and hence $\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I^*) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^*))$. This containment implies $\gamma \in \mathbf{O}^{A^{\circ}}$. Therefore, by hypothesis, $\gamma \in \mathbf{O}^A$, so that $\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^*))$, whence

$$r_L(c)^* \lor I = r_L(c^*) \lor I = 1_{\beta L},$$

that is, $r_L(c) \prec I$, and hence $c \in I$ because $\bigvee r_L(c) = c$. Therefore $I^{**} \subseteq I$, and hence $I = I^{**}$. Therefore A is a regular-closed sublocale of βL .

(b) Pick $a \in L$ such that $A = \mathfrak{c}(a)$. Let $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$ be such that $\operatorname{coz} \gamma \leq a^{**}$. We show that $\gamma \in \mathcal{O}_{\operatorname{int}_{L}(A)}$. Recall that $\operatorname{int}_{L}(\mathfrak{c}(a)) = \mathfrak{o}(a^{*})$. Since $\operatorname{coz} \gamma \leq a^{**}$, we have $a^{*} \leq (\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^{*}$, so that $\mathfrak{o}(a^{*}) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}((\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^{*})$, implying $\gamma \in \mathcal{O}_{\operatorname{int}_{L}(A)}$. So, by hypothesis, $\gamma \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}(a)}$, which says $\mathfrak{c}(a) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}((\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^{*})$, so that $a \vee (\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^{*} = 1$, and hence $\operatorname{coz} \gamma \leq a$. Thus, by complete regularity, $a^{**} \leq a$, and hence $a = a^{**}$. This shows that A is regular-closed.

(c) Assume, first, that $\boldsymbol{O}^U = \boldsymbol{O}^{\overline{U}}$. Then

$$\boldsymbol{O}^{\overline{U}} = \boldsymbol{O}^{U} = \boldsymbol{M}^{U} = \boldsymbol{M}^{\overline{U}},$$

which shows that \overline{U} is a round sublocale of βL . Conversely, if \overline{U} is round, then $O^{\overline{U}} = M^{\overline{U}}$, and so,

$$oldsymbol{O}^{\overline{U}} \subseteq oldsymbol{O}^U = oldsymbol{M}^U = oldsymbol{O}^{\overline{U}} = oldsymbol{O}^{\overline{U}}$$

proving the result.

(d) Assume, first, that $O_U = O_{cl_L(U)}$. Pick $u \in L$ such that $U = \mathfrak{o}_L(u)$, so that $cl_L(U) = \mathfrak{c}_L(u^*)$. To show that $cl_L(U)$ is a *P*-sublocale of *L*, it suffices to show that u^* is a *P*-element of *L*. Consider any $c \in \text{Coz } L$ with $c \leq u^*$, and pick $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$ such that $c = \cos \gamma$. Then $u \leq u^{**} \leq (\cos \gamma)^*$, and so $\mathfrak{o}_L(u) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_L((\cos \gamma)^*)$, which says $\gamma \in O_{\mathfrak{o}_L(u)}$, and so, by hypothesis, $\gamma \in O_{\mathfrak{c}_L(u^*)}$. Thus, $\mathfrak{c}_L(u^*) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_L(c^*)$, which implies $c^* \vee u^* = 1$, that is, $c \prec u^*$. Therefore u^* is a *P*-element, and hence $cl_L(U)$ is a *P*-sublocale of *L*.

Conversely, assume that $\operatorname{cl}_{L}(U)$ is a *P*-sublocale of *L*, and consider any $\gamma \in O_{\mathfrak{o}_{L}(u)}$. Then $O_{\mathfrak{o}_{L}(u)} \subseteq O_{\mathfrak{o}_{L}((\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^{*})}$, and so $u \leq (\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^{*}$, from which we get $\operatorname{coz} \gamma \leq u^{*}$. Since u^{*} is a *P*element as $\mathfrak{c}_{L}(u^{*})$ is a *P*-sublocale, we have $\operatorname{coz} \gamma \prec u^{*}$, and so $(\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^{*} \lor u^{*} = 1$, which implies $\mathfrak{c}_{L}(u^{*}) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{L}((\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^{*})$, whence $\gamma \in O_{\mathfrak{c}_{L}(u^{*})}$. Therefore $O_{U} \subseteq O_{\operatorname{cl}_{L}(U)}$, and hence $O_{U} = O_{\operatorname{cl}_{L}(U)}$ since the opposite inclusion always holds.

Here is an example showing that the converse to part (a) of this proposition does not hold.

Example 2.2.4. Let $L = \Omega(\mathbb{R})$, and consider the element a = (0, 1) of L. Since $a = a^{**}$, $r_L(a) = r_L(a^{**}) = r_L(a)^{**}$, and so the closed sublocale $A = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))$ of βL is a regular-closed. Since every open set in \mathbb{R} is a cozero-set, $a \in \operatorname{Coz} L$, and so there exists some $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L$ such that

 $a = \cos \alpha$. Now, $\alpha \in \mathbf{O}^{A^{\circ}}$ since $A^{\circ} = \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(a^*)) = \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\cos \alpha)^*)$. On the other hand, $\alpha \notin \mathbf{O}^A$, otherwise we would have $\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a)) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(a^*))$, which would imply $r_L(a) \vee r_L(a^*) = 1_{\beta L}$, whence we would have $a \vee a^* = 1$, which is false because $a \vee a^* = (0, 1) \cup ((-\infty, 0) \cup (0, \infty)) \neq \mathbb{R}$.

As an application, we have the following characterization of Boolean frames.

Corollary 2.2.5. The following are equivalent for a frame L.

- (1) L is Boolean.
- (2) $O_A = O_{int_L(A)}$ for every sublocate A of L.
- (3) $\boldsymbol{O}_A = \boldsymbol{O}_{\text{int}_L(A)}$ for every closed sublocale A of L.

Proof. If L is Boolean, then every sublocale of L is open, and hence equals its interior. Therefore (1) implies (2). It is trivial that (2) implies (3). If (3) holds, then the proposition says every closed sublocale of L is regular-closed, which says $a = a^{**}$ for every $a \in L$, and this is known to be equivalent to L being Boolean.

In [9, Theorem 2.6], the author proves that if A is a closed subset of βX , then the ideal M^A is finitely generated if and only if A is open. We have the following similar result, but for the ideal O^A . Recall that r_L preserves disjoint binary joins.

Theorem 2.2.6. The following are equivalent for a closed sublocale A of βL .

- (1) \boldsymbol{O}^A is finitely generated.
- (2) \boldsymbol{O}^A is a principal ideal generated by an idempotent.
- (3) A is open.

Proof. (1) \Rightarrow (3): Take $I \in \beta L$ such that $A = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)$. Suppose that there are finitely many elements $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ in $\mathcal{R}L$ such that $\mathbf{O}^A = \langle \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \rangle$. By [13, Lemma 4.4],

$$\bigvee \{ \operatorname{coz} \alpha \mid \alpha \in \mathbf{O}^A \} = \bigvee \{ \operatorname{coz} \alpha \mid \alpha \in I \} = \operatorname{coz} \alpha_1 \lor \cdots \lor \operatorname{coz} \alpha_n.$$

Set $\alpha_0 = \alpha_1^2 + \cdots + \alpha_n^2$. Since $\alpha_0 \in \mathbf{O}^A$, we have $\cos \alpha_0 \in I$, and so, $\cos \alpha_0 = \bigvee I \in I$. Since I is a regular ideal of $\operatorname{Coz} L$, there exists $d \in I$ such that $\cos \alpha_0 \prec d$. Since $\cos \alpha_0 = \bigvee I$, we must have $d = \cos \alpha_0$. This certainly implies $I = r_L(d)$, whence

$$I \vee I^* = r_L(d) \vee r_L(d^*) = r_L(d \vee d^*) = 1_{\beta L}$$

because $d \vee d^* = 1$. This proves that A is clopen.

(3) \Rightarrow (2): If A is clopen, there exists a complemented element I of βL such that $A = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)$. Then $I \in \operatorname{Coz} \beta L$, and so the element $c = \bigvee I$ belongs to $\operatorname{Coz} L$. Furthermore, c is a complemented element of L because frame homomorphisms send complemented elements to complemented elements. By [16, Proposition 2.2], there is an idempotent γ in $\mathcal{R}L$ such that $c = \operatorname{coz} \gamma$. We show that $\mathbf{O}^A = \langle \gamma \rangle$. Since $I \prec I$, $\bigvee I \in I$, that is $c \in I$, and therefore $\gamma \in \mathbf{O}^A$. Now let $\alpha \in \mathbf{O}^A$. Then $\operatorname{coz} \alpha \in I$, and so $\operatorname{coz} \alpha \leq \operatorname{coz} \gamma \prec \operatorname{coz} \gamma$, which means that α is a multiple of γ . In all then, $\mathbf{O}^A = \langle \gamma \rangle$.

 $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$: This is trivial.

Remark 2.2.7. The requirement that A be a closed sublocale cannot be relaxed. We shall see in Lemma 4.2.2 of Chapter 4 that the ideal O^A is the zero ideal precisely when A is a dense sublocale. So, for instance, the ideal $O^{\mathfrak{B}(\Omega(\mathbb{R}))}$ of $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(\mathbb{R}))$ is finitely generated, but $\mathfrak{B}(\Omega(\mathbb{R}))$ is not open.

Since $M^A = M^{\overline{A}}$ for any sublocale A of βL , and since, for any $I \in \beta L$,

$$\bigvee \{ \cos \alpha \mid \alpha \in \mathbf{M}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)} \} = \bigvee_{\alpha \in I} \cos \alpha$$

also by [16, Proposition 2.2], a proof as the foregoing one, with minor modification, enables us to state the following.

Theorem 2.2.8. The following are equivalent for a sublocale A of βL .

- (1) \mathbf{M}^A is finitely generated.
- (2) M^A is a principal ideal generated by an idempotent.
- (3) A is open.

2.3 Purity revisited

An ideal I of a ring A is *pure* (Johnstone [29] says "neat") if for every $u \in I$ there is a $v \in I$ such that u = uv. We denote the set of all pure ideals of A by PId(A). In [29, Proposition V. 2.8], Johnstone proves that PId(A) is a frame. The *m*-operator on the set of ideals of A is defined by

$$mI = \{ u \in I \mid u = uv \text{ for some } v \in I \}.$$

If Q is an ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$, then

$$mQ = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid \operatorname{coz} \alpha \prec \operatorname{coz} \gamma \text{ for some } \gamma \in Q \},\$$

and Q is pure if and only if mQ = Q [17, Corollary 3.3].

As the heading suggests, our aim in this section is to present further results concerning purity in function rings. Among other things, we present a transparent description of pure ideals of the subring \mathcal{R}^*L of $\mathcal{R}L$ consisting of bounded elements. A thorough search in the literature has revealed that pure ideals of this subring have hitherto not been described.

For the record, in [16] the pure ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ are fully described as

 $PId(\mathcal{R}L) = \{ \boldsymbol{O}^A \mid A \text{ is a closed sublocale of } \beta L \}.$

Since for any $I \in \beta L$ and any $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L$, $\alpha \in \mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)}$ if and only if $\operatorname{coz} \alpha \in I$, it is clear that the mapping $A \mapsto \mathbf{O}^A$ is injective on closed sublocales of βL . It is however not necessarily injective on all sublocales of βL (the reader may peak ahead to Lemma 4.2.2 to see that \mathbf{O}^A is the zero ideal for any dense sublocale A of βL). So it is possible for \mathbf{O}^A to be pure even if A is not a closed sublocale of βL .

The upcoming lemma characterizes when the ideals O^A and M^A are pure. We will put it to good use on a number of occasions. The characterization that O^A is pure if and only if $O^A = O^{\bar{A}}$, which we include as part of this lemma, is also observed in [19].

Lemma 2.3.1. If A is a sublocale of βL , then $m\mathbf{O}^A = m\mathbf{M}^A = \mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$. Hence, \mathbf{O}^A is pure iff $\mathbf{O}^A = \mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$, and \mathbf{M}^A is pure iff $\mathbf{M}^A = \mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$.

Proof. Since $O^{\bar{A}} \subseteq O^A \subseteq M^A$, applying the *m*-operator and keeping in mind that $O^{\bar{A}}$ is pure since \bar{A} is a closed sublocale, we obtain

$$\boldsymbol{O}^{\bar{A}} = m\boldsymbol{O}^{\bar{A}} \subseteq m\boldsymbol{O}^{A} \subseteq m\boldsymbol{M}^{A}.$$

Now let $\alpha \in m\mathbf{M}^A$, and select $\gamma \in \mathbf{M}^A$ with $\cos \alpha \prec \cos \gamma$. Then $r_L(\cos \alpha) \prec r_L(\cos \gamma)$, so that $r_L(\cos \alpha)^* \lor r_L(\cos \gamma) = 1_{\beta L}$, and hence (in light of the fact that $\gamma \in \mathbf{M}^A = \mathbf{M}^{\bar{A}}$)

$$\bar{A} \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(\cos \gamma)) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\cos \alpha)^*),$$

which implies $\alpha \in \mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$, showing that $m\mathbf{M}^A \subseteq \mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$, and hence we have the three claimed equalities. The latter assertions follow from this.

Localic characterizations of sublocales A of βL for which O^A is pure follow. As in spaces, we say a sublocale B is a *neighborhood* of a sublocale A if the interior of B contains A.

Theorem 2.3.2. The following are equivalent for a sublocale A of βL .

- (1) \boldsymbol{O}^A is pure.
- (2) Every zero-sublocale of βL which is a neighborhood of A is also a neighborhood of \overline{A} .
- (3) Whenever A misses the closure of some cozero-sublocale of βL, then A also misses the closure of that cozero-sublocale.

Proof. (2) \Leftrightarrow (3): This equivalence follows from the fact that, for any *complemented* sublocale S of any frame M, $\operatorname{int}(M \setminus S) = M \setminus \operatorname{cl} S$, as can be deduced from [21, Eq. (4.3)], and zero-sublocales are exactly the complements of cozero-sublocales.

(1) \Rightarrow (2): Suppose that \mathbf{O}^A is pure, so that $\mathbf{O}^A = \mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$ by Lemma 2.3.1. Consider any $J \in \operatorname{Coz}(\beta L)$ with $A \subseteq \operatorname{int}_{\beta L} \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(J)$. Then $A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(J^*)$. Since $J \in \operatorname{Coz}(\beta L)$, $\forall J \in \operatorname{Coz} L$. Pick $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L$ such that $\forall J = \operatorname{coz} \alpha$. Then $J^* = r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^*$. Thus, $A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^*)$, which implies $\alpha \in \mathbf{O}^A$, and hence $\alpha \in \mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$, by hypothesis, whence $\bar{A} \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^*) = \operatorname{int}_{\beta L} \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(J)$. (2) \Rightarrow (1): Suppose that A has the hypothesized feature. To prove that \mathbf{O}^A is pure, we need only show that $\mathbf{O}^A \subseteq \mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$. Let $\alpha \in \mathbf{O}^A$. Then $A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^*)$. Put $c = \operatorname{coz} \alpha$, and find a sequence $(c_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of cozero elements of L such that $c_n \prec c_{n+1}$ for every n, and $c = \bigvee_n c_n$. Since $r_L(c_n) \prec r_L(c_{n+1})$ for each n, the element $J = \bigcup_n r_L(c_n)$ is a cozero element of βL with

$$J^* = r_L\left(\left(\bigvee J\right)^*\right) = r_L\left(\left(\bigvee c_n\right)^*\right) = r_L(c^*).$$

Thus, $A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(J^*) = \operatorname{int}_{\beta L} \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(J)$. Since $\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(J)$ is a zero-sublocale of βL , the hypothesis implies that $\overline{A} \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\cos \alpha)^*)$. Therefore $\alpha \in O^{\overline{A}}$, which establishes the desired containment. Therefore O^A is pure, by Lemma 2.3.1.

Recall from [35, Proposition VI.2.2.1] that each spatial sublocale of a sober space is induced by a subspace. Recall also that complemented sublocales of a spatial locale are spatial [35, Proposition VI.3.3]. Thus, zero-sublocales and cozero-sublocales of βX are precisely the sublocales induced by the zero-sets and cozero-sets of βX , respectively. Since purity is preserved (and therefore also reflected) by ring isomorphisms, we therefore have the following corollary.

Corollary 2.3.3. For a Tychonoff space X, the following are equivalent for a subset A of βX .

- (1) \boldsymbol{O}^A is pure.
- (2) Every zero-set of βX which is a neighborhood of A is also a neighborhood of \overline{A} .
- (3) Whenever A misses the closure of some cozero-set of βX, then A also misses the closure of that cozero-set.

Let us pause for a moment for some bookkeeping. The ideals O^A and M^A are indexed by sublocales of βL . So, when we do not view L as a sublocale of βL , then, strictly speaking, for a sublocale S of L we cannot speak of O^S or M^S . It is however desirable to have similar ideals indexed by sublocales of L, in such a way that when we do view L as a sublocale of βL , so that a sublocale of L is then a sublocale of βL , then the two concepts agree.

A pleasant observation from [18] is that, for S a sublocale of L, the ideals O_S and M_S can be described solely in terms of L without invoking βL , as follows:

$$O_S = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid S \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_L((\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^*) \}$$
 and $M_S = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid S \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha) \}.$

Now, viewing L as a sublocale of βL , if S is a closed sublocale of L, it does not follow that S is a closed sublocale of βL . We can thus not simply deduce that the ideal O_S is pure. We shall see that if L is normal, then O_S is pure for every closed sublocale S of L. This will be via a characterization of the frames L for which O_S is pure for each closed sublocale S of L. Towards that end, let us say a frame L is *coz-interpolative* if whenever a cozero element of L is rather below some element of L, then it is completely below that element. This strange-sounding name is justified by the fact that the definition says if c is a cozero element and $c \prec a$, then the relation \prec is interpolative between c and a. Normal frames are coz-interpolative. Here is an example of a non-normal coz-interpolative frame. **Example 2.3.4.** Let L be a non-normal basically disconnected frame (see, for instance, the space described in [24, Problem 6Q]). Then L is coz-interpolative. To verify this, consider any $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$ and $a \in L$ with $c \prec a$. Then $c^{**} \prec a$. Since c^{**} is complemented as L is basically disconnected, we have $c \leq c^{**} \prec a$, as desired.

Before we proceed to the result for which we have introduced coz-interpolative frames, let us observe that for *F*-frames (recall from [4] that these are the frames *L* such that if $a \wedge b = 0$ in $\operatorname{Coz} L$, then there exist $u, v \in \operatorname{Coz} L$ such that $u \vee v = 1$ and $a \wedge u = b \wedge v = 0$) the concept of being coz-interpolative is expressible in terms of sublocales.

Theorem 2.3.5. Consider the following conditions on a frame L.

- (1) L is coz-interpolative.
- (2) Whenever a zero-sublocale Z of L is a neighborhood of a closed sublocale A of L, there is a cozero-sublocale C of L such that $A \subseteq C \subseteq Z$.

Condition (1) implies condition (2), and the two conditions are equivalent if L is an F-frame.

Proof. Suppose that L is coz-interpolative. Let Z be a zero-sublocale of L which is a neighborhood of a closed sublocale A of L. Pick $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$ and $a \in L$ with $Z = \mathfrak{c}_L(c)$ and $A = \mathfrak{c}_L(a)$. Then $\mathfrak{c}_L(a) \subseteq \operatorname{int}_L(\mathfrak{c}_L(c))$, which says $\mathfrak{c}_L(a) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_L(c^*)$, so that $c^* \lor a = 1$, and hence $c \prec a$. Since L is coz-interpolative, we therefore have $c \prec a$. By [6, Corollary 3], there is a *cozero* separating element, that is, an $s \in \operatorname{Coz} L$ such that $c \land s = 0$ and $s \lor a = 1$. Thus, $\mathfrak{o}_L(c) \cap \mathfrak{o}_L(s) = \mathbb{O}$ and $\mathfrak{c}_L(a) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_L(s)$. The former implies $\mathfrak{o}_L(s) \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_L(c)$. Therefore the sublocale $C = \mathfrak{o}_L(s)$ is a cozero-sublocale of L with $A \subseteq C \subseteq Z$. Thus, condition (1) implies condition (2).

Now assume that L is an F-frame satisfying condition (2). Consider $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$ and $a \in L$ with $c \prec a$. Then $c^* \lor a = 1$, which implies $\mathfrak{c}_L(a) \subseteq \operatorname{int}_L(\mathfrak{c}_L(c))$. Thus, $\mathfrak{c}_L(c)$ is a zero-sublocale which is a neighborhood of the closed sublocale $\mathfrak{c}_L(a)$. By condition (2), there is a cozero element d of L such that $\mathfrak{c}_L(a) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_L(d) \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_L(c)$. Consequently, $a \lor d = 1$ and $d \land c = 0$. Since c and d are cozero elements and L is an F-frame, there exist u and v in $\operatorname{Coz} L$ with $u \lor v = 1$ and $c \land u = 0 = d \land v$. Therefore c is rather below v in the lattice $\operatorname{Coz} L$, which, again by [6, Corollary 3], implies $c \prec v$. We however have $v \leq a$ because $a \lor d = 1$ and $v \land d = 0$; so in all then $c \prec a$, which proves that L is coz-interpolative.

Remark 2.3.6. Recall from [7] that a frame is called an *Oz-frame* if the pseudocomplement of every cozero element is a cozero element. See also [25] for some interesting characterizations of these frames. In terms of sublocales, L is an Oz-frame precisely when the interior of every zero-sublocale is a cozero-sublocale. Therefore every Oz-frame satisfies condition (2) of Theorem 2.3.5.

Now here is a characterization of the frames L for which every ideal of the form O_S is pure for every closed sublocale S of L.

Theorem 2.3.7. The ideal O_B of $\mathcal{R}L$ is pure for every closed sublocale B of L iff L is coz-interpolative.

Proof. Let $a \in L$ and $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L$. From the definition, we know that $\alpha \in O^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))}$ if and only if $\cos \alpha \prec a$. On the other hand,

$$\alpha \in \mathbf{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_L(a)} \quad \text{iff} \quad \mathfrak{c}_L(a) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_L((\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^*)$$
$$\text{iff} \quad a \lor (\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^* = 1$$
$$\text{iff} \quad \operatorname{coz} \alpha \prec a.$$

Therefore $O^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))} \subseteq O_{\mathfrak{c}_L(a)}$. So, if *L* is coz-interpolative, then $O^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))} = O_{\mathfrak{c}_L(a)}$, which then proves that O_B is pure for every closed sublocale *B* of *L*.

Conversely, suppose that O_B is pure for every closed sublocale B of L. Let $a \in L$ and $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$ be such that $c \prec a$. Pick $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$ with $\operatorname{coz} \gamma = c$. Now, $\operatorname{coz} \gamma \prec a$ implies $\gamma \in O_{\mathfrak{c}_L(a)}$ by the calculation above. Since $O_{\mathfrak{c}_L(a)} = O^{r_L[\mathfrak{c}_L(a)]}$, and since our hypothesis says this ideal is pure, we have $O^{r_L[\mathfrak{c}_L(a)]} = O^{\overline{r_L[\mathfrak{c}_L(a)]}}$ by Lemma 2.3.1. Since $\bigwedge \mathfrak{c}_L(a) = a$, and since r_L preserves meets, we have $\bigwedge r_L[\mathfrak{c}_L(a)] = r_L(a)$, which then implies

$$\overline{r_L[\mathbf{c}_L(a)]} = \mathbf{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a)).$$

Thus, $\gamma \in O^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))}$, which implies $\operatorname{coz} \gamma \prec a$; showing that L is coz-interpolative. \Box

Let us interpret this result in spaces. Recall that if X is a Tychonoff space, then for any $U, V \in \Omega(X), U \prec V$ if and only if $\overline{U} \subseteq V$, and $U \prec V$ if and only if there is a continuous function $f: X \to [0, 1]$ such that f(x) = 0 if $x \in U$ and f(x) = 1 if $x \notin V$. We therefore have the following corollary.

Corollary 2.3.8. The ideal O_A of C(X) is pure for every closed subset A of X iff whenever the closure of a cozero-set of X is contained in some open subset of X, then the cozero-set and the complement of that open set are completely separated.

Another immediate corollary to Theorem 2.3.7 is the following. Recall that a topological space is normal if and only if the frame of its open subsets is normal.

Corollary 2.3.9. If L is normal frame, then O_B is pure for every closed sublocale B of L. If X is a normal space, then O_B is pure for every closed subset B of X.

Recall that the subcategory of completely regular Lindelöf frames resides coreflectively in **CRFrm** [31]. A σ -ideal of Coz L is a lattice ideal closed under countable joins. We denote by λL the frame of σ -ideals of Coz L. The mapping $\lambda_L \colon \lambda L \to L$ that sends an ideal to its join is the coreflection map to L from Lindelöf completely regular frames. It is a dense C-quotient map(see [4] for the notion of C- and C^* -quotients), and therefore the induced ring homomorphism $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_L) \colon \mathcal{R}(\lambda L) \to \mathcal{R}L$ is an isomorphism. Since regular Lindelöf frames are normal, the direct images under this isomorphism of the pure ideals O_B of $\mathcal{R}(\lambda L)$, for B a closed sublocale of λL , are pure ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$. We wish to describe them in terms of the associated closed sublocales of βL . We do so by first proving a more general result. Recall that a frame homomorphism $h \colon M \to L$ is said to be *coz-surjective* if for every $c \in \text{Coz } L$ there is a $d \in \text{Coz } M$ such that h(d) = c.

Recall the Stone extension of a frame homomorphism from Section 1.5 of Chapter 1.

If $h: M \to L$ is a dense C^* -quotient map, then βh is an isomorphism [10, Corollary 2.2], and so we have the commuting triangle



where the morphism k_{LM} is defined by $k_{LM} = j_M \circ (\beta h)^{-1}$.

For use in the upcoming proof, recall from the definition that if $I \in \beta L$ and $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L$, then

$$\alpha \in \boldsymbol{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)} \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{coz} \alpha \in I.$$

Theorem 2.3.10. If $h: M \to L$ is a dense C-quotient map out of a normal frame, then, for any $a \in M$,

$$(\mathcal{R}h)[\boldsymbol{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_M(a)}] = \boldsymbol{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}((\beta h)(r_M(a)))} = \boldsymbol{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}((k_{LM})_*(a))},$$

where k_{LM} is as defined above.

Proof. The second claimed equality follows from the fact that

$$(k_{LM})_* = \left(j_M \circ (\beta h)^{-1}\right)_* = \beta h \circ r_M$$

because the right adjoint of an isomorphism is its inverse.

Now, to the first equality. For brevity, let us write $I_a = (\beta h)(r_M(a))$. We start by showing that $(\mathcal{R}h)[\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_M(a)}] \subseteq \mathcal{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I_a)}$. Let $\alpha \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_M(a)}$. Then $\operatorname{coz} \alpha \prec a$, which then implies $\operatorname{coz} \alpha \prec a$ since M is normal. Thus, $\operatorname{coz} \alpha \in r_M(a)$. Since $\operatorname{coz} ((\mathcal{R}h)(\alpha)) = h(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)$, it follows that $(\mathcal{R}h)(\alpha) \in \mathcal{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I_a)}$. This proves that $(\mathcal{R}h)[\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_M(a)}] \subseteq \mathcal{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I_a)}$.

For the reverse inclusion, let us first show that for any $u, v \in \operatorname{Coz} M$,

$$h(u) \prec h(v) \implies u \prec v. \tag{(\dagger)}$$

Since h(u) and h(v) are cozero elements, we know from [6, Corollary 3] that there is a separating *cozero* element s in L such that $h(u) \wedge s = 0$ and $s \vee h(v) = 1$. Since h is a C-quotient map, it is coz-surjective, and so there is a $c \in \text{Coz } M$ with h(c) = s. Thus, $h(u \wedge c) = 0$ and $h(c \vee v) = 1$, which, by density and coz-codensity of h, implies $u \wedge c = 0$ and $c \vee v = 1$, so that $u \prec v$ by [6, Corollary 3] again.

Now, consider any $\gamma \in \mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I_a)}$. Then $\operatorname{coz} \gamma \in I_a$, and so there is a $c \in \operatorname{Coz} M$ such that $c \prec a$ and $\operatorname{coz} \gamma \prec h(c)$. Since h is a C-quotient map, we can find $\tilde{\gamma} \in \mathcal{R}M$ such that $h \circ \tilde{\gamma} = \gamma$. Then $h(\operatorname{coz} \tilde{\gamma}) \prec h(c)$, and so by (\dagger), $\operatorname{coz} \tilde{\gamma} \prec c$, whence $\operatorname{coz} \tilde{\gamma} \prec a$, which is to say $\tilde{\gamma} \in \mathbf{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_M(a)}$. Since $\gamma = (\mathcal{R}h)(\tilde{\gamma})$, this shows that $\mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I_a)} \subseteq (\mathcal{R}h)[\mathbf{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_M(a)}]$, and we thus have the claimed equality.

Applied to $\lambda_L \colon \lambda L \to L$, this theorem takes the form described in the following corollary. It is not difficult to show that, putting $M = \lambda L$, $(k_{LM})_*(J) = \bigcup_{u \in J} r_L(u)$, for every $J \in \lambda L$.

Corollary 2.3.11. For any $J \in \lambda L$, $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_L)[\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_{\lambda L}(J)}] = \mathcal{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(\bigcup_{u \in J} r_L(u))}$.

A more localic (as opposed to frame-theoretic) statement of Theorem 2.3.10 is worth recording. Recall that a localic map $f: L \to M$ is called *dense* if its left adjoint $f^*: M \to L$ is dense. Let us say f is a *localic C-embedding* if f^* is a *C*-quotient map. We mentioned above the Stone extension of a frame homomorphism. Similarly, there is a Stone extension of a localic map (see, for instance, [21]), also denoted βf .

Corollary 2.3.12. If $f: L \to M$ is a dense localic C-embedding with M normal, then

$$\mathcal{R}(f^*)[\boldsymbol{O}_A] = \boldsymbol{O}^{\overline{(\beta f)_{-1}[r_M[A]]}} = \boldsymbol{O}^{(\beta f)_{-1}\left\lfloor \overline{r_M[A]} \right\rfloor},$$

for any closed sublocale A of M.

Proof. Observe that if $g: H \to K$ is a localic isomorphism, then $\overline{g_{-1}[T]} = g_{-1}[\overline{T}]$, for any sublocale T of K. So the second equality in the statement of the corollary holds because βf is an isomorphism. Now, pick $a \in M$ such that $A = \mathfrak{c}_M(a)$. As observed in the proof of Theorem 2.3.7, $\overline{r_M[\mathfrak{c}_M(a)]} = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta M}(r_M(a))$, so

$$(\beta f)_{-1}[\overline{r_M[\mathfrak{c}_M(a)]}] = (\beta f)_{-1}[\mathfrak{c}_{\beta M}(r_M(a))] = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}((\beta f)^*(r_L(a))),$$

and hence the first equality in the statement of the corollary follows from Theorem 2.3.10 because $(\beta f)^* = \beta(f^*)$.

Let us go back to Theorem 2.3.7. It tells us that if L is coz-interpolative then each ideal of the form O_B , for B a closed sublocale of L, is pure. This, however, does not mean that all pure ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ for such a frame L are of this kind. For that to be the case, the frame needs to be even more restricted, as the next theorem shows.

Theorem 2.3.13. $\operatorname{PId}(\mathcal{R}L) = \{O_B \mid B \text{ is a closed sublocale of } L\}$ iff L is compact.

Proof. Assume first that $\operatorname{PId}(\mathcal{R}L) = \{ \mathbf{O}_B \mid B \text{ is a closed sublocale of } L \}$. We prove that L is compact by showing that the localic map $r_L \colon L \to \beta L$ is an isomorphism. Since it is always injective, we need only show that it is surjective. Consider any $I \in \beta L$. Since $\mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)}$ is pure, the hypothesis furnishes an $a \in L$ such that $\mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)} = \mathbf{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_L(a)}$. Since $\mathbf{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_L(a)} = \mathbf{O}^{r_L[\mathfrak{c}_L(a)]}$, and since this ideal is pure, Lemma 2.3.1 ensures that $\mathbf{O}^{r_L[\mathfrak{c}_L(a)]} = \mathbf{O}^{\overline{r_L[\mathfrak{c}_L(a)]}}$. But now, as observed in the proof of Theorem 2.3.7, $\overline{r_L[\mathfrak{c}_L(a)]} = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))$; so we have $\mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)} = \mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))}$, whence $\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))$ because these sublocales are closed. Therefore $I = r_L(a)$, which shows that r_L is surjective, as desired.

Conversely, assume that L is compact. Then (since our frames are completely regular) L is normal, and so, by Corollary 2.3.9, O_B is a pure ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ for each closed sublocale B of L. On the other hand, if H is a pure ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ then there is an $I \in \beta L$ such that $H = O^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)}$. Since L is compact, $r_L \colon L \to \beta L$ is surjective, and so there is an $a \in L$ such that $I = r_L(a)$. Note, as well, that the surjectivity of r_L implies $r_L[\mathfrak{c}_L(a)] = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))$. In consequence,

$$H = \boldsymbol{O}^{\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{c}}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))} = \boldsymbol{O}^{r_L[\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{c}}_L(a)]} = \boldsymbol{O}_{\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{c}}_L(a)},$$

which then proves that $\operatorname{PId}(\mathcal{R}L) = \{ O_B \mid B \text{ is a closed sublocale of } L \}.$

Corollary 2.3.14. The pure ideals of C(X) are precisely the ideals O_B for B a closed subset of X iff X is compact.

We mentioned at the beginning of the section that one of our aims is to give a description of pure ideals of \mathcal{R}^*L . We now embark on that, but first we recall some background.

As shown in [4], $j_L: \beta L \to L$ is C^* -quotient map. Since j_L is dense, the ring homomorphism $\mathcal{R}(j_L): \mathcal{R}(\beta L) \to \mathcal{R}L$ it induces is injective. Since it maps into \mathcal{R}^*L (as βL is compact), when its codomain is restricted to \mathcal{R}^*L , we have the ring isomorphism

 $\phi_L \colon \mathcal{R}(\beta L) \to \mathcal{R}^* L$ given by $\phi_L(f) = j_L \circ f$.

Now, in view of this ring isomorphism,

$$\operatorname{PId}(\mathcal{R}^*L) = \{\phi_L[J] \mid J \in \operatorname{PId}(\mathcal{R}(\beta L))\}$$

because, clearly, an onto ring homomorphism sends pure ideals to pure ideals. We however seek a more transparent description of pure ideals of \mathcal{R}^*L .

So far, given a frame L, we have dealt only with ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$. To prove the next result, we shall simultaneously deal with ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ and of $\mathcal{R}(\beta L)$. To avoid possible confusion, we shall use a different symbol for the O-ideals in $\mathcal{R}(\beta L)$. Also, we shall use notation that distinguishes between the cozero maps, and write Coz: $\mathcal{R}(\beta L) \to \beta L$ for the cozero map on $\mathcal{R}(\beta L)$. Although this notation is identical to the one used for the cozero part of a frame, there is no danger of ambiguity. For any sublocale A of βL , we set

$$\mathcal{O}_A = \{ f \in \mathcal{R}(\beta L) \mid A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}((\operatorname{Coz} f)^*) \}.$$
For any $f \in \mathcal{R}(\beta L)$, we have $\bigvee \operatorname{Coz} f = \operatorname{coz}(j_L \circ f)$. In part of the proof below we shall use the fact that if I and J are elements of βL with $I \prec J$, then $\bigvee I \in J$ (see [14, p. 156]).

Theorem 2.3.15. An ideal of \mathcal{R}^*L is pure iff it is of the form $\{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}^*L \mid \cos \alpha \in I\}$ for some $I \in \beta L$.

Proof. As already mentioned above, an onto ring homomorphism sends pure ideals to pure ideals. So, if $\psi: A \to B$ is a ring isomorphism, then the pure ideals of B are precisely the images of the pure ideals of A under ψ . Now, for the isomorphism $\phi_L: \mathcal{R}(\beta L) \to \mathcal{R}^*L$ mentioned above, and taking into account the result in Theorem 2.3.13, we have

$$\operatorname{PId}(\mathcal{R}^*L) = \{\phi_L[\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)}] \mid I \in \beta L\}.$$

We claim that, for any $I \in \beta L$,

$$\phi_L[\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)}] = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}^*L \mid \operatorname{coz} \alpha \in I \}.$$
(1)

To verify this, let $f \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)}$. Then $\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}((\operatorname{Coz} f)^*)$, which implies $(\operatorname{Coz} f)^* \vee I = 1_{\beta L}$, and hence $\operatorname{Coz} f \prec I$, whence $\bigvee \operatorname{Coz} f \in I$, that is, $\operatorname{coz}(\phi_L(f)) \in I$. Consequently, $\phi_L(f)$ is an element of \mathcal{R}^*L whose cozero element belongs to I. This proves the inclusion \subseteq in (‡). For the reverse inclusion, consider any $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}^*L$ with $\operatorname{coz} \alpha \in I$. Let $\tilde{\alpha}$ be the function in $\mathcal{R}(\beta L)$ such that $j_L \circ \tilde{\alpha} = \alpha$. Then $\tilde{\alpha}$ has the property that

$$\operatorname{Coz} \tilde{\alpha} \subseteq r_L \Big(\bigvee \operatorname{Coz} \tilde{\alpha} \Big) = r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha) \prec I$$

because id $\leq h_* \circ h$ for every frame homomorphism h, and whenever $c \in I \in \beta L$, then $c \prec d$ for some $d \in I$, so that $r_L(c) \prec r_L(d) \subseteq I$. Thus, $(\operatorname{Coz} \tilde{\alpha})^* \lor I = 1_{\beta L}$, which implies $\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(\operatorname{Coz} \tilde{\alpha})^*$, so that $\tilde{\alpha} \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)}$. Since $\phi_L(\tilde{\alpha}) = \alpha$, we have shown the inclusion \supseteq in (‡). Since βL is compact, its pure ideals are precisely the ideals \mathcal{O}_A , for A a closed sublocale of βL , as shown in Theorem 2.3.13. The result therefore follows because $\phi_L \colon \mathcal{R}(\beta L) \to \mathcal{R}^*L$ is an isomorphism. \Box

Let us restate this result differently using the language of contraction of ideals. Recall that if $\phi: A \to B$ is a ring homomorphism and I is an ideal of B, then the ideal $\phi^{-1}[I]$ of A is called the *contraction* of I.

Corollary 2.3.16. The pure ideals of \mathcal{R}^*L (resp. $C^*(X)$) are precisely the contractions to \mathcal{R}^*L (resp. $C^*(X)$) of the pure ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ (resp. C(X)).

Phrased this way, the reader may wonder if we could not have derived this by first arguing that, in function rings, contractions of pure ideals are pure ideals. We could not because (even in function rings) purity generally does not survive contraction, as the example below shows.

Example 2.3.17. Let $L = \Omega(\mathbb{R})$, and put a = (0, 1). Note that $a = a^{**}$. Since every element of L is a cozero element, there is an $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L$ such that $\cos \alpha = a$. Denote by $\mathbf{b} \colon L \to \mathfrak{B}L$ the Booleanization map $\mathbf{b}(x) = x^{**}$. Since \mathbf{b} is dense, the ring homomorphism $\mathcal{R}\mathbf{b} \colon \mathcal{R}L \to \mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{B}L)$ is injective, and so its image is a function ring which is a subring of $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{B}L)$. Let H be the principal ideal of $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{B}L)$ generated by $\mathbf{b} \circ \alpha$. Since $\mathfrak{B}L$ is Boolean, and hence a P-frame, H is a pure ideal in $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{B}L)$ by [11, Corollary 3.10]. We claim that the ideal $(\mathcal{R}\mathbf{b})^{-1}[H]$ of $\mathcal{R}L$ is not pure. If it were, then since $\alpha \in (\mathcal{R}\mathbf{b})^{-1}[H]$, there would be an element $\gamma \in (\mathcal{R}\mathbf{b})^{-1}[H]$ such that $\cos \alpha \prec \cos \gamma$. The relation $\gamma \in (\mathcal{R}\mathbf{b})^{-1}[H]$ implies $\mathbf{b} \circ \gamma \in H$, and hence $\mathbf{b} \circ \gamma$ is a multiple of $\mathbf{b} \circ \alpha$. Now, in light of the cozero element of a product being below the cozero element of each factor, we would have

which would imply $a \prec a$, which is of course false.

2.4 Characterizing basic disconnectedness

In Theorem 2.3.7 we characterized the frames L for which O_B is pure for every closed sublocale B of L. It is thus natural to seek a "companion" characterization with open sublocales in the place of closed ones. That will be the content of our next result. We shall approach it slightly differently from the previous case.

In [1], there are characterizations of basically disconnected spaces X in terms properties of pure ideals of C(X). One such is that X is basically disconnected if and only if O^A is a pure ideal of C(X) for every subspace of A of βX . Now, a topological space, when viewed as a frame, can have more sublocales than subspaces. So it is reasonable to wonder if replacing "subspace" with "sublocale" in the result of [1] just recited does not invalidate one of the implications. We shall see that it does not. This we shall actually do by characterizing basically disconnected frames in several ways, including that L is basically disconnected if and only if O^A is pure for every sublocale of βL . One other characterization requires knowledge about the frame $S_{\mathfrak{c}}(L)$, associated with any given frame L, defined in [36] by

 $\mathcal{S}_{\mathfrak{c}}(L) = \{ S \in \mathcal{S}(L) \mid S \text{ is a join of closed sublocales of } L \}.$

Since our frames are completely regular (and hence fit), each member of $S_{\mathfrak{c}}(L)$ is actually a join of complemented sublocales. Following Isbell [27], we shall thus say members of $S_{\mathfrak{c}}(L)$ are the *smooth* sublocales. We must point out that in [27] this descriptor is used not only for the fit case.

There are several characterizations of basically disconnected frames in [4] and [16]. The following ones are new, and they both extend and supplement the spatial ones in [1]. Recall from [3, Corollary to Lemma 1.9] that r_L preserves disjoint binary joins; that is, if $a \wedge b = 0$, then $r_L(a \vee b) = r_L(a) \vee r_L(b)$.

Theorem 2.4.1. The following conditions are equivalent for L.

- (1) L is basically disconnected.
- (2) \boldsymbol{O}^A is pure for every sublocale A of βL .
- (3) The intersection of any collection of pure ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ is pure.
- (4) \mathbf{O}^A is pure for every smooth sublocale A of βL .
- (5) \boldsymbol{O}^A is pure for every open sublocale A of βL .
- (6) $\mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))}$ is pure for every $a \in L$.
- (7) $\boldsymbol{O}^{\boldsymbol{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^*))}$ is pure for every $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$.

Proof. (1) \Rightarrow (2): Suppose that *L* is basically disconnected, and let *A* be a sublocale of βL . We show that $\mathbf{O}^A \subseteq \mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$. Let $\gamma \in \mathbf{O}^A$. For brevity, write $c = \cos \gamma$. Then $A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^*))$. Since *L* is basically disconnected, $c^* \vee c^{**} = 1$, and since $c^* \wedge c^{**} = 0$, we have

$$r_L(c^*) \lor r_L(c^{**}) = r_L(c^* \lor c^{**}) = 1_{\beta L}.$$

Consequently, $\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^{**})) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^{*}))$, and hence

$$\bar{A} \subseteq \overline{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^*))} = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^{**})) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^*)) = \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\cos\gamma)^*),$$

which implies $\gamma \in \mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$. Thus, $\mathbf{O}^A \subseteq \mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$, and therefore $\mathbf{O}^A = \mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$, showing that \mathbf{O}^A is pure. (2) \Rightarrow (3): Assume that (2) holds, and let $\{Q_\lambda\}$ be a family of pure ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$. For each index λ , there is a closed sublocale K_λ of βL such that $Q_\lambda = \mathbf{O}^{K_\lambda}$. This then implies

$$\bigcap_{\lambda} Q_{\lambda} = \bigcap_{\lambda} O^{K_{\lambda}} = O^{\bigvee_{\lambda} K_{\lambda}},$$

showing that $\bigcap_{\lambda} Q_{\lambda}$ is pure in light of the hypothesis in (2).

(3) \Rightarrow (4): Assume that (3) holds. If A is smooth, then there is a collection $\{K_{\lambda}\}$ of closed sublocales of βL such that $A = \bigvee_{\lambda} K_{\lambda}$. Thus, $\mathbf{O}^{A} = \bigcap_{\lambda} \mathbf{O}^{K_{\lambda}}$, which is an intersection of pure ideals, and hence \mathbf{O}^{A} is pure.

 $(4) \Rightarrow (5)$: This holds because open sublocales in subfit frames (and hence in completely regular frames) are smooth.

 $(5) \Rightarrow (6) \Rightarrow (7)$: These implications are trivial.

(7) \Rightarrow (1): Assume that (7) holds, and let $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$. Then the ideal $O^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^*))}$ is pure, by hypothesis, and so

$$\boldsymbol{O}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^*))} = \boldsymbol{O}^{\overline{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^*))}} = \boldsymbol{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^{**}))}.$$

Take $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$ with $c = \cos \gamma$. Then $\gamma \in O^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^*))}$, which then implies $\gamma \in O^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^{**}))}$. The latter says $\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^{**})) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(c^*))$, which implies $r_L(c^{**}) \lor r_L(c^*) = 1_{\beta L}$, whence, on taking joins, we obtain $c^{**} \lor c^* = 1$. Therefore L is basically disconnected.

Corollary 2.4.2. The ideal O_U is pure for every open sublocale U of L iff L is basically disconnected.

Proof. If L is basically disconnected, then, by the theorem above, O_U is pure for every open sublocale U because $O_U = O^{r_L[U]}$, and $r_L[U]$ is a sublocale of βL .

Conversely, observe that for any $a \in L$ and $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$,

$$\gamma \in \boldsymbol{O}_{\mathfrak{o}_{L}(a)} \quad \text{iff} \quad \mathfrak{o}_{L}(a) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{L}((\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^{*})$$

$$\text{iff} \quad a \leq (\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^{*}$$

$$\text{iff} \quad r_{L}(a) \leq r_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^{*}$$

$$\text{iff} \quad \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_{L}(a)) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^{*})$$

$$\text{iff} \quad \gamma \in \boldsymbol{O}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_{L}(a))},$$

so that $O_{\mathfrak{o}_L(a)} = O^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))}$. It therefore follows from the implication (6) \Rightarrow (1) in Theorem 2.4.1 that if O_U is pure for every open sublocale U of L then L is basically disconnected. \Box

We have deliberately understated the result in this corollary because we wanted to present it as the "open analogue" of Theorem 2.3.7. A more comprehensive result characterizes basically disconnected frames in terms of ideals associated with sublocales of L (and not of βL as above) as follows. The proof is a mere adaptation of the corresponding results in Theorem 2.4.1, and we therefore omit it.

Corollary 2.4.3. The following are equivalent for L.

- (1) L is basically disconnected.
- (2) O_S is pure for every sublocale of L.
- (3) O_S is pure for every $S \in S_{\mathfrak{c}}(L)$.
- (4) O_U is pure for every open sublocale of U of L.

Chapter 3

Pulling and pushing the sublocale-induced ideals

A localic map $f: L \to M$ gives rise to a ring homomorphism $\mathcal{R}h: \mathcal{R}M \to \mathcal{R}L$, where h is the left adjoint of f. Our aim in this chapter is to study the contractions and extensions of the O-and M-ideals along the induced ring homomorphism.

3.1 Indispensable localic maps

We are not using "indispensable" as a mathematical adjective describing localic maps with some feature, but rather it has its everyday use, meaning that the localic maps we are presenting here are indispensable for the work that lies ahead. So, this section is preparatory for the main objective of pushing forward and pulling back ideals along ring homomorphisms induced by localic maps. We introduce localic maps that will play a pivotal role in Sections 3.2 and 3.3.

To start, recall that in Chapter 1 we presented the Stone-Čech compactification in the category **CRFrm**. The outlook in this chapter is more localic, so let us recall the *Stone extension* of a

localic map $f: L \to M$. It is the unique localic map $\beta f: \beta L \to \beta M$ that makes the diagram

$$\beta L \xrightarrow{\beta f} \beta M$$

$$r_{L} \uparrow \qquad \uparrow r_{M}$$

$$L \xrightarrow{f} M$$

$$(3.1.1)$$

commute. Of course, dually, for every frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$ there is a unique frame homomorphism $\beta h: \beta M \to \beta L$ making a square in **CRFrm** (which appears Section 1.5 of Chapter 1) similar to that in Diagram (3.1.1) commute. We recalled in Chapter 1 how the frame homomorphism βh maps. The localic map βf maps as follows:

$$(\beta f)(J) = \bigvee \{ I \in \beta M \mid f^*[I] \subseteq J \}.$$

It should be clear that if f is a localic map, then $(\beta f)^* = \beta(f^*)$.

Direct calculation shows that for any frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$ and any $a \in M$,

$$(\beta h)(r_M(a)) \subseteq r_L(h(a)). \tag{3.1.2}$$

In the next two sections we are going to encounter a number of cases where certain properties are characterized by the containment in (3.1.2) being actually an equality, either for all elements of M or all elements of some suitable subset of M.

Localic maps $f: L \to M$ with the property that $(\beta f)^*(r_M(a)) = r_L(f^*(a))$ for every $a \in M$ have ancestry in classical topology. To recall, Woods [41] calls a surjective continuous map $k: X \to Y$ an N-map if $\operatorname{cl}_{\beta X} k^{-1}[F] = (k^{\beta})^{-1}[\operatorname{cl}_{\beta Y} F]$ for every closed subset F of Y, where $k^{\beta}: \beta X \to \beta Y$ is the Stone extension of k. If the equality $\operatorname{cl}_{\beta X} k^{-1}[Z] = (k^{\beta})^{-1}[\operatorname{cl}_{\beta Y} Z]$ holds for each zero-set Z of Y, then Woods says the function k is a WN-map. We want to extend this to localic maps, and relax the surjectivity constraint that Woods imposed.

Let $f: L \to M$ be a (not necessarily surjective) localic map. Consider Diagram (3.1.1) above, and split it into the following wedges:

Let F be a closed sublocale of M. Using the wedge on the left, pull F back along f to obtain the closed sublocale $f_{-1}[F]$ of L, and then push this closed sublocale upwards along r_L to obtain the (not necessarily closed) sublocale $r_L[f_{-1}[F]]$ of βL , and then (to keep things closed) take the closure in βL to obtain $cl_{\beta L}(r_L[f_{-1}[F]])$. Now do similarly along the wedge on the right (keeping things closed) to end up with $(\beta f)_{-1}[cl_{\beta M}(r_M[F])]$. We shall be concerned with several cases where these two processes culminate in the same sublocale.

For a given localic map $f: L \to M$, let us agree to call the equality

$$\operatorname{cl}_{\beta L}(r_L[f_{-1}[B]]) = (\beta f)_{-1}[\operatorname{cl}_{\beta M}(r_M[B])]$$
(WE)

the *Woods equality*. We shall be interested in cases where (WE) holds for each sublocale in the following classes of closed sublocales:

- K = {all closed sublocales};
- Z = {all zero-sublocales};
- $\overline{C} = \{ \text{closures of cozero-sublocales} \}.$

We are now going to define certain types of localic maps in terms of the Woods equality, and give them names that accord with the ones Woods used in spaces.

Definition 3.1.1. We say a localic map $f: L \to M$ is:

- (a) an *N*-map if its Woods equality holds for every sublocale in K;
- (b) a WN-map if its Woods equality holds for every sublocale in Z; and
- (c) a \overline{C} -map if its Woods equality holds for every sublocale in \overline{C} .

In calculations, it shall be useful to have characterizations of these maps in terms of elements. For better visual clarity, we use the overline in the upcoming proof to denote closure.

Lemma 3.1.2. A localic map $f: L \to M$ is:

- (a) an N-map iff $(\beta f^*)(r_M(a)) = r_L(f^*(a))$ for every $a \in M$.
- (b) a WN-map iff $(\beta f^*)(r_M(a)) = r_L(f^*(a))$ for every $a \in \operatorname{Coz} M$.

(c)
$$a \overline{C}$$
-map iff $(\beta f^*)(r_M(c^*)) = r_L(f^*(c^*))$ for every $c \in \operatorname{Coz} M$.

Proof. We prove only (a) as the other proofs are similar. Observe, first, that for any frame H and any $x \in H$,

$$\overline{r_H[\mathbf{c}_H(x)]} = \mathbf{c}_{\beta H}(r_H(x))$$

because

$$\bigwedge r_H[\mathfrak{c}_H(x)] = r_H\left(\bigwedge \mathfrak{c}_H(x)\right) = r_H(x).$$

Now let $K = \mathfrak{c}_M(a)$, for some $a \in M$. Then

$$\overline{r_L[f_{-1}[\mathfrak{c}_M(a)]]} = \overline{r_L[\mathfrak{c}_M(f^*(a))]} = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(f^*(a))),$$

and

$$(\beta f)_{-1}\left[\overline{r_M[\mathfrak{c}_M(a)]}\right] = (\beta f)_{-1}[\mathfrak{c}_{\beta M}(r_M(a))] = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}\big((\beta f^*)(r_M(a)).$$

Therefore the Woods equality holds for K if and only if $(\beta f)^*(r_M(a)) = r_L(f^*(a))$.

This is as good a time as any to mention that frame homomorphisms with the properties characterizing N-maps and WN-maps in Lemma 3.1.2 were considered in [12], but without the motivation provided here. We retain the names they were given in that paper, and say a frame homomorphism is an *N*-homomorphism if its right adjoint is an N-map, a *WN*-homomorphism if its right adjoint is a \overline{C} -homomorphism if its right adjoint is a \overline{C} -map.

For use in Section 3.4 where we will consider C(X), let us extend Woods' terminology and say a continuous function $f: X \to Y$ is an *N*-map (resp, a WN-map) if it satisfies the conditions of Woods, but without being necessarily surjective. We shall need to know that a continuous function $f: X \to Y$ is an N-map (resp. WN-map, resp. \overline{C} -map) if and only if the localic map it induces is of the same type. This is not obvious, so we present a proof, but only for \overline{C} -maps as the other assertions can be proved similarly.

Given a Tychonoff space X, as in Chapter 2 we view X as a subspace of βX , and consider the identical embedding $i_X \colon X \to \beta X$. The right adjoint of the induced frame homomorphism $\Omega(i_X) \colon \Omega(\beta X) \to \Omega X$ maps thus:

$$\Omega(i_X)_*(U) = \beta X \smallsetminus \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X}(X \smallsetminus U).$$

Again, it will be convenient to view the Stone-Čech compactification of the frame $\Omega(X)$ to be given by the dense-onto frame homomorphism $\Omega(i_X): \Omega(\beta X) \to \Omega(X)$. So, as mentioned before, in the r_L -notation for the right adjoint of $\beta L \to L$, we have $r_{\Omega(X)} = \Omega(i_X)_*$.

A morphism $f: X \to Y$ in **Tych** gives rise to the digram



in **CRFrm** constructed as follows. For the upper trapezium, first use $f: X \to Y$ to form the **Tych**-version of Diagram (3.1.1), and then apply to it the contravariant functor $\Omega: \mathbf{Tych} \to \mathbf{CRFrm}$. For the lower trapezium, first apply Ω to $f: X \to Y$, and then form the **CRFrm**-version of Diagram (3.1.1). The triangles exist because, for any $L \in \mathbf{CRFrm}$, $j_L: \beta L \to L$ is the coreflection map to L from compact completely regular frames. In fact, δ_X and δ_Y are isomorphisms, as is well known. Since the trapeziums and the triangles commute, and since $j_{\Omega(X)}$ is a monomorphism because dense homomorphisms are monic in **CRFrm**, it follows that the outer square commutes.

In the upcoming proof we shall twice use the set-theoretic fact that if $g: A \to B$ is a function and $S \subseteq B$, then $g^{-1}[B \setminus S] = A \setminus g^{-1}[S]$.

Proposition 3.1.3. A continuous map is a \overline{C} -map (resp. an N-map, resp. a WN-map) iff the localic map it induces is a \overline{C} -map (resp. an N-map, resp. a WN-map).

Proof. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a continuous map between Tychonoff spaces. By Lemma 3.1.2(c), it suffices to show that f is a \overline{C} -map if and only if $\Omega(f): \Omega(Y) \to \Omega(X)$ is a \overline{C} -homomorphism. Let C be a cozero-set of Y, and set $U = Y \smallsetminus \operatorname{cl}_Y C$. Let us express the complements of the sets $\operatorname{cl}_{\beta X}[f^{-1}[\operatorname{cl}_Y C]]$ and $(\beta f)^{-1}[\operatorname{cl}_{\beta Y}(\operatorname{cl}_Y C)]$ in terms of induced frame homomorphisms.

$$\beta X \smallsetminus \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X}[f^{-1}[\operatorname{cl}_Y C]] = \beta X \smallsetminus \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X} f^{-1}[Y \smallsetminus U]$$
$$= \beta X \smallsetminus \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X}(X \smallsetminus f^{-1}[U])$$
$$= \beta X \smallsetminus \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X}\left(X \smallsetminus (\Omega(f))(U)\right)$$
$$= \Omega(i_X)_*((\Omega(f))(U)).$$

On the other hand,

$$\beta X \smallsetminus (\beta f)^{-1} [\operatorname{cl}_{\beta Y}(\operatorname{cl}_Y C)] = (\beta f)^{-1} [\beta Y \smallsetminus \operatorname{cl}_{\beta Y}(Y \smallsetminus U)]$$
$$= \Omega(\beta f) (\Omega(i_Y)_*(U)).$$

Therefore

 $\mathrm{cl}_{\beta X}(f^{-1}[\mathrm{cl}_Y C]) = (\beta f)^{-1}[\mathrm{cl}_{\beta Y}(\mathrm{cl}_Y C)] \quad \text{iff} \quad \Omega(i_X)_* \big((\Omega(f))(U)\big) = \Omega(\beta f) \big(\Omega(i_Y)_*(U)\big).$

From the commutativity of Diagram (3.1.3) and the fact that δ_X and δ_Y are isomorphisms, we have

$$\Omega(i_X)_* = \delta_X^{-1} \circ r_{\Omega(X)}, \qquad \Omega(i_Y)_* = \delta_Y^{-1} \circ r_{\Omega(Y)}, \qquad \Omega(\beta f) = \delta_X^{-1} \circ \beta(\Omega(f)) \circ \delta_Y,$$

and so, in light of the preceding calculation, the equality

$$\Omega(i_X)_* \big((\Omega(f))(U) \big) = \Omega(\beta f) \big(\Omega(i_Y)_*(U) \big)$$

is equivalent to the equality

$$\left(\delta_X^{-1} \circ r_{\Omega(X)}\right) \left((\Omega(f))(U) \right) = \left(\delta_X^{-1} \circ \beta(\Omega(f)) \circ \delta_Y \right) \left(\Omega(i_Y)_*(U) \right),$$

which, in turn, is equivalent to

$$r_{\Omega(X)}((\Omega(f))(U)) = \beta(\Omega(f))(r_{\Omega(Y)}(U))$$

because $\delta_Y \circ \Omega(i_Y)_* = r_{\Omega(Y)}$. Since

 $\{Y\smallsetminus \operatorname{cl}_Y C\mid C \text{ is a cozero-set of }Y\}=\{c^*\mid c\in \operatorname{Coz}(\Omega(Y))\},$

it then follows that f is a \overline{C} -map if and only if $\Omega(f)$ is a \overline{C} -map.

39

The next type of localic maps that will play a role below are best defined in terms of their left adjoints. Recall from [8] that a frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$ is said to be *nearly open* if $h(a^*) = h(a)^*$ for every $a \in L$. We weaken this.

Definition 3.1.4. A frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$ is *nearly coz-open* if $h(c^*) = h(c)^*$ for every $c \in \operatorname{Coz} M$. If the left adjoint of a localic map is nearly coz-open, we shall also say the localic map itself is nearly coz-open.

This is a proper weakening of near openness, as the following example shows.

Example 3.1.5. For any frame L, denote by $\vartheta_L \colon L \to \mathcal{S}(L)^{\mathrm{op}}$ the frame homomorphism given by $a \mapsto \mathfrak{c}_L(a)$. Since, for any $a \in L$, $\mathfrak{c}_L(a)^* = \mathfrak{o}_L(a)$ in $\mathcal{S}(L)^{\mathrm{op}}$, it follows that $\vartheta_L(a^*) = \vartheta_L(a)^*$ if and only if a is complemented. Therefore ϑ_L is nearly open if and only if L is Boolean. Recall that a *P*-frame is one in which every cozero element is complemented. Therefore ϑ_L is nearly coz-open if and only if L is a *P*-frame. Thus, for any *P*-frame L which is not Boolean, ϑ_L is a nearly coz-open homomorphism which is not nearly open.

The following lemma will be used in the next section. Recall that if $I \in \beta L$, then the pseudocomplement of I is given by $I^* = r_L(a^*)$ where $a = \bigvee I$.

Lemma 3.1.6. If $f: L \to M$ is a localic map, then βf is nearly coz-open iff f is a nearly coz-open \overline{C} -map.

Proof. We conduct the proof in **CRFrm**. So let $h: M \to L$ be a frame homomorphism, and consider any $I \in \beta M$. Since $j_L \circ \beta h = h \circ j_M$, $\bigvee(\beta h)(I) = h(\bigvee I)$, and so, setting $a = \bigvee I$, we have

$$(\beta h)(I)^* = r_L(h(a)^*)$$
 and $(\beta h)(I^*) = (\beta h)(r_M(a^*)).$ (3.1.4)

Now assume that h is a nearly coz-open \overline{C} -homomorphism, and let $I \in \operatorname{Coz}(\beta M)$. Put $a = \bigvee I$. Then $a \in \operatorname{Coz} M$, and so

$$(\beta h)(r_M(a^*)) = r_L(h(a^*)) = r_L(h(a)^*);$$

the first equality arising from h being a \overline{C} -homomorphism, and the second because h is nearly coz-open. In light of the equalities in (3.1.4), we therefore have that βh is nearly coz-open.

Conversely, assume that βh is nearly coz-open. We show first that h is nearly coz-open. So, let $a \in \operatorname{Coz} M$. By [6, Corollary 5], there is an $I \in \operatorname{Coz}(\beta M)$ such that $\bigvee I = a$. Since βh is nearly coz-open, $(\beta h)(I^*) = (\beta h)(I)^*$, which implies $r_L(h(a)^*) = (\beta h)(r_M(a^*))$, as observed in (3.1.4). Taking joins, and invoking the equality $j_L \circ \beta h = h \circ j_M$, yields

$$h(a)^* = \bigvee r_L(h(a)^*) = \bigvee (\beta h)(r_M(a^*)) = h(\bigvee r_M(a^*)) = h(a^*)$$

which shows that h is nearly coz-open. Next, to show that h is a \overline{C} -homomorphism, given $c \in \operatorname{Coz} M$, we must show that $(\beta h)(r_M(c^*)) = r_L(h(c^*))$. But this follows as in the near coz-openness case, with further utilization of the fact that $h(c^*) = h(c)^*$.

Although we shall not need the following result, we present it because it gives a characterization of nearly open maps that is not stated in [8]. In spaces, nearly open maps were defined by Pták [39] by a condition equivalent to saying $f: X \to Y$ is nearly open if and only if for every open set $U \subseteq X$, $f[U] \subseteq \operatorname{int} \overline{f[U]}$.

Proposition 3.1.7. Suppose that $f: L \to M$ is a localic map, and write h for its left adjoint. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (1) f is nearly open.
- (2) For every open sublocale U of L, $f[U] \subseteq \operatorname{int} \overline{f[U]}$.
- (3) For every $a \in L$, $a \leq h(f(a^*)^*)$.

Proof. (2) \Leftrightarrow (3): Let us observe that, for any $a \in L$,

$$\overline{f[\mathfrak{o}_L(a)]} = \mathfrak{c}_M\left(\bigwedge f[\mathfrak{o}_L(a)]\right) = \mathfrak{c}_M\left(f\left(\bigwedge \mathfrak{o}_L(a)\right)\right) = \mathfrak{c}_M(f(a^*)),$$

and therefore int $\overline{f[\mathfrak{o}_L(a)]} = \mathfrak{o}_M(f(a^*)^*)$. Since for any $S \in \mathcal{S}(L)$ and $T \in \mathcal{S}(M)$, $f[S] \subseteq T$ if and only if $S \subseteq f_{-1}[T]$, we therefore have

$$f[\mathbf{o}_L(a)] \subseteq \operatorname{int} \overline{f[\mathbf{o}_L(a)]} \quad \text{iff} \quad \mathbf{o}_L(a) \subseteq f_{-1}[\mathbf{o}_M(f(a^*)^*)]$$
$$\operatorname{iff} \quad \mathbf{o}_L(a) \subseteq \mathbf{o}_L(h(f(a^*)^*))$$
$$\operatorname{iff} \quad a \leq h(f(a^*)^*).$$

This proves the equivalence of statements (2) and (3).

 $(3) \Rightarrow (1)$: Assume that (3) holds. In accordance with the definition, we must show that h is nearly open. Let $b \in M$. Putting $a = h(b)^*$, the foregoing equivalence says

$$h(b)^* \le h(f(h(b)^{**})^*).$$

Since $b \leq f(h(b)) \leq f(h(b))^{**}$, we have $f(h(b)^{**})^* \leq b^*$, and so

$$h(b)^* \le h(f(h(b)^{**})^*) \le h(b^*),$$

whence we deduce that $h(b)^* = h(b^*)$. Therefore f is nearly open.

 $(1) \Rightarrow (3)$: Assume f is nearly open. We show that $a \leq h(f(a^*)^*)$, for every $a \in L$. Since h is nearly open, $h(f(a^*)^*) = h(f(a^*))^*$, and so, in view of the fact that $h(f(a^*)) \leq a^*$, we have

$$a \le a^{**} \le h(f(a^*))^* = h(f(a^*)^*),$$

which then shows that (1) implies (3).

In the proof of the implication $(3) \Rightarrow (1)$, we chose *a* to be $h(b)^*$. Now, if $b \in \operatorname{Coz} M$, it does not follow that $h(b)^* \in \operatorname{Coz} L$. Therefore when we refer to nearly coz-open maps, the corresponding implication does not follow from this one. It still holds though, as we now show.

Proposition 3.1.8. The following are equivalent for any localic map $f: L \to M$ between completely regular frames.

- (1) f is nearly coz-open.
- (2) For every cozero-sublocale C of L, $f[C] \subseteq \operatorname{int} \overline{f[C]}$.
- (3) For every $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$, $c \leq h(f(c^*)^*)$; where h denotes the left adjoint of f.

Proof. The equivalence of statements (2) and (3) and that statement (1) implies statement (3) are proved as in the previous proposition.

(3) \Rightarrow (1): Let $u \in \operatorname{Coz} M$. We must show that $h(u)^* \leq h(u^*)$; and it is here that we use complete regularity. Consider any $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$ with $c \leq h(u)^*$. Then $h(u)^{**} \leq c^*$, and so

$$u \le f(h(u)) \le f(h(u)^{**}) \le f(c^*),$$

which implies $f(c^*)^* \leq u^*$, whence (by invoking the inequality $c \leq h(f(c^*)^*)$ which holds by the current hypothesis) we obtain

$$c \le h(f(c^*)^*) \le h(u^*)$$

which implies $h(u)^* \leq h(u^*)$, by complete regularity, and thence $h(u)^* = h(u^*)$, as required \Box

3.2 Pulling back

Given a localic map $f: L \to M$, we have the ring homomorphism $\mathcal{R}f^*: \mathcal{R}M \to \mathcal{R}L$. So if A is a sublocale of L, we have the ideal \mathcal{M}_A of $\mathcal{R}L$ which we can then pull back to the ideal $(\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\mathcal{M}_A]$ of $\mathcal{R}M$. We also have the ideal $\mathcal{M}_{f[A]}$ of $\mathcal{R}M$. It turns out that these two ideals coincide. To see this, note that if $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}M$ then

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha \in \boldsymbol{M}_{f[A]} & \text{iff} \quad f[A] \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{M}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha) \\ & \text{iff} \quad A \subseteq f_{-1}[\mathfrak{c}_{M}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)] \\ & \text{iff} \quad A \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{L}(f^{*}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)) \\ & \text{iff} \quad A \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{L}(\operatorname{coz}(\mathcal{R}f^{*})(\alpha)) \\ & \text{iff} \quad (\mathcal{R}f^{*})(\alpha) \in \boldsymbol{M}_{A} \\ & \text{iff} \quad \alpha \in (\mathcal{R}f^{*})^{-1}[\boldsymbol{M}_{A}], \end{aligned}$$

which then shows that $\boldsymbol{M}_{f[A]} = (\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{M}_A].$

Now let $S \subseteq \beta L$ be a sublocale. We then have the ideals $\mathbf{M}^{(\beta f)[S]}$ and $(\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^S]$ of $\mathcal{R}M$. Calculating as above, we have that for any $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}M$,

$$\alpha \in \boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)[S]} \quad \text{iff} \quad S \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \big((\beta f^*) (r_M(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)) \big) \tag{3.2.1}$$

while, on the other hand,

$$\alpha \in (\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^S] \quad \text{iff} \quad S \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \big(r_L(f^*(\cos \alpha)) \big). \tag{3.2.2}$$

Now, since $(\beta f^*)(r_M(\cos \alpha)) \leq r_L(f^*(\cos \alpha))$, as elements of βL , we have

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}\big(r_L(f^*(\operatorname{coz}\alpha))\big) \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}\big((\beta f^*)(r_M(\operatorname{coz}\alpha))\big)$$

Consequently, we deduce from (3.1.2) in Section 3.1 and (3.2.1) that

$$(\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^S] \subseteq \mathbf{M}^{(\beta f)[S]}.$$

It appears from (3.2.1) and (3.2.2) that this containment is an equality precisely when the containment in (3.1.2) is an equality for every $c \in \operatorname{Coz} M$, that is, precisely when f is a WN-map. We show in the following theorem (which also includes the results we have just observed) that this is indeed the case.

Theorem 3.2.1. Let $f: L \to M$ be a localic map, with left adjoint h.

- (a) $(\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[\mathcal{M}_A] = \mathcal{M}_{f[A]}$ for every sublocale A of L.
- (b) $(\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^S] \subseteq \mathbf{M}^{(\beta f)[S]}$ for every sublocale S of βL .
- (c) The following are equivalent.
 - (i) $\boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)[S]} = (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{M}^S]$ for every sublocale S of βL .
 - (ii) $\boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)[S]} = (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{M}^S]$ for every closed sublocale U of βL .
 - (iii) f is WN-map.

Proof. Only (c) needs to be proved. It is trivial that condition (i) implies condition (ii). It follows from the equivalences in (3.2.1) and (3.2.2) above that condition (iii) implies condition (i). Now suppose that condition (ii) holds. Let $a \in \text{Coz } M$, and choose $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}M$ such that $\cos \alpha = a$. Define the closed sublocale K of βL to be

$$K = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \big((\beta h) (r_M(\cos \alpha)) \big)$$

Then, by the equivalence in (3.2.1) above, $\alpha \in \mathbf{M}^{(\beta f)[K]}$, and hence $\alpha \in (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^K]$, by hypothesis. Thus, by the equivalence in (3.2.2) above,

$$\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}((\beta h)(r_M(\cos\alpha))) = K \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(h(\cos\alpha)))$$

which implies $r_L(h(\cos \alpha)) \leq (\beta h)(r_M(\cos \alpha))$, and hence equality because the opposite inequality always holds. Therefore $(\beta h)(r_M(c)) = r_L(h(c))$ for every $c \in \operatorname{Coz} M$, which shows that condition (ii) implies condition (iii). Next, we look at **O**-ideals. As in the previous case, we first prove a "containment result", and then characterise when it is an equality.

Theorem 3.2.2. Let $f: L \to M$ be a localic map, with left adjoint h.

(a) $\boldsymbol{O}^{(\beta f)[S]} \subseteq (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{O}^S]$ for every sublocale S of βL .

(b) The following are equivalent.

- (i) $\boldsymbol{O}^{(\beta f)[S]} = (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{O}^S]$ for every sublocale S of βL .
- (ii) $\boldsymbol{O}^{(\beta f)[U]} = (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{O}^U]$ for every open sublocale U of βL .
- (iii) βf is nearly coz-open.

Proof. (a) Let $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}M$, and, for brevity, put $a = \cos \alpha$. Now, for any $S \in \mathcal{S}(\beta L)$,

$$\alpha \in \mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)[S]} \quad \text{iff} \quad (\beta f)[S] \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta M}(r_M(a^*))$$
$$\text{iff} \quad S \subseteq (\beta f)_{-1}[\mathfrak{o}_{\beta M}(r_M(a^*))]$$
$$\text{iff} \quad S \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}((\beta h)(r_M(a^*))) \qquad \text{since } (\beta f)^* = \beta(f^*) = \beta h.$$

On the other hand,

$$\alpha \in (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[\mathbf{O}^S] \quad \text{iff} \quad (\mathcal{R}h)(\alpha) \in \mathbf{O}^S$$
$$\text{iff} \quad S \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L} \big(r_L(\operatorname{coz}((\mathcal{R}h)(\alpha))^* \big)$$
$$\text{iff} \quad S \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L} (r_L(h(a)^*)).$$

Now, since

$$(\beta h)(r_M(a^*)) \leq r_L(h(a^*)) \leq r_L(h(a)^*),$$

we have $\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}((\beta h)(r_M(a^*))) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(h(a)^*))$, which then shows that $O^{(\beta f)[S]} \subseteq (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[O^S]$. (b) It is trivial that (i) implies (ii).

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii): Suppose that $O^{(\beta f)[U]} = (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[O^U]$ for every open sublocale U of βL . By Lemma 3.1.6, it suffices to show that f is a nearly coz-open \overline{C} -map. Working with its left adjoint, we prove first that h is nearly coz-open. Let $c \in \operatorname{Coz} M$, and pick $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}M$ such that $\operatorname{coz} \gamma = c$. Let U be the open sublocale $U = \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(h(c)^*))$ of βL . Then $U = \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\operatorname{coz}(\mathcal{R}h)(\gamma))^*)$, which then says $(\mathcal{R}h)(\gamma) \in \mathbf{O}^U$, and hence $\gamma \in (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[\mathbf{O}^U]$. By hypothesis, we then have $\gamma \in \mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)[U]}$, and so $(\beta f)[U] \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta M}(r_M(c^*))$, whence

$$\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}\big(r_L(h(c)^*)\big) = U \subseteq (\beta f)_{-1}[\mathfrak{o}_{\beta M}\big(r_M(c^*)\big)] = \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}\big((\beta h)(r_M(c^*))\big).$$

From this, we deduce that

$$r_L(h(c)^*) \subseteq (\beta h)(r_M(c^*)) \subseteq r_L(h(c^*)), \tag{(\dagger)}$$

which implies $h(c)^* \leq h(c^*)$, and hence $h(c)^* = h(c^*)$. Therefore h is nearly coz-open. Thus, the containments in (†) are equalities, and so $(\beta h)(r_L(u^*)) = r_L(h(u^*))$ for every $u \in \operatorname{Coz} M$, which says f is a \overline{C} -map by Lemma 3.1.2(c). It therefore follows from Lemma 3.1.6 that βf is nearly coz-open.

(iii) \Rightarrow (i): Suppose that βf is nearly coz-open. Then, by Lemma 3.1.6, f is nearly coz-open and is a \overline{C} -map, which implies that, for any $a \in \operatorname{Coz} M$,

$$(\beta h)(r_M(a^*)) = r_L(h(a^*)) = r_L(h(a)^*).$$

Therefore the equivalences in the proof of part (a) show that $O^{(\beta f)[S]} = (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[O^S]$ for every sublocale S of βL .

From part (a) of this theorem we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 3.2.3. For any localic map $f: L \to M$, $O_{f[A]} \subseteq (\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[O_A]$ for every $A \in \mathcal{S}(L)$.

Proof. Since Diagram (3.1.1) commutes, $(\beta f)[r_L[A]] = r_M[f[A]]$. So, by part (a) of Theorem 3.2.2,

$$\boldsymbol{O}_{f[A]} = \boldsymbol{O}^{r_M[f[A]]} = \boldsymbol{O}^{(\beta f)[r_L[A]]} \subseteq (\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{O}^{r_L[A]}] = (\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{O}_A],$$

which proves the result.

The localic maps for which this containment is always an equality are precisely the nearly coz-open ones, as the following result shows.

Theorem 3.2.4. If $f: L \to M$ is localic map, with left adjoint h, then $O_{f[A]} = (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[O_A]$ for every sublocale A of L iff f is nearly coz-open.

Proof. Calculations similar to the ones above show that if $a = \cos \alpha$, then

$$\alpha \in O_{f[A]}$$
 iff $A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_L(h(a^*)),$

while, on the other hand,

$$\alpha \in (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[\mathcal{O}_A]$$
 iff $A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_L(h(a)^*)$

Now, if f is nearly coz-open, then $h(c^*) = h(c)^*$ for every $c \in \operatorname{Coz} M$, so the observations above show that $O_{f[A]} = (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[O_A]$. For the converse, assume that $O_{f[A]} = (\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[O_A]$ for every $A \in \mathcal{S}(L)$, and let $c \in \operatorname{Coz} M$. Since $h(c^*) \leq h(c)^*$, we need only show the opposite inequality. Set $A = \mathfrak{o}_L(h(c)^*)$. Pick $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}M$ with $c = \operatorname{coz} \gamma$. Since $\operatorname{coz}(\mathcal{R}h(\gamma)) = h(\operatorname{coz} \gamma)$, we have $(\mathcal{R}h)(\gamma) \in O_A$, so that $\gamma \in (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[O_A]$, and hence $\gamma \in O_{f[A]}$, by hypothesis. The latter implies $f[A] \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_M(c^*)$, whence

$$\mathbf{o}_L(h(c)^*) = A \subseteq f_{-1}[\mathbf{o}_M(c^*)] = \mathbf{o}_L(h(c^*)),$$

implying $h(c)^* \leq h(c^*)$, thence equality. Therefore f is nearly coz-open.

3.3 Pushing forward

In the previous section, given a localic map $f: L \to M$, we started with a sublocale S of βL , formed the ideal \mathbf{O}^S of $\mathcal{R}L$, pulled it back along the ring homomorphism $\mathcal{R}f^*: \mathcal{R}M \to \mathcal{R}L$, and then compared the resulting ideal with the one obtained by first pushing the sublocale Salong βf and then computing the ideal $\mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)[S]}$.

In this section we perform the "dual" process. Namely, we start with a sublocale T of βM , pull it back along βf to form the ideal $O^{(\beta f)_{-1}[T]}$ of $\mathcal{R}L$. On the other hand, we push the ideal O^T of $\mathcal{R}M$ forward along the ring homomorphism $\mathcal{R}f^* \colon \mathcal{R}M \to \mathcal{R}L$ to obtain the ideal generated by the image $(\mathcal{R}f^*)[O^T]$, and then compare the two ideals.

In what follows, we write $\langle H \rangle$ for the ideal generated by a set H. We recall from [14, Lemma 4.4] that if γ and δ are elements of $\mathcal{R}L$ such that $\cos \gamma \prec \cos \delta$, then γ is a multiple of δ .

Theorem 3.3.1. Let $f: L \to M$ be a localic map.

(a) $\langle (\mathcal{R}f^*)[\mathbf{O}^T] \rangle \subseteq \mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)_{-1}[T]}$, for every sublocale T of βM .

- (b) $\langle (\mathcal{R}f^*)[\mathbf{O}^K] \rangle = \mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)_{-1}[K]}$, for every closed sublocale K of βM .
- (c) $\langle (\mathcal{R}f^*)[\mathbf{O}_B] \rangle \subseteq \mathbf{O}_{f_{-1}[B]}$, for every sublocale B of M.

Proof. (a) Let $\gamma \in \mathbf{O}^T$, and put $c = \cos \gamma$. Write h for f^* . Then $T \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta M}(r_M(\cos \gamma)^*)$, which implies

$$\begin{aligned} (\beta f)_{-1}[T] &\subseteq (\beta f)_{-1}[\mathfrak{o}_{\beta M}(r_M(c^*))] \\ &= \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}((\beta h)(r_M(c^*))) \\ &\subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(h(c^*))) \quad \text{since } \beta h \circ r_M \leq r_L \circ h \\ &\subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(h(c)^*)) \\ &= \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\operatorname{coz}((\mathcal{R}h)(\gamma))^*)). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore $(\mathcal{R}h)(\gamma) \in \mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)_{-1}[B]}$, from which we deduce that $(\mathcal{R}f^*)[\mathbf{O}^T] \subseteq \mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)_{-1}[T]}$. The result therefore follows because $\mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)_{-1}[T]}$ is an ideal.

(b) Taking into cognisance the result in (a), we need only show that if K is a closed sublocale of βM , then $\mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)_{-1}[K]} \subseteq \langle (\mathcal{R}f^*)[\mathbf{O}^K] \rangle$. Pick $I \in \beta M$ with $K = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta M}(I)$, so that

$$(\beta f)_{-1}[K] = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}((\beta h)(I)).$$

Let $\alpha \in \mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)_{-1}[K]}$. Then $r_L(\cos \alpha) \prec (\beta h)(I)$, which implies $r_L(\cos \alpha)^* \vee (\beta h)(I) = 1_{\beta L}$. Since $I = \bigvee_{u \in I} r_M(u)$, we therefore have

$$r_L(\cos \alpha)^* \vee \bigvee_{u \in I} (\beta h)(r_M(u)) = 1_{\beta L},$$

and so, by compactness of βL , there are finitely many elements u_1, \ldots, u_n in I such that

$$r_L(\cos \alpha)^* \vee \left((\beta h)(r_M(u_1)) \vee \cdots \vee (\beta h)(r_M(u_n)) \right) = 1_{\beta L}.$$

Putting $c = u_1 \vee \cdots \vee u_n$, we have that $c \in I$ and

$$r_L(\cos \alpha)^* \vee (\beta h)(r_M(c)) = 1_{\beta L}.$$

Therefore $r_L(\cos \alpha) \prec (\beta h)(r_M(c))$. On applying the join map $j_L: \beta L \to L$, we obtain

$$\cos \alpha = j_L(r_L(\cos \alpha)) \prec (j_L \circ (\beta h))(r_L(h(c))) = (h \circ j_M)(r_M(c)) = h(\bigvee r_M(c)) = h(c).$$

Pick $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}M$ with $\cos \gamma = c$. Then we have

$$\cos \alpha \prec h(\cos \gamma) = \cos((\mathcal{R}h)(\gamma)),$$

which implies α is a multiple of $(\mathcal{R}h)(\gamma)$. But now $\gamma \in O^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta M}(I)}$ because $\operatorname{coz} \gamma \in I$; so $(\mathcal{R}h)(\gamma) \in (\mathcal{R}h)[\mathbf{O}^{K}]$, which then implies $\alpha \in \langle (\mathcal{R}h)[\mathbf{O}^{K}] \rangle$. Therefore $O^{(\beta f)_{-1}[K]} \subseteq \langle (\mathcal{R}f^{*})[\mathbf{O}^{K}] \rangle$, hence we have equality by part (a).

(c) We use the result in (a). Since $(\beta f) \circ r_L = r_M \circ f$, and since $f[f_{-1}[B]] \subseteq B$, for any sublocale B of M, we have

$$(\beta f)[r_L[f_{-1}[B]]] = r_M[f[f_{-1}[B]]] \subseteq r_M[B],$$

which implies $r_L[f_{-1}[B]] \subseteq (\beta f)_{-1}[r_M[B]]$, and hence $\mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)_{-1}[r_M[B]]} \subseteq \mathbf{O}^{r_L[f_{-1}[B]]}$. By (a), we therefore have

$$(\mathcal{R}f^*)[\boldsymbol{O}_B] = (\mathcal{R}f^*)[\boldsymbol{O}^{r_M[B]}] \subseteq \boldsymbol{O}^{(\beta f)_{-1}[r_M[B]]} \subseteq \boldsymbol{O}^{r_L[f_{-1}[B]]} = \boldsymbol{O}_{f_{-1}[B]},$$

from which the result follows.

Part (b) of this theorem says the containment in part (a) is always an equality when restricted to closed sublocales of βM . One may thus wonder if the containment in part (c) is always an equality when restricted to closed sublocales of M. We shall see that it is not. In fact, when M satisfies a certain property (we shall introduce it shortly) strictly weaker than normality, we shall characterise the localic maps $f: L \to M$ for which the containment in part (c) is an equality on closed sublocales of M.

As in [20], we say a frame M is *coz-interpolative* in case for any $c \in \text{Coz } M$ and any $m \in M$, the relation $c \prec m$ implies $c \prec m$. Every normal frame is coz-interpolative, but the frame of open subsets of the space described in [24, Problem 6Q] is non-normal and coz-interpolative, as observed in [20].

In the proof of the next theorem we shall use the following result which appears as [12, Lemma 4.2]. We restate it using terminology introduced above.

Lemma 3.3.2. A frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$ is a K-homomorphism iff for every $y \in L$ and $a \in M$, $y \prec h(a)$ implies $y \leq h(s)$ for some $s \prec a$ in M.

Observe that the requirement that $y \leq h(s)$ in this characterization can be replaced with $y \prec h(s)$ because if $y \prec h(a)$, we can interpolate to obtain $z \in L$ such that $y \prec z \prec h(a)$, and then apply the lemma to the relation $z \prec h(a)$.

Theorem 3.3.3. If $f: L \to M$ is a localic map with M coz-interpolative, then $\langle (\mathcal{R}f^*)[\mathcal{O}_B] \rangle = \mathcal{O}_{f_{-1}[B]}$ for every closed sublocale B of M iff f is a K-map.

Proof. (\Rightarrow): Suppose that $\langle (\mathcal{R}f^*)[\mathcal{O}_B] \rangle = \mathcal{O}_{f_{-1}[B]}$ for every closed sublocale of B of M. We use Lemma 3.3.2 to prove that f^* is an K-homomorphism. Write h for f^* , and consider any $a \in M$ and $y \in L$ such that $y \prec h(a)$. The hypothesis says $\mathcal{O}_{f_{-1}[\mathfrak{c}_M(a)]} = \langle (\mathcal{R}h)[\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_M(a)}] \rangle$; that is, $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_L(h(a))} = \langle (\mathcal{R}h)[\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_M(a)}] \rangle$. Pick $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$ such that $y \prec c \prec h(a)$, and then choose $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$ with $\operatorname{coz} \gamma = c$. Then $\gamma \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_L(h(a))}$, and so there exist functions $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ in $\mathcal{R}M$ and functions $\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_n$ in $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_M(a)}$ such that

$$\gamma = \alpha_1 \cdot (\mathcal{R}h)(\delta_1) + \dots + \alpha_n \cdot (\mathcal{R}h)(\delta_n).$$

Applying the cozero map $\operatorname{coz}: \mathcal{R}L \to L$ to this yields

$$c = \operatorname{coz} \gamma \leq \operatorname{coz}((\mathcal{R}h)(\delta_1)) \lor \cdots \lor \operatorname{coz}((\mathcal{R}h)(\delta_n))$$
$$= h(\operatorname{coz}(\delta_1)) \lor \cdots \lor h(\operatorname{coz}(\delta_n)).$$

Since each $\delta_i \in O_{\mathfrak{c}_M(a)}$, we have $\operatorname{coz}(\delta_i) \prec a$, and hence $\operatorname{coz}(\delta_i) \prec a$ because M is cozinterpolative. So, putting $d = \operatorname{coz}(\delta_1) \lor \cdots \lor \operatorname{coz}(\delta_n)$, we have that $d \prec a$ and $y \leq h(d)$. By Lemma 3.3.2, this proves that h is an N-homomorphism, and hence f is an N-map.

(\Leftarrow): Suppose that f is an N-map, and let B be a closed sublocale of M. As before, we write h in place of f^* . We know from Theorem 3.3.1(c) that $\langle (\mathcal{R}h)[\mathcal{O}_B] \rangle \subseteq \mathcal{O}_{f_{-1}[B]}$. To prove the reverse inclusion, pick $a \in M$ such that $B = \mathfrak{c}_M(a)$, and let $\alpha \in \mathcal{O}_{f_{-1}[B]} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_L(h(a))}$. Then $\operatorname{coz} \alpha \prec h(a)$, and hence $\operatorname{coz} \alpha \prec h(a)$ because M is coz-interpolative. Since h is an N-homomorphism, we can find $d \in \operatorname{Coz} M$ such that $d \prec a$ and $\operatorname{coz} \alpha \prec h(d)$. Take $\delta \in \mathcal{R}M$ with $\operatorname{coz} \delta = d$. Now, $\operatorname{coz} \alpha \prec h(d)$ implies $\operatorname{coz} \alpha \prec \operatorname{coz}((\mathcal{R}h)(\delta))$, and so, by [14, Lemma 4.4], α is a multiple of $(\mathcal{R}h)(\delta)$. Since $\operatorname{coz} \delta \prec a$, we have that $\delta \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{c}_M(a)}$, and hence

$$(\mathcal{R}h)(\delta) \in (\mathcal{R}h)[\mathcal{O}_B] \subseteq \langle (\mathcal{R}h)[\mathcal{O}_B] \rangle,$$

which then implies $\alpha \in \langle (\mathcal{R}h)[\mathcal{O}_B] \rangle$. Therefore $\mathcal{O}_{f_{-1}[B]} \subseteq \langle (\mathcal{R}h)[\mathcal{O}_B] \rangle$, and equality follows. \Box

Regarding the M-ideals in this context of pushing forward, the types of calculations that we have seen a number of times now yield the following.

Proposition 3.3.4. Let $f: L \to M$ be a localic map. Then:

- (a) $\langle (\mathcal{R}f^*)[\mathbf{M}_A] \rangle \subseteq \mathbf{M}_{f_{-1}[A]}$ for every sublocale A of M.
- (b) $\langle (\mathcal{R}f^*)[\mathbf{M}^T] \rangle \subseteq \mathbf{M}^{(\beta f)_{-1}[T]}$ for every sublocale T of βM iff f is a WN-map.

3.4 What happens in C(X)?

All the results in Sections 3.2 and 3.3 hold for C(X), mutatis mutandis. We shall not state all of them. Instead, we shall set up the tools for proving them and, as an illustration of how to use the tools, prove just one deduced from each section.

In Chapter 2 we showed how to relate the O- and M-ideals of C(X) to those of $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$. That will be used in Chapter 4. For recurrent purposes it is convenient to relate the two types of ideals using the machinery developed in Diagram (3.1.3) in Section 3.1.

Using the notation of that diagram, we have that since $\delta_X \colon \Omega(\beta X) \to \beta(\Omega(X))$ is a frame isomorphism, it is also a localic isomorphism. The proofs of the next lemma and the two corollaries following it are immediate from what we proved in Chapter 2 and the fact we have just mentioned about δ_X .

Lemma 3.4.1. For any $p \in \beta X$, $\varphi_X[\mathbf{M}^p] = \mathbf{M}^{\{\delta_X(\tilde{p}),1\}}$.

Corollary 3.4.2. For any $p \in \beta X$, $\varphi_X[\boldsymbol{O}^p] = \boldsymbol{O}^{\{\delta_X(\tilde{p}),1\}}$.

Corollary 3.4.3. For any $A \subseteq \beta X$, $\varphi_X[M^A] = M^{\delta_X[\tilde{A}]}$ and $\varphi_X[O^A] = O^{\delta_X[\tilde{A}]}$.

The following lemma will be needed below. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a continuous map and $A \subseteq X$. As can be deduced from [35, Proposition VI.1.3.1],

$$\operatorname{Pt}(\widetilde{A}) = \{ \widetilde{x} \mid x \in A \} \quad \text{hence} \quad \operatorname{Pt}\left(\widetilde{f[A]} \right) = \{ \widetilde{f(x)} \mid x \in A \}.$$

As observed in [35, II.2.4], if $f: X \to Y$ is a continuous map, then $(\Omega(f))_*(\tilde{x}) = \widetilde{f(x)}$ for every $x \in X$.

Lemma 3.4.4. If $f: X \to Y$ is a continuous function and $A \subseteq X$, then $\widetilde{f[A]} = (\Omega(f))_*[\tilde{A}]$.

Proof. Since both f[A] and $(\Omega(f))_*[\tilde{A}]$ are spatial sublocales of $\Omega(Y)$, to show that they coincide we need only show that they contain exactly the same points. But this is easy to deduce from the little discussion immediately preceding the statement of the lemma.

Here is one more tool that we shall use. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a continuous map. Since $\Omega(f) = f^{-1}$ and since $(g \circ k)^{-1} = k^{-1} \circ g^{-1}$ for any two composable functions, the square



commutes in the category of rings, so that

$$\varphi_X \circ C(f) = \mathcal{R}(\Omega(f)) \circ \varphi_Y$$
 and hence $C(f)^{-1} \circ \varphi_X^{-1} = \varphi_Y^{-1} \circ (\mathcal{R}(\Omega(f)))^{-1}$

Since φ_X is an isomorphism, we therefore have

$$C(f)^{-1} = \varphi_Y^{-1} \circ \mathcal{R}(\Omega(f))^{-1} \circ \varphi_X.$$
(3.4.1)

Now here are the C(X) versions of Theorem 3.2.1(b) and Theorem 3.2.2(a).

Corollary 3.4.5. If $f: X \to Y$ is a continuous function, then:

- (a) $C(f)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{M}^A] \subseteq \boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)[A]}$ for every $A \subseteq \beta X$.
- (b) $\boldsymbol{O}^{(\beta f)[A]} \subseteq C(f)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{O}^A]$ for every $A \subseteq \beta X$.

Proof. (a) Consider the frame homomorphism $\Omega(f): \Omega(Y) \to \Omega(X)$ and the sublocale $\delta_X[\widetilde{A}]$ of $\beta(\Omega(X))$. Since $\beta(\Omega(f)) \circ \delta_Y = \delta_X \circ \Omega(\beta f)$ from Diagram (3.1.3), we have $(\beta(\Omega(f)))_* \circ \delta_X = \delta_Y \circ (\Omega(\beta f))_*$, upon taking right adjoints and recalling that δ_X and δ_Y are isomorphisms. Consequently, in light of Lemma 3.4.4,

$$\beta(\Omega(f))_*[\delta_X[\tilde{A}]] = \delta_Y[\Omega(\beta f)_*[\tilde{A}]] = \delta_Y\left[\widetilde{\beta f[A]}\right].$$

We know from Theorem 3.2.1(b) that $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(f))^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^{\delta_X[\tilde{A}]}] \subseteq \mathbf{M}^{(\beta(\Omega(f)))_*[\delta_X[\tilde{A}]]}$. So, computing $C(f)^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^A]$ via the equality in (3.4.2), we obtain

$$C(f)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{M}^{A}] = \varphi_{Y}^{-1} \left[\mathcal{R}(\Omega(f))^{-1} \left[\varphi_{X} \left[\boldsymbol{M}^{A} \right] \right] \right]$$

$$= \varphi_{Y}^{-1} \left[\mathcal{R}(\Omega(f))^{-1} \left[\boldsymbol{M}^{\delta_{X}[\tilde{A}]} \right] \right]$$
 by Corollary 3.4.3
$$\subseteq \varphi_{Y}^{-1} \left[\boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta(\Omega(f)))_{*} \left[\delta_{X}[\tilde{A}] \right]} \right]$$

$$= \varphi_{Y}^{-1} \left[\boldsymbol{M}^{\delta_{Y} \left[\widetilde{\beta f[A]} \right]} \right]$$

$$= \varphi_{Y}^{-1} \left[\varphi_{Y} \left[\boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)[A]} \right] \right]$$
 by Corollary 3.4.3
$$= \boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)[A]},$$

which proves the result.

(b) Similar to that of part (a), except that we must invoke Theorem 3.2.2(a) in this case. \Box

Next, we prove the C(X) version of Theorem 3.3.1. It is not hard to show that if K is a closed subspace of X, then \widetilde{K} is a closed sublocale of $\Omega(X)$, and, in fact, $\widetilde{K} = \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)}(X \setminus K)$. In consequence,

the closed sublocales of $\Omega(X)$ are precisely the sublocales \widetilde{K} , for K a closed subspace of X.

We shall need the following lemma. Since $f_{-1}[\mathfrak{c}_M(m)] = f^{-1}[\mathfrak{c}_M(m)]$ for any localic map $f: L \to M$ and $m \in M$, we shall write the localic inverse image of closed sublocales as in the latter case. This is to avoid $((\Omega(f))_*)_{-1}[-]$ in favour of $(\Omega(f))_*^{-1}[-]$.

Lemma 3.4.6. If $f: X \to Y$ is a continuous map, then $(\Omega(f))^{-1}_*[\widetilde{K}] = \widetilde{f^{-1}[K]}$ for every closed subset K of Y.

Proof. As in the case of images, it suffices to show that these two sublocales have the same points. Observe that

$$(\Omega(f))^{-1}_*[\widetilde{K}] = (\Omega(f))^{-1}_* \big[\mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(Y)}(Y \smallsetminus K) \big] = \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)} \big(f^{-1}[Y \smallsetminus K] \big) = \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)} \big(X \smallsetminus f^{-1}[K] \big).$$

Now, for any $x \in X$,

$$\begin{split} \tilde{x} \in \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)} \big(X \smallsetminus f^{-1}[K] \big) & \text{iff} \quad X \smallsetminus \{x\} \in \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)} \big(X \smallsetminus f^{-1}[K] \big) \\ & \text{iff} \quad X \smallsetminus f^{-1}[K] \subseteq X \smallsetminus \{x\} \\ & \text{iff} \quad x \in f^{-1}[K] \\ & \text{iff} \quad \tilde{x} \in \widetilde{f^{-1}[K]}, \end{split}$$

which proves that $\operatorname{Pt}\left((\Omega(f))^{-1}_*[\widetilde{K}]\right) = \operatorname{Pt}\left(\widetilde{f^{-1}[K]}\right)$, whence the result follows by spatiality. \Box

Note that if $f: L \to M$ is a localic isomorphism, then $f_{-1}[-]$ is exactly the set-theoretic $f^{-1}[-]$.

Corollary 3.4.7. If $f: X \to Y$ is a continuous map and K is a closed subset of βY , then $\langle C(f)[\mathbf{O}^K] \rangle = \mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)^{-1}[K]}.$

Proof. Consider the frame homomorphism $\Omega(f): \Omega(Y) \to \Omega(X)$ and the closed sublocale $\delta_Y[\tilde{K}]$ of $\beta(\Omega(Y))$, and apply Theorem 3.3.1(b) to this data to obtain the equality

$$\left\langle \mathcal{R}(\Omega(f))\left[\boldsymbol{O}^{\delta_{Y}[\widetilde{K}]}\right] \right\rangle = \boldsymbol{O}^{\left(\beta\left(\Omega(f)\right)\right)^{-1}_{*}\left[\delta_{Y}[\widetilde{K}]\right]}.$$

The commutativity of the diagram above that led to equation (3.4.2) gives the equality $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(f)) = \varphi_X \circ C(f) \circ \varphi_Y^{-1}$, and so, taking into account the fact that $\varphi_Y^{-1} \left[\boldsymbol{O}^{\delta_Y[\widetilde{K}]} \right] = \boldsymbol{O}^K$, by Corollary 3.4.3,

$$\left\langle \mathcal{R}(\Omega(f))\left[\boldsymbol{O}^{\delta_{Y}[\tilde{K}]}\right] \right\rangle = \left\langle \varphi_{X}\left[C(f)\left[\boldsymbol{O}^{K}\right]\right] \right\rangle = \varphi_{X}\left[\left\langle C(f)\left[\boldsymbol{O}^{K}\right] \right\rangle\right];$$

the latter because φ_X is an isomorphism (actually, being onto suffices). On the other hand, from Diagram (3.1.3) we have $\beta(\Omega(f)) = \delta_X \circ \Omega(\beta f) \circ \delta_Y^{-1}$, so that, upon taking right adjoints and then localic inverse images (each of which reverses the order of composition), we have

$$(\beta(\Omega(f)))_*^{-1}\left[\delta_Y[\widetilde{K}]\right] = \delta_X\left[(\Omega(\beta f))_*^{-1}\left[\delta_Y^{-1}\left[\delta_Y[\widetilde{K}]\right]\right]\right] = \delta_X\left[(\Omega(\beta f))_*^{-1}[\widetilde{K}]\right] = \delta_X\left[(\widetilde{\beta f})^{-1}[K]\right];$$

the last equality emanating from Lemma 3.4.6. Therefore, in light of Corollary 3.4.3,

$$\boldsymbol{O}^{(\beta(\Omega(f)))_*^{-1}[\delta_Y[\widetilde{K}]]} = \boldsymbol{O}^{\delta_X\left[(\beta \widetilde{f})^{-1}[K]\right]} = \varphi_X\left[\boldsymbol{O}^{(\beta f)^{-1}[K]}\right]$$

Since φ_X is an isomorphism, it therefore follows that $\langle C(f)[\mathbf{O}^K]\rangle = \mathbf{O}^{(\beta f)^{-1}[K]}$.

Theorem 3.4.8. If $f: X \to Y$ is a continuous function, then:

- (a) $C(f)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{M}^S] \subseteq \boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)[S]}$ for every $S \subseteq \beta X$.
- (b) $\boldsymbol{O}^{(\beta f)[S]} \subseteq C(f)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{O}^S \text{ for every } S \subseteq \beta X.$

Proof. (a) Since $f^*(U) = f^{-1}[V]$ for every $V \in \Omega(Y)$, and since $(g \circ k)^{-1} = k^{-1} \circ g^{-1}$ for any two composable functions, the square



commutes in the category of rings, so that

$$\varphi_X \circ C(f) = \mathcal{R}f^* \circ \varphi_Y$$
 and hence $C(f)^{-1} \circ \varphi_X^{-1} = \varphi_Y^{-1} \circ (\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}$

Since φ_X is an isomorphism, we therefore have

$$C(f)^{-1} = \varphi_Y^{-1} \circ (\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1} \circ \varphi_X.$$
(3.4.2)

Now consider the localic map $f_*: \Omega(X) \to \Omega(Y)$ and the sublocale \widetilde{S} of $\Omega(\beta X)$. We know from Theorem 3.2.1(b) that $(\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\mathcal{M}^{\widetilde{S}}] \subseteq \mathcal{M}^{(\beta f_*)[\widetilde{S}]}$. So, computing $C(f)^{-1}[\mathcal{M}^S]$ via the equality in (3.4.2), we obtain

$$C(f)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{M}^{S}] = \varphi_{Y}^{-1}[(\mathcal{R}f^{*})^{-1}[\varphi_{M}[\boldsymbol{M}^{S}]]$$

$$= \varphi_{Y}^{-1}[(\mathcal{R}f^{*})^{-1}[\boldsymbol{M}^{\widetilde{S}}]] \quad \text{in light of Corollary 3.4.3}$$

$$\subseteq \varphi_{Y}^{-1}[\boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f_{*})[\widetilde{S}]}]$$

$$= \varphi_{Y}^{-1}[\boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)_{*}[\widetilde{S}]}] \quad \text{by Lemma 3.4.4}$$

$$= \varphi_{Y}^{-1}[\varphi_{Y}[\boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)[S]}]] \quad \text{by Corollary 3.4.3}$$

$$= \boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)[S]},$$

which proves the result.

(b) The proof of this part is similar, except that we must invoke Theorem 3.2.2(a) in this case.

We now want to obtain some C(X)-analogues of the other results from the previous sections. For that we need to know how closed sublocales transfer from spaces to induced locales.

Lemma 3.4.9. Let K be a closed subspace of X. Then \widetilde{K} is a closed sublocale of $\Omega(X)$. In fact, $\widetilde{K} = \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)}(X \smallsetminus K)$.

Proof. Denote by $h: \Omega(X) \to \Omega(K)$ the induced frame homomorphism $U \mapsto U \cap K$. If $U \in \Omega(X)$, let U^{\ltimes} denote the largest open set in X with $U^{\ltimes} \cap K = U \cap K$. With this notation,

$$\widetilde{K} = \{ U^{\ltimes} \mid U \in \Omega(X) \}.$$

The bottom element of \widetilde{K} is $h_*(0_{\Omega(K)}) = \emptyset^{\ltimes}$. Since K is closed, $X \smallsetminus K$ is open, and is the largest open subset of X disjoint from K. Therefore $0_{\widetilde{K}} = X \smallsetminus U$. Consequently, $\widetilde{K} \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)}(X \smallsetminus K)$. For the reverse inclusion, let $U \in \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)}(X \smallsetminus K)$. We argue that $U = U^{\ltimes}$. Since $U \subseteq U^{\ltimes}$, we show that $U^{\ltimes} \subseteq U$. Let $x \in U^{\ltimes}$. If $x \in X \smallsetminus K$, then $x \in U$. If $x \in K$, then $x \in U^{\ltimes} \cap K = U \cap K$; so $x \in U$. Thus, in either of the two exhaustive possibilities, we have $x \in U$. Therefore $U = U^{\ltimes}$, showing that $\mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)}(X \smallsetminus K) \subseteq \widetilde{K}$, and hence $\widetilde{K} = \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)}(X \smallsetminus K)$.

We deduce immediately from this lemma that

the closed sublocales of $\Omega(X)$ are precisely the sublocales \widetilde{K} , for K a closed subspace of X.

We can now apply this to obtain the C(X)-version of Theorem 3.2.1(c). First though, given a continuous function $f: X \to Y$, let us express $(\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}$ as a suitable composite as we did $C(f)^{-1}$ in equation (3.4.2) in the proof of Theorem 3.4.8. From the equality $C(f)^{-1} \circ \varphi_X^{-1} = \varphi_Y^{-1} \circ (\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}$ we get

$$(\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1} = \varphi_Y \circ C(f)^{-1} \circ \varphi_X^{-1}.$$

Theorem 3.4.10. The following are equivalent for a continuous function $f: X \to Y$.

- (1) $C(f)^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^S] = \mathbf{M}^{(\beta f)[S]}$, for every subset S of βX .
- (2) f is a WN-map.

Proof. We show first that $C(f)^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^K] = \mathbf{M}^{(\beta f)[K]}$ for every closed subset K of βX if and only if $(\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^F] = \mathbf{M}^{(\beta f_*)[F]}$ for every closed sublocale F of $\Omega(\beta X)$.

Suppose, first, that $(\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^F] = \mathbf{M}^{(\beta f_*)[F]}$ for every closed sublocale F of $\Omega(\beta X)$. Let K be a closed subset of βX . Then, by Lemma 3.4.9, \widetilde{K} is a closed sublocale of $\Omega(\beta X)$. So, by hypothesis, and applying Corollary 3.4.3 and Lemma 3.4.4, we get

$$(\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\varphi_X[\boldsymbol{M}^K]] = (\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\boldsymbol{M}^{\widetilde{K}}] = \boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f_*)[\widetilde{K}]} = \boldsymbol{M}^{(\widetilde{\beta f})[K]} = \varphi_Y[\boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)[K]}],$$

which implies

$$\varphi_Y^{-1}[(\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\varphi_X[\boldsymbol{M}^K]]] = \boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)[K]},$$

and hence $C(f)^{-1}[M^{K}] = M^{(\beta f)[K]}$, in light of (3.4.2).

For the other way round, suppose that $C(f)^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^K] = \mathbf{M}^{(\beta f)[K]}$, for every closed subset K of βX . Let S be a closed sublocale of $\Omega(\beta X)$. Then, as observed above, $S = \widetilde{K}$, for some closed subset K of βX . Then, by hypothesis and the equality in (3.4.2),

$$\varphi_Y^{-1}[(\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\varphi_X[\boldsymbol{M}^K]]] = \boldsymbol{M}^{(\beta f)[K]}.$$

Since $\varphi_X[\mathbf{M}^K] = \mathbf{M}^{\widetilde{K}} = \mathbf{M}^S$, the foregoing equality implies

$$(\mathcal{R}f^*)^{-1}[\mathbf{M}^S] = \varphi_Y[\mathbf{M}^{(\beta f)[K]}] = \mathbf{M}^{(\widetilde{\beta f})[K]} = \mathbf{M}^{(\beta f_*)[\widetilde{K}]} = \mathbf{M}^{(\beta f_*)[S]},$$

which establishes the claim.

Chapter 4

Annihilator ideals and the socle of $\mathcal{R}L$

In [15], the author characterizes the socle (we will recall the definition shortly) of the ring $\mathcal{R}L$ in terms of atoms of the frame L. In this chapter we propose to show that it is an O-ideal associated with some rather special sublocale of βL . We will then characterize (again in terms of sublocales) when it has certain algebraic properties. Towards that end, and also for other purposes, we shall need to express annihilator ideals also as O-ideals. We shall then see that for certain sublocales, the annihilator of an O-ideal associated with a sublocale is the O-ideal associated with the supplement of that sublocale. A similar phenomenon occurs (and even more frequently) for the M-ideals.

4.1 Annihilator ideals

Recall that the annihilator of a subset S of a ring A, denoted Ann(S), is the ideal

$$\operatorname{Ann}(S) = \{ a \in A \mid as = 0 \text{ for every } s \in S \}.$$

In [15, Lemma 3.1], it is shown that for any set $S \subseteq \mathcal{R}L$, the annihilator of S is, in our present notation,

$$\operatorname{Ann}(S) = \boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a^*))},$$

where $a = \bigvee \{ \cos \alpha \mid \alpha \in S \}$. In the same lemma it is shown that, in fact, the set of annihilator ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ is the collection

$$\{\boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(b^*))} \mid b \in L\}.$$

We demonstrate that these ideals are precisely the ideals $O^{\circ_{\beta L}(r_L(b))}$, for $b \in L$. Indeed, since $O^U = M^U$ for any open sublocale U of βL , and since $M^A = M^{\bar{A}}$ for any sublocale A of βL , we have

$$\boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(b^*))} = \boldsymbol{M}^{\overline{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(b))}} = \boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(b))} = \boldsymbol{O}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(b))}$$

Remark 4.1.1. In [32], the authors study rings (which they call AIP-*rings*) in which every annihilator ideal is pure. Based on Theorem 2.4.1 and the foregoing discussion in this section, we have that $\mathcal{R}L$ is an AIP-ring if and only if L is basically disconnected. Hence, also, C(X) is an AIP-ring if and only if X is basically disconnected.

Now, for any sublocale A of βL , $A \vee A^{\#} = \beta L$. This implies $\mathbf{O}^A \cap \mathbf{O}^{A^{\#}} = \mathbf{O}^{\beta L} = \{\mathbf{0}\}$, and similarly for \mathbf{M}^A . In consequence, we have that for any sublocale A of βL ,

$$\boldsymbol{O}^{A^{\#}} \subseteq \operatorname{Ann}(\boldsymbol{O}^{A})$$
 and $\boldsymbol{M}^{A^{\#}} \subseteq \operatorname{Ann}(\boldsymbol{M}^{A}).$

Naturally, one wonders if these containments are actually not equalities. We will show that for closed sublocales they are, but for open sublocales they generally are not. A sublocale is *regular-open* if it equals the interior of its closure. Regular-open sublocales of L are exactly the sublocales $\mathfrak{o}_L(a)$, for $a \in \mathfrak{B}L$.

Theorem 4.1.2. Let L be a completely regular frame.

- (a) For any closed sublocale A of βL , $\operatorname{Ann}(\boldsymbol{M}^{A}) = \boldsymbol{M}^{A^{\#}}$ and $\operatorname{Ann}(\boldsymbol{O}^{A}) = \boldsymbol{O}^{A^{\#}}$.
- (b) If U is an open sublocale of βL , then $\operatorname{Ann}(\mathbf{M}^U) = \mathbf{M}^{U^{\#}}$ iff U is regular-open.
- (c) If U is an open sublocale of βL , then $\operatorname{Ann}(\mathbf{O}^U) = \mathbf{O}^{U^{\#}}$ only if U is regular-open.

Proof. (a) Let $A = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)$, for some $I \in \beta L$. As shown in [13, Lemma 4.4],

$$\bigvee \Big\{ \cos \alpha \mid \alpha \in \boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)} \Big\} = \bigvee \Big\{ \cos \alpha \mid \alpha \in \boldsymbol{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)} \Big\} = \bigvee I;$$

and so

Ann
$$(\boldsymbol{M}^{A})$$
 = Ann (\boldsymbol{O}^{A}) = $\boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_{L}(\vee I)^{*})}$ = $\boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I^{*})}$.

On the other hand,

$$\boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I)} = \boldsymbol{M}^{\overline{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I)}} = \boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I^*)},$$

which then proves that $\operatorname{Ann}(\boldsymbol{M}^A) = \boldsymbol{M}^{A^{\#}}$ because $A^{\#} = \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I)$.

For the other equality, since $O^{A^{\#}} \subseteq \operatorname{Ann}(O^{A})$, we need only show the reverse containment. So let $\alpha \in \operatorname{Ann}(O^{A}) = M^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I^{*})}$. Then $\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I^{*}) \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha))$, which, on taking interiors, yields

$$\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I^{**}) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^*),$$

thus showing that $\alpha \in O^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I)}$, that is, $\alpha \in O^{A^{\#}}$. Therefore $\operatorname{Ann}(O^{A}) \subseteq O^{A^{\#}}$, and we have the desired equality.

(b) Pick $I \in \beta L$ such that $U = \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I)$. Then, using the result in part (a) and the fact that $M^S = M^{\overline{S}}$ for each sublocale S of βL , we obtain

$$\operatorname{Ann}(\boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I)}) = \operatorname{Ann}(\boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I^*)}) = \boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I^*)} = \boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I^{**})}.$$

Consequently, $\operatorname{Ann}(\boldsymbol{M}^U) = \boldsymbol{M}^{U^{\#}}$ if and only if $\boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I^{**})} = \boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)}$, which holds if and only if $\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I^{**}) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)$, which, in turn, holds if and only if $I = I^{**}$. This is so if and only if U is regular-open.

(c) Choose $I \in \beta L$ such that $U = \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Ann}(\boldsymbol{O}^U) = \operatorname{Ann}(\boldsymbol{M}^U) = \operatorname{Ann}(\boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I)}) = \boldsymbol{M}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I^*)} = \boldsymbol{O}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I^*)}.$$

Now, if U is not regular open, then $I < I^{**}$ as elements of βL . So there is an $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L$ such that $\cos \alpha \in I^{**}$ and $\cos \alpha \notin I$. The latter implies $\alpha \notin \mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)}$, that is, $\alpha \notin \mathbf{O}^{U^{\#}}$. On the other hand though, $\cos \alpha \in I^{**}$ implies that $r_L(\cos \alpha) \leq I^{**}$, so that $I^* \leq r_L(\cos \alpha)^*$, and consequently $\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I^*) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\cos \alpha)^*)$, whence $\alpha \in \mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(I^*)} = \operatorname{Ann}(\mathbf{O}^U)$. This proves that if $\operatorname{Ann}(\mathbf{O}^U) = \mathbf{O}^{U^{\#}}$, then U is regular-open.

The condition that U be regular-open is not sufficient for the annihilator of O^U to coincide with $O^{U^{\#}}$. Here is an example showing this.

Example 4.1.3. Let $L = \Omega(\mathbb{R})$, and put a = (0, 1). Then $a = a^{**}$, and so the open sublocale $U = \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))$ of βL is regular-open. Since every element of L is a cozero element, there exists some $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L$ such that $a = \cos \alpha$. Now, as shown in the course of the proof of item (c) in the theorem above, $\operatorname{Ann}(\mathbf{O}^U) = \mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(a)^*)}$, which then shows that $\alpha \in \operatorname{Ann}(\mathbf{O}^U)$. On the other hand though, $\alpha \notin \mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))}$, otherwise we would have $\cos \alpha \in r_L(a)$, which would imply $a \prec a$, which is false. This shows that $\operatorname{Ann}(\mathbf{O}^U) \neq \mathbf{O}^{U^{\#}}$.

4.2 The socle

Recall that the *socle* of a ring A, denoted Soc(A), is the ideal of A generated by its minimal ideals. If A has no minimal ideal, then Soc(A) is the zero ideal. The socle is also expressible as an intersection of certain types of ideals. Recall that an ideal of a ring A is *essential* if it has non-zero intersection with every non-zero ideal of A. If A has no non-zero nilpotent element (for instance, if $A = \mathcal{R}L$), then an ideal I of A is essential if and only if $Ann(I) = \{0\}$. It is well known that

 $Soc(A) = \bigcap \{ E \subseteq A \mid E \text{ is an essential ideal of } A \}.$

We mentioned at the beginning of the Chapter that one of our goals is to express the socle of $\mathcal{R}L$ as an O-ideal. In preparation thereof, let us recall that a sublocale of a frame is said to be *nowhere dense* [37] if it misses the smallest dense sublocale of the frame. Nowhere dense sublocales have nowhere dense closure [37]. Observe that if A is nowhere dense, then $A^{\#}$ is dense; and conversely if A is complemented. Thus, a closed sublocale is nowhere dense if and only if it is of the form $\mathfrak{c}(a)$ for some dense element a.

Let us now introduce a sublocale that will play a crucial role in describing the socle. For any frame M, denote by Nd(M) the sublocale

$$Nd(M) = \bigvee \{ S \in \mathcal{S}(M) \mid S \text{ is nowhere dense} \}.$$

Since a sublocale is nowhere dense precisely when it misses the smallest dense sublocale, and since the closure of a nowhere dense sublocale is nowhere dense, it is clear that

$$Nd(M) = M \smallsetminus \mathfrak{B}M = \bigvee {\mathfrak{c}_M(x) \mid x \text{ is a dense element of } M}.$$

Now, recalling how joins of sublocales are computed, and keeping in mind that an element above a dense one is dense, one checks quickly that, in terms of elements,

$$Nd(M) = \{a \in M \mid a \text{ is a meet of dense elements}\}.$$

We shall need the following notion which was introduced by Plewe [37]. A frame is *dense in itself* if each of its Boolean sublocales has a dense supplement. As Plewe observed, a sober space is dense in itself (in the usual topological sense of having no isolated point) precisely when the frame of its open subsets is dense in itself. For our purposes, we need some characterizations

that are established in [37]. We recite them in the upcoming proposition, and add new ones, including one in terms of elements.

Proposition 4.2.1. [Plewe's criteria] The following are equivalent for any frame M.

- (1) M is dense in itself.
- (2) M is covered by its nowhere dense sublocales. That is, Nd(M) = M.
- (3) There exists a family of nowhere dense sublocales whose join is a dense sublocale of M.
- (4) Every non-void open sublocale of M meets some nowhere dense sublocale of M.
- (5) There exists a family $\{a_i \mid i \in I\} \subseteq M$ consisting of dense elements such that $\bigwedge_i a_i = 0$.

Proof. The equivalence of the first three statements is part of [37, Proposition 5]. Statements (2) and (5) are equivalent because (i) nowhere dense sublocales have nowhere dense closures, (ii) a closed sublocale $\mathfrak{c}_M(a)$ is nowhere dense if and only if a is a dense element, and (iii) for any $\{a_i \mid i \in I\} \subseteq M, \bigvee_i \mathfrak{c}_M(a_i) = M$ if and only if $\bigwedge_i a_i = 0$.

(3) \Leftrightarrow (4): A sublocale of a frame is dense if and only if it meets every non-void open sublocale of the frame [21, Lemma 9.2]. Let $\{A_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ be the set of all nowhere dense sublocales of M. For any open sublocale U of M we have

$$U \cap \operatorname{Nd}(M) = U \cap \bigvee_{\lambda} A_{\lambda} = \bigvee_{\lambda} (U \cap A_{\lambda}),$$

since complemented sublocales are linear. The equivalence under consideration follows from this because Nd(M) is the join of all nowhere dense sublocales of M.

We shall be interested in characterizing when the socle of $\mathcal{R}L$ is the zero ideal, and when it is an essential ideal. Because the socle will turn out to be an O-ideal, we first present criteria, in terms of sublocales, for determining when an O-ideal is the zero ideal, and when it is an essential ideal. These will actually be needed even in describing the socle as an O-ideal.

Lemma 4.2.2. The following are equivalent for any sublocale A of βL .

(1) \mathbf{O}^A is the zero ideal.

- (2) A is dense in βL .
- (3) \mathbf{M}^A is the zero ideal.

Proof. (1) \Rightarrow (2): Assume that \mathbf{O}^{A} is the zero ideal. Then $\mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$ is the zero ideal, which implies $\operatorname{Ann}(\mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}) = \mathcal{R}L$. Since \bar{A} is a closed sublocale of βL , Theorem 4.1.2(a) tells us that $\mathbf{O}^{\beta L \setminus \bar{A}} = \mathcal{R}L$. Thus, $\mathbf{1} \in \mathbf{O}^{\beta L \setminus \bar{A}}$, which implies

$$\beta L \smallsetminus \overline{A} \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\operatorname{coz} \mathbf{1})^*) = \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(0_{\beta L}) = \mathbf{0}.$$

It follows from this that $\overline{A} = \beta L$, and so A is dense in βL .

(2) \Rightarrow (3): If A is dense in βL , then $M^A = M^{\bar{A}} = M^{\beta L}$, which is the zero ideal.

(3) \Rightarrow (1): This follows from the fact that $O^A \subseteq M^A$.

Before we move to the characterization of essential O-ideals, let us use this corollary to address a natural question regarding the containment $O^A \subseteq O^{A^{\#\#}}$, which always holds because $A^{\#\#} \subseteq A$. If A is complemented, then this containment is actually an equality because then $A = A^{\#\#}$. There are however instances when the containment is strict.

Example 4.2.3. Let X be any Tychonoff space which is dense in itself. Then βX is dense in itself. Put $L = \Omega(X)$. Since $\beta L \cong \Omega(\beta X)$, βL is dense in itself, and so $\mathfrak{B}(\beta L)^{\#} = \beta L$ by one of Plewe's criteria. Therefore $\mathfrak{B}(\beta L)^{\#\#} = \mathbf{O}$, and consequently $\mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{B}(\beta L)} = \{\mathbf{0}\}$ by Lemma 4.2.2. On the other hand though, $\mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{B}(\beta L)^{\#\#}} = \mathcal{R}L$.

Lemma 4.2.4. The following are equivalent for a sublocale A of βL .

- (1) \boldsymbol{O}^A is essential.
- (2) \boldsymbol{M}^A is essential.
- (3) A is nowhere dense.

Proof. (1) \Rightarrow (2): This is so because $O^A \subseteq M^A$.

(2) \Rightarrow (3): Assume that M^{A} is essential. Then $M^{\bar{A}}$ is essential (as the two ideals are equal). Since \bar{A} is a closed sublocale, Theorem 4.1.2(a) gives $\operatorname{Ann}(M^{\bar{A}}) = M^{\beta L \setminus \bar{A}}$. The essentiality of $M^{\bar{A}}$ then says $M^{\beta L \setminus \bar{A}}$ is the zero ideal, which, by Lemma 4.2.2, implies $\beta L \setminus \bar{A}$ is dense, whence \bar{A} is nowhere dense, and hence A is nowhere dense.

(3) \Rightarrow (1): Assume that A is nowhere dense. Then \bar{A} is nowhere dense, and so $\beta L \smallsetminus \bar{A}$ is dense. From Theorem 4.1.2(a), we have $\operatorname{Ann}(\mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}) = \mathbf{O}^{\beta L \smallsetminus \bar{A}}$. Since $\beta L \smallsetminus \bar{A}$ is dense, Lemma 4.2.2 tells us that $\mathbf{O}^{\beta L \smallsetminus \bar{A}}$ is the zero ideal, which then implies $\mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}}$ is essential. Therefore \mathbf{O}^{A} is essential because $\mathbf{O}^{\bar{A}} \subseteq \mathbf{O}^{A}$.

Remark 4.2.5. In [22], the authors prove for C(X) a result almost similar to Lemma 4.2.4, but restricted to *closed* subspaces of βX . Our result is thus certainly much sharper, even when restricted to C(X). Another comment is that their proof does not use annihilators, as ours does, but instead uses a result attributed to McKnight in [9].

Let us digress slightly to compare the two previous lemmas. For complemented sublocales, nowhere denseness is the antithesis of denseness, because the first concept says "interior is void", whilst the second says "closure is the whole thing". In rings, there is a notion which is the antithesis of essentiality of ideals. Namely, an ideal I of a ring A is said to be *small* if for any ideal J of A, the equality I + J = A implies J = A. Compare with essentiality which says the equality $I \cap J = \{0\}$ implies $J = \{0\}$.

Now the two previous lemmas say "nowhere denseness is to essentiality what denseness is to being zero". Considering what we have said in the preceding paragraph, perhaps one could have expected nowhere denseness to be to essentiality what denseness is to smallness. Actually that is exactly what we have because, as we show below, being zero in $\mathcal{R}L$ is precisely being small. Thus, the two lemmas harmonize with the antitheses mentioned above.

That the only small ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ is the zero ideal follows from the fact that in any ring an ideal is small if and only if it is contained in the Jacobson radical of the ring, and the Jacobson radical of $\mathcal{R}L$ is the zero ideal, as was shown by Ighedo in her PhD thesis [26, Remark 2.1.1]. Since her proof of this fact requires knowledge of maximal ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$, we proffer the following direct proof that "small \equiv zero" in $\mathcal{R}L$.

Proposition 4.2.6. The only small ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ is the zero ideal.

Proof. Let I be a small ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$. Let $\alpha \in I$, and consider any $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$ with $\cos \gamma \prec \cos \alpha$.
Find $\sigma \in \mathcal{R}L$ such that

$$\cos \gamma \wedge \cos \sigma = 0$$
 and $\cos \sigma \vee \cos \alpha = 1$.

Then, by the properties of the cozero map, $\gamma \sigma = \mathbf{0}$ and $\sigma^2 + \alpha^2$ is invertible. Therefore $I + \langle \sigma \rangle = \mathcal{R}L$. Since I is small, $\langle \sigma \rangle = \mathcal{R}L$, which implies $\cos \sigma = 1$, and hence $\gamma = \mathbf{0}$. Since $\cos \alpha = \bigvee \{\cos \tau \mid \cos \tau \prec \cos \gamma\}$, by complete regularity, it follows that $\cos \alpha = 0$, and hence $\alpha = \mathbf{0}$. Therefore I is the zero ideal.

This ends the digression, and we pick up the discussion on when the ideals associated with sublocales of L are the zero ideal or essential ideals.

In Lemma 4.2.2 we saw that each of the ideals O^A and M^A is the zero ideal if and only if A is a dense sublocale of βL . In Lemma 4.2.4 we saw that the ideals O^A and M^A are essential precisely when A is a nowhere dense sublocale of A. Since, for any sublocale S of L, $O_S = O^{r_L[S]}$ and $M_S = M^{r_L[S]}$, it follows that:

- each of the ideals O_S and M_S is the zero ideal if and only if $r_L[S]$ is a dense sublocale of βL ; and
- each of the ideals O_S and M_S is essential if and only if $r_L[S]$ is a nowhere dense sublocale of βL .

We wish express these characterizations within L without invoking βL . For that we need the following lemma, which we prove more generally than is needed for current purposes. Recall that if $h: M \to L$ is a dense onto frame homomorphism, then $h_*(b^*) = h_*(b)^*$ for every $b \in L$. In **Loc**, this says if $f: L \to M$ is a dense one-one localic map, then $f(a^*) = f(a)^*$ for every $a \in L$.

Lemma 4.2.7. For any dense one-one localic map $f: L \to M$, we have the following:

- (a) S is dense in L iff f[S] is dense in M.
- (b) S is nowhere dense in L iff f[S] is nowhere dense in βL .

Proof. (a) If S is dense in L, then $0_L \in S$, and so $f(0_L) \in f[S]$. But $f(0_L) = 0_M$ since f is dense, so f[S] is dense in M. Conversely, if f[S] is dense in M, then $f(0_L)$, which is the bottom

of f[S] since f is dense, belongs to f[S], so that $f(0_L) = f(s)$, for some $s \in S$. Since f is one-one, this implies $s = 0_L$, showing that S is dense in L.

(b) Suppose that S is nowhere dense in L. Consider any $m \in f[A] \cap \mathfrak{B}M$, so that m = f(a), for some $s \in S$, and $m = b^*$ for some $b \in M$. Thus $f(a) = b^*$, and hence (in light of f being injective and f^* commuting with pseudocomplementation),

$$s = f^*(f(a)) = f^*(b^*) = (f^*(b))^*$$

which implies $s \in S \cap \mathfrak{B}L$, hence s = 1 since S is nowhere dense in L. Therefore m = f(s) = 1, which proves that f[S] is nowhere dense in M.

Conversely, suppose f[A] is nowhere dense in M. Consider any $s \in S \cap \mathfrak{B}L$. Then $s = x^*$ for some $x \in L$, which implies $f(s) = f(x^*) = f(x)^*$. Thus, $f(s) \in f[S] \cap \mathfrak{B}M = \mathsf{O}$, which implies $f(s) = 1_M$, and therefore $s = 1_L$ because f is one-one and $f(1_L) = 1_M$. Therefore S is nowhere dense in L.

Corollary 4.2.8. For any sublocale S of L, we have the following,

- (a) O_S is the zero ideal iff M_S is the zero ideal iff S is dense in dense L.
- (b) O_S is essential iff M_S is essential iff S is nowhere dense in dense L.

We can now describe the socle of $\mathcal{R}L$ in the desired manner.

Theorem 4.2.9. $\operatorname{Soc}(\mathcal{R}L) = \boldsymbol{O}^{\operatorname{Nd}(\beta L)}$.

Proof. Let $\{A_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ be the set of all nowhere dense sublocales of βL , so that $Nd(\beta L) = \bigvee_{\lambda} A_{\lambda}$. Lemma 4.2.4 tells us that, for each λ , $O^{A_{\lambda}}$ is an essential ideal, and hence, in light of the socle being the intersection of all essential ideals,

$$\operatorname{Soc}(\mathcal{R}L) \subseteq \bigcap_{\lambda} O^{A_{\lambda}} = O^{\bigvee_{\lambda} A_{\lambda}} = O^{\operatorname{Nd}(\beta L)}.$$

Now consider any essential ideal of I of $\mathcal{R}L$, and denote by $\Delta(I)$ the closed sublocale of βL given by

$$\Delta(I) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \Big(\bigvee \{ r_L(\cos \alpha) \mid \alpha \in I \} \Big).$$

As shown in the proof of [14, Proposition 5.2], $O^{\Delta(I)} \subseteq I \subseteq M^{\Delta(I)}$. Therefore $M^{\Delta(I)}$ is an essential ideal, implying that $\operatorname{Ann}(M^{\Delta(I)})$ is the zero ideal, and hence $O^{\Delta(I)}$ is an essential

ideal because $\operatorname{Ann}(\mathbf{O}^{\Delta(I)}) = \operatorname{Ann}(\mathbf{M}^{\Delta(I)})$, as shown in the proof of Theorem 4.1.2. Thus, by Lemma 4.2.4, there is an index λ_0 such that $\mathbf{O}^{A_{\lambda_0}} \subseteq I$. Since the socle is the intersection of all essential ideals, it follows from this that $\bigcap_{\lambda} \mathbf{O}^{A_{\lambda}} \subseteq \operatorname{Soc}(\mathcal{R}L)$, and so we have the claimed equality. \Box

Since $Nd(\beta L)$ is a join of closed sublocales, each of which is nowhere dense, the following corollary follows from Theorem 2.4.1 and Lemmas 2.3.1 and 4.2.4.

Corollary 4.2.10. Soc($\mathcal{R}L$) is the intersection of all the pure essential ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$. If L is basically disconnected, then Soc($\mathcal{R}L$) is pure.

Let us now address the question of when the socle of $\mathcal{R}L$ is zero. Recall that one of Plewe's criteria says a frame M is dense in itself if and only if there is a family $\{A_i\}$ of nowhere dense sublocales of M such that $\bigvee_i A_i$ is a dense sublocale of M. The following result therefore follows from Lemma 4.2.2 and Theorem 4.2.9.

Corollary 4.2.11. Soc($\mathcal{R}L$) is zero iff βL is dense in itself.

Let us pause for a moment and interpret this result in C(X). This is with the view to showing some stark differences between the vanishing of the socle in classical function rings and its vanishing in pointfree function rings. Recall that $C(X) \cong \mathcal{R}(\Omega(X)), \beta(\Omega(X)) \cong \Omega(\beta X)$, and X is dense in itself if and only if βX is dense in itself. Since a sober space is dense in itself if and only if the frame of its open sets is dense in itself [37], it follows that

Soc(C(X)) is zero iff βX is dense in itself iff X is dense in itself.

Corollary 4.2.11 tells us that, in frames, we do have the localic version of the first of these equivalences. We shall see that one implication in the localic version of the other equivalence fails.

If L is a dense sublocale of M, then $\mathfrak{B}L = \mathfrak{B}M$. Therefore, if $A \subseteq L$ is a nowhere dense sublocale of L, then A is a nowhere dense sublocale of M. Consequently, if L is dense in itself, so that L is covered by its nowhere dense sublocales, then M has nowhere dense sublocales with dense join, and so, by one of Plewe's criteria, M is dense in itself. In particular,

if L is dense in itself, then βL is dense in itself,

and we can thus deduce from Corollary 4.2.11 the following result.

Corollary 4.2.12. If L is dense in itself, then $Soc(\mathcal{R}L)$ is zero. The converse fails.

Here is an example avouching that (unlike in classical function rings) if $Soc(\mathcal{R}L)$ is zero, it does not follow that L is dense in itself. Recall that an element p of a frame L is called *prime* if p < 1 and $x \land y \leq p$ implies $x \leq p$ or $y \leq p$. The set of prime elements of L is denoted Pt(L). In regular frames the primes are exactly the elements that are maximal strictly below the top.

Example 4.2.13. Let L be a Boolean frame with no primes (such as $\mathfrak{B}(\Omega(\mathbb{R}))$). Then of course L is not dense in itself. We claim that βL is dense in itself. If βL were not dense in itself, then (being spatial) we would have a Tychonoff space X with an isolated point such that $\beta L \cong \Omega(X)$. Then there would exist $p \in Pt(\beta L)$ with $p \lor p^* = 1$. We cannot have $j_L(p) = 1$, as that would imply $j_L(p^*) = 0$, whence we would have $p^* = 0$ as j_L is dense, leading to p = 1. Therefore $j_L(p) < 1$, and since primes in regular frames are precisely the maximal elements, a simple calculation would imply that $j_L(p) \in Pt(L)$, which is a contradiction as L has no primes. Thus, by Corollary 4.2.11, Soc($\mathcal{R}L$) is zero even though L is not dense in itself.

To close the discussion on the vanishing socle, let us briefly say a word on the discrepancy between the behavior of dense subspaces vis-à-vis that of dense sublocales with regard to inheritance of the dense-in-itself property. We have seen that a frame with a dense sublocale that is dense in itself is itself dense in itself; however, a dense sublocale of a dense in itself frame (even a spatial one, at that) is not necessarily dense in itself. We show that if we restrict to smooth sublocales then the dense ones among them inherit the property of being dense in oneself. We do not assume any separation axiom.

Proposition 4.2.14. A smooth dense sublocale of a dense-in-itself frame is dense in itself.

Proof. Let $L \subseteq M$ be a smooth dense sublocale of a dense-in-itself frame M. Let $(C_i \mid i \in I)$ be a collection of complemented sublocales of M with $L = \bigvee_{i \in I} C_i$, and let $(N_j \mid j \in J)$ be the collection of all nowhere dense sublocales of M. Then $M = \bigvee_{j \in J} N_j$ since M is dense in itself. Since L is dense in M, $\mathfrak{B}L = \mathfrak{B}M$, and so for any nowhere dense sublocale N of M, $L \cap N$ is a nowhere dense sublocale of L. For each $i \in I$, $C_i \subseteq \bigvee_{j \in J} N_j$, and so, by linearity of complemented sublocales,

$$C_i = C_i \cap \bigvee_{j \in J} N_j = \bigvee_{j \in J} (C_i \cap N_j).$$

Since each C_i is contained in L, the collection $\{C_i \cap N_j \mid (i, j) \in I \times J\}$ is a family of nowhere dense sublocales of L, covering L. Therefore L is nowhere dense.

Corollary 4.2.15. If L is a smooth sublocale of βL , then $Soc(\mathcal{R}L)$ is zero iff L is dense in itself.

Now we turn to characterizing when the socle of $\mathcal{R}L$ is essential. Recall from [37] that Plewe calls a frame *scattered* if every non-void closed sublocale contains a non-void open Boolean sublocale. He observes that a sober space X is scattered if and only if the frame $\Omega(X)$ is scattered.

Corollary 4.2.16. The following statements about $Soc(\mathcal{R}L)$ are equivalent.

- (1) $\operatorname{Soc}(\mathcal{R}L)$ is essential.
- (2) $Nd(\beta L)$ is nowhere dense.
- (3) $\mathfrak{B}(\beta L)$ is complemented.
- (4) βL has a largest nowhere dense sublocale.
- (5) βL has a smallest dense open sublocale.

Proof. By Lemma 4.2.4 and the description of the socle in Theorem 4.2.9, $Soc(\mathcal{R}L)$ is essential if and only if $Nd(\beta L)$ is nowhere dense; which proves the equivalence of statements (1) and (2). Since, for any frame M, $Nd(M) = M \smallsetminus \mathfrak{B}M$, we have

Nd(M) is nowhere dense iff
$$Nd(M) \cap \mathfrak{B}M = \mathsf{O}$$

iff $(M \smallsetminus \mathfrak{B}M) \cap \mathfrak{B}M = \mathsf{O}$
iff $\mathfrak{B}M$ is complemented.

Therefore statements (2) and (3) are equivalent.

Since $Nd(\beta L)$ is the join of all nowhere dense sublocales of βL , it is clear that $Nd(\beta L)$ is nowhere dense if and only if it is the largest nowhere dense sublocale of βL . This proves the equivalence of statements (2) and (4). Since the closure of any nowhere dense sublocale is nowhere dense, if $Nd(\beta L)$ is nowhere dense, then it is, in fact, a closed sublocale. But clearly, a frame has a largest (closed) nowhere dense sublocale if and only if it has a smallest dense open sublocale. Thus, statements (4) and (5) are equivalent.

Remark 4.2.17. We feel compelled to mention that if a frame has a smallest dense open sublocale, it does not mean that its smallest dense sublocale is open. Incidentally, Banaschewski and Pultr prove in [8] that, for any frame L, $\mathfrak{B}L$ is open if and only if L has an open Boolean dense sublocale. Their proof is frame-theoretic. We offer the following localic one, which is much shorter. If $\mathfrak{B}L$ is open, then of course L has an open Boolean dense sublocale. Conversely, suppose U is an open dense Boolean sublocale of L. Denote pseudocomplementation in U by $(-)^{\neg}$. The density of U implies that, for any $u \in U$, $u^{\neg} = u \to 0_U = u \to 0_L = u^*$. Since U is Boolean, $u = u^{\neg \neg} = u^{**}$, which says $U \subseteq \mathfrak{B}L$, and hence $U = \mathfrak{B}L$, implying that the smallest dense sublocale is open.

In [37], Plewe proves that a frame is scattered if and only if every sublocale has a largest nowhere dense sublocale. We therefore have the following corollary.

Corollary 4.2.18. If βL is scattered, then $Soc(\mathcal{R}L)$ is an essential ideal. The converse fails.

Here is an example showing that the converse of the corollary does not hold.

Example 4.2.19. Let $L = \beta(\Omega(\mathbb{N}))$. Since \mathbb{N} is locally compact, $\Omega(\mathbb{N})$ is an open sublocale of L. Since $\Omega(\mathbb{N})$ is a dense sublocale of L, $\mathfrak{B}L = \mathfrak{B}(\Omega(\mathbb{N})) = \Omega(\mathbb{N})$, and so $\mathfrak{B}L$ is a complemented sublocale of L. Since $\beta L \cong L$, it follows that $\mathfrak{B}(\beta L)$ is a complemented sublocale of βL , and so, by Corollary 4.2.16, $\operatorname{Soc}(\mathcal{R}L)$ is an essential ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$. But of course βL is not scattered because $\beta L \cong \Omega(\beta \mathbb{N})$, and $\beta \mathbb{N}$ is not scattered as $\beta \mathbb{N} \smallsetminus \mathbb{N}$ is a closed subspace with no isolated point.

A few comments about the ideal $O_{Nd(L)}$ are in order. Emanating from Corollary 4.2.16 is the natural question whether it is necessary and sufficient that the sublocale Nd(L) of L be nowhere dense for Soc($\mathcal{R}L$) to be essential. We show that it is necessary. We need a lemma, which we state more generally than is really needed for our purposes.

We recalled earlier that if $f: L \to M$ is a one-one dense localic map, then $f(a^*) = f(a)^*$ for all $a \in L$.

Lemma 4.2.20. Let $f: L \to M$ be a dense surjective localic map.

- (a) $\operatorname{Nd}(L) \subseteq f_{-1}[\operatorname{Nd}(M)].$
- (b) If M is scattered, then $f_{-1}[Nd(M)] = Nd(L)$.
- (c) If $A \subseteq M$ is a nowhere dense sublocale, then $f_{-1}[A]$ is nowhere dense in L.
- (d) If M is scattered and A is a sublocale of M such that f₋₁[A] is nowhere dense in L, then A is nowhere dense in M.

Proof. (a) Let $a \in Nd(L)$. Then, as observed earlier, $a = \bigwedge_i a_i$, for some dense elements $a_i \in L$. Therefore $f(a) = \bigwedge_i f(a_i)$, which implies $f(a) \in Nd(M)$ because (being dense and surjective) f maps dense elements to dense elements. Thus, $f[Nd(L)] \subseteq Nd(M)$, which implies $Nd(L) \subseteq f_{-1}[Nd(M)]$.

(b) Let us recall that, as was observed by Plewe [38, p. 315], pullback along any localic map with scattered codomain preserves all joins. Therefore, if M is scattered,

$$\begin{aligned} f_{-1}[\mathrm{Nd}(M)] &= f_{-1}\left[\bigvee\{\mathfrak{c}_M(m) \mid m \text{ is dense in } M\}\right] \\ &= \bigvee\{f_{-1}[\mathfrak{c}_M(m)] \mid m \text{ is dense in } M\} \\ &= \bigvee\{\mathfrak{c}_L(f^*(m)) \mid m \text{ is dense in } M\} \\ &\subseteq \bigvee\{\mathfrak{c}_L(a) \mid a \text{ is dense in } L\} \qquad \text{since } f^* \text{ preserves density} \\ &= \mathrm{Nd}(L); \end{aligned}$$

so that we have $f_{-1}[Nd(M)] = Nd(L)$, by part (a).

(c) Let A be a nowhere dense sublocale of M. Then $A \cap \mathfrak{B}M = \mathsf{O}$, and consequently $f_{-1}[A] \cap f_{-1}[\mathfrak{B}M] = \mathsf{O}$. Observe that $f[\mathfrak{B}L] \subseteq \mathfrak{B}M$ because if $a \in \mathfrak{B}L$, then $a = a^{**}$, which implies $f(a) = f(a^{**}) = f(a)^{**}$ because f is dense and injective. Thus, $\mathfrak{B}L \subseteq f_{-1}[\mathfrak{B}M]$, and hence

$$f_{-1}[A] \cap \mathfrak{B}L \subseteq f_{-1}[A] \cap f_{-1}[\mathfrak{B}M] = \mathsf{O},$$

which says $f_{-1}[A]$ is nowhere dense.

(d) If M is scattered, then every sublocale of M is complemented [37]. Since localic preimage functions preserve complements, and since A is complemented in M, $f_{-1}[A]$ is complemented in

L, with $(f_{-1}[A])^{\#} = f_{-1}[A^{\#}]$. Therefore the hypothesis that $f_{-1}[A]$ is nowhere dense implies that $f_{-1}[A^{\#}]$ is dense in L, and therefore $0 \in f_{-1}[A^{\#}]$, which, in light of f being dense, implies $0 = f(0) \in A^{\#}$, thus showing that $A^{\#}$ is a dense sublocale, and therefore A is nowhere dense since A is complemented.

Now, the localic map $r_L: L \to \beta L$ is dense and surjective, so this lemma applies to it. Applying it, we obtain the following results.

Proposition 4.2.21. Let L be a completely regular frame.

- (a) $\operatorname{Soc}(\mathcal{R}L) \subseteq \boldsymbol{O}_{\operatorname{Nd}(L)}$.
- (b) If $Soc(\mathcal{R}L)$ is essential, then Nd(L) is nowhere dense in L.
- (c) If βL is scattered, then $\operatorname{Soc}(\mathcal{R}L)$ is essential iff $\operatorname{Nd}(L)$ is nowhere dense iff L has a largest nowhere dense sublocale.

Proof. (a) From the containment $Nd(L) \subseteq (r_L)_{-1}[Nd(\beta L)]$, as per Lemma 4.2.20(a), we deduce that $r_L[Nd(L)] \subseteq Nd(\beta L)$, and therefore

$$\operatorname{Soc}(\mathcal{R}L) = \boldsymbol{O}^{\operatorname{Nd}(\beta L)} \subseteq \boldsymbol{O}^{r_L[\operatorname{Nd}(L)]} = \boldsymbol{O}_{\operatorname{Nd}(L)}.$$

(b) If $\operatorname{Soc}(\mathcal{R}L)$ is essential, then $\operatorname{Nd}(\beta L)$ is nowhere dense in βL by Corollary 4.2.16. By Lemma 4.2.20(c), $(r_L)_{-1}[\operatorname{Nd}(\beta L)]$ is nowhere dense, and hence by Lemma 4.2.20(a), $\operatorname{Nd}(L)$ is nowhere dense.

(c) Clearly, we need only prove the right-to-left implication in the first equivalence. So assume that Nd(L) is nowhere dense. By Lemma 4.2.20(b), $(r_L)_{-1}[Nd(\beta L)] = Nd(L)$, and so by Lemma 4.2.20(d), Nd(βL) is nowhere dense, and so Soc($\mathcal{R}L$) is essential by Corollary 4.2.16.

We conclude with following comments.

(a) It should be clear that if L is compact, then $\mathbf{O}^{\operatorname{Nd}(\beta L)} = \mathbf{O}_{\operatorname{Nd}(L)}$. The converse fails. Indeed, for the frame $L = \Omega(\mathbb{R})$ we have $\operatorname{Nd}(L) = L$ and $\operatorname{Nd}(\beta L) = \beta L$ since L and βL are dense in themselves, and so $\mathbf{O}^{\operatorname{Nd}(\beta L)} = \mathbf{O}_{\operatorname{Nd}(L)} = \{\mathbf{0}\}.$

(b) The containment $\mathbf{O}^{\operatorname{Nd}(\beta L)} \subseteq \mathbf{O}_{\operatorname{Nd}(L)}$ can be proper. To see this, observe that, for any frame M, $\operatorname{Nd}(M) = \mathsf{O}$ if and only if M is Boolean. In particular, since βM is compact, $\operatorname{Nd}(\beta M) = \mathsf{O}$

precisely when M is a finite Boolean algebra. Now let L be the power set of any infinite set. Then L is a Boolean frame, but βL is not Boolean, and so $Nd(\beta L) \neq 0$. Since for any frame Mand $A \in \mathcal{S}(\beta M)$, $\mathbf{O}^A = \mathcal{R}M$ if and only if A = 0, we have $\mathbf{O}^{Nd(\beta L)} \neq \mathcal{R}L$. Since L is Boolean, Nd(L) = 0, and so $\mathbf{O}_{Nd(L)} = \mathbf{O}^0 = \mathcal{R}L$. Therefore $\mathbf{O}^{Nd(\beta L)} \subset \mathbf{O}_{Nd(L)}$.

Chapter 5

Mapping ideals to sublocales

In this chapter we introduce a mapping from the lattice of ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ into the lattice of sublocales of L. We shall then examine some properties of this mapping. Its ancestry goes back to the 1954 paper of Gillman, Henriksen and Jerison [23] in which they present a proof of the theorem of Gelfand and Kolmogoroff that is about the bijection between the sets of maximal ideals of the rings C(X) and $C^*(X)$.

To recall, Gillman, Henriksen and Jerison introduced the notation $\Delta(I)$ as a shorthand for associating an ideal I of C(X) with the closed subset of βX given by

$$\Delta(I) = \bigcap \{ \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X} Z(f) \mid f \in I \},\$$

where Z(f) denotes the zero-set of f. Since its introduction, wherever $\Delta(I)$ has appeared (sometimes written as $\theta(I)$), it has just been a notation of convenience. In this chapter our aim is to make Δ a homomorphism of the algebraic structures that are known as quantales that were introduced by Mulvey [34].

5.1 Making Δ a quantale homomorphism

A quantale is a complete lattice Q with an associative binary operation \cdot such that

$$a \cdot \bigvee_{i \in I} b_i = \bigvee_{i \in I} (a \cdot b_i)$$
 and $\left(\bigvee_{i \in I} b_i\right) \cdot a = \bigvee_{i \in I} (b_i \cdot a)$

for every $a \in Q$ and every family $(b_i \mid i \in I)$ of elements of Q. The quantale is *commutative* if $a \cdot b = b \cdot a$ for all $a, b \in Q$. Every frame is a commutative quantale if we take \cdot to be \wedge . A *quantale homomorphism* is a mapping between quantales that preserves all joins and the binary operation. As mentioned above, quantales were introduced by Mulvey [34] and are studied in detail in [40].

Let us remind the reader that by "ring" we mean a commutative ring with identity. The lattice Idl(A) of ideals of a ring A, partially ordered by inclusion, is complete, with sum for join. We view it as a quantale with the binary operation given by the usual ideal product. That is, for any ideals I and J of A,

$$I \cdot J = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i v_i \mid n \in \mathbb{N}, u_i \in I, v_i \in J \right\}$$

As usual, we simply write IJ for this product.

Definition 5.1.1. We define the map Δ_L : $Idl(\mathcal{R}L) \to \mathcal{S}(\beta L)^{op}$ by the equation

$$\Delta_L(I) = \bigcap_{\alpha \in I} \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(\cos \alpha)) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \Big(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha)\Big) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \Big(\bigcup_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha)\Big).$$

Observe that the join in the definition of $\Delta_L(I)$ is a union because it is directed. When we are dealing with one frame, we shall suppress the subscript. We remark (for later use) that Δ is surjective on closed sublocales. Indeed, if A is a closed sublocale of βL , say $A = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(J)$ for some $J \in \beta L$, then the set $Q = \{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid \cos \alpha \in J\}$ is easily checked to be an ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ with $\Delta(Q) = A$. We shall see in the following proposition that Δ need not be injective, but is always injective on what Johnstone [29] calls "neat" ideals. Let us recall what they are.

An ideal I of a ring A is said to be *neat* if mI = I. Neat ideals are also called "pure". In $\mathcal{R}L$, $\alpha \in mI$ if and only if $\cos \alpha \prec \cos \gamma$, for some $\gamma \in I$. See [11, Lemma 3.4] for details.

In a number of instances we shall use [14, Lemma 4.4], which states that if γ and δ belong to $\mathcal{R}L$ and $\cos \gamma \prec \cos \delta$, then γ is a multiple of δ .

Proposition 5.1.2. Let I and J be ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$. Then:

(a)
$$\Delta(I) = \Delta(mI)$$
.

(b) $\Delta(I) \subseteq \Delta(J)$ implies $mJ \subseteq mI$.

- (c) $\Delta(I) = \Delta(J)$ iff mI = mJ.
- (d) Δ is injective on neat ideals.

Proof. (a) In view of the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\bigcup_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha) = \bigcup_{\alpha \in mI} r_L(\cos \alpha).$$

The one containment is trivial because $mI \subseteq I$. If $c \in \bigcup_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha)$, then there is an $\alpha_0 \in I$ such that $c \in r_L(\cos \alpha_0)$, which says $c \prec \cos \alpha_0$. Pick $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$ with $c \prec \cos \gamma \prec \cos \alpha_0$. Then γ is a multiple of α_0 , and so $\gamma \in I$. From $\cos \gamma \prec \cos \alpha_0$, we have that $\gamma \in mI$, which then implies $c \in \bigcup_{\alpha \in mI} r_L(\cos \alpha)$; establishing the other containment. Therefore $\Delta(I) = \Delta(mI)$.

(b) Suppose that $\Delta(I) \subseteq \Delta(J)$. Let $\gamma \in mJ$ and pick $\tau \in J$ such that $\cos \gamma \ll \cos \tau$. Therefore $\cos \gamma \in \bigcup_{\alpha \in J} r_L(\cos \alpha)$. From the containment $\Delta(I) \subseteq \Delta(J)$ we deduce that

$$\bigcup_{\alpha \in J} r_L(\cos \alpha) \subseteq \bigcup_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha).$$

Thus, there exists $\rho \in I$ such that $\cos \gamma \prec \cos \rho$, which implies $\gamma \in mI$. Therefore $mJ \subseteq mI$. (c) The forward implication follows from (b), and the other follows from (a).

- (d) This follows from (c) because an ideal Q of $\mathcal{R}L$ is neat if and only if Q = mQ.
- It will be convenient to give the map $A \mapsto \mathbf{O}^A$ a name. So, let us do so.

Definition 5.1.3. We define the map $\Psi_L \colon \mathcal{S}(\beta L)^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathrm{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L)$ by $\Psi_L(A) = \mathbf{O}^A$. When dealing with one frame, we shall drop the subscript.

Recall that a P-frame is a completely regular frame in which every cozero element is complemented. We are aiming for the first result announced in the abstract, which will culminate in showing that we have an adjunction

$$\operatorname{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L) \xrightarrow{\Delta} \mathcal{S}(\beta L)^{\operatorname{op}}$$

precisely when L is a P-frame. To recall, if X and Y are posets, two monotone functions $f: X \to Y$ and $g: Y \to X$ are said to be in a *Galois connection*, with f on the left and g on the right, written $f \dashv g$, if

$$\forall x \in X, \ \forall y \in Y, \ f(x) \le y \iff x \le g(y).$$

A useful characterization is that

$$f \dashv g \quad \iff \quad f \circ g \leq \mathrm{id}_Y \quad \mathrm{and} \quad \mathrm{id}_X \leq g \circ f.$$

En route to the result we are aiming for, we establish some preliminary ones, including others that are not really germane to the task at hand, but which we find to be noteworthy nevertheless. One of the latter kind generalizes [9, Lemma 1.6], and significantly sharpens it because it also mentions an instance (not observed in [9]) of when the converse holds.

Recall that a completely regular frame L is called an *almost* P-frame [4] if $c = c^{**}$ for every $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$.

Proposition 5.1.4. Let L be a completely regular frame.

- (a) For any sublocale A of βL , $\Delta(\mathbf{O}^{A}) = \Delta(\mathbf{O}^{\overline{A}}) = \Delta(\mathbf{M}^{\overline{A}}) = \overline{A}$.
- (b) If A and B are sublocales of βL with $\mathbf{O}^A \subseteq \mathbf{M}^B$, then $\overline{B} \subseteq \overline{A}$. The converse holds if L is an almost P-frame.
- (c) For any ideal I of $\mathcal{R}L$, $O^{\Delta(I)} = mI$.

Proof. (a) Since $\overline{A} \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(\cos \alpha))$ for every $\alpha \in M^{\overline{A}}$, and since $O^{\overline{A}} \subseteq O^A \subseteq M^A$, we have

$$\overline{A} \subseteq \Delta(\boldsymbol{M}^{\overline{A}}) = \Delta(\boldsymbol{M}^{A}) \subseteq \Delta(\boldsymbol{O}^{A}) \subseteq \Delta(\boldsymbol{O}^{\overline{A}}).$$

Consequently, we need only show that $\Delta(\mathbf{O}^{\overline{A}}) \subseteq \overline{A}$. Put $H = \bigwedge A$, so that $\overline{A} = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(H)$. Now, in light of the fact that

$$\Delta(\boldsymbol{O}^{\overline{A}}) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \left(\bigcup_{\alpha \in \boldsymbol{O}^{\overline{A}}} r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha) \right),$$

it suffices to show that $\bigcup \{ r_L(\cos \alpha) \mid \alpha \in \mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(H)} \} = H$. But this is indeed so because, for any $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L, \ \gamma \in \mathbf{O}^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(H)}$ if and only if $\cos \gamma \in H$, and $H = \bigcup \{ r_L(\cos \alpha) \mid \cos \alpha \in H \}.$

(b) If $O^A \subseteq M^B$, then, in light of the result in (a),

$$\overline{B} = \Delta(M^{\overline{B}}) = \Delta(M^{B}) \subseteq \Delta(O^{A}) = \overline{A};$$

which proves the first part of (b). Next, assume that L is an almost P-frame and A and B are sublocales of βL with $\overline{B} \subseteq \overline{A}$. We must show that $O^A \subseteq M^B$. Let $\alpha \in O^A$. By definition,

 $A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_L(\cos \alpha)^*)$, which, on taking closures and noting that $r_L(\cos \alpha)^{**} = r_L(\cos \alpha)$ since L is an almost P-frame, yields

$$\overline{B} \subseteq \overline{A} \subseteq \overline{\mathfrak{o}}_{\beta L}(r_L(\cos\alpha)^*) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(\cos\alpha)^{**}) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(\cos\alpha)),$$

which implies $\alpha \in M^{\overline{B}} = M^{B}$. Therefore $O^{A} \subseteq M^{B}$.

(c) Since $\Delta(I) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} (\bigcup_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha))$, for any $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$ we have

$$\gamma \in \mathbf{O}^{\Delta(I)} \iff \operatorname{coz} \gamma \in \bigcup \{ r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha) \mid \alpha \in I \}$$
$$\iff \operatorname{coz} \gamma \prec \operatorname{coz} \alpha, \text{ for some } \alpha \in I$$
$$\iff \gamma \in mI,$$

which then proves the claim.

We have the following application to C(X). Recall that a Tychonoff space is called an *almost* P-space if each of its G_{δ} -sets has dense interior. These spaces were studied in detail by Levy [30]. A space X is an almost P-space if and only if $\Omega(X)$ is an almost P-frame. In [9, Lemma 1.6], Dietrich shows that if, for subsets A and B of βX , $\mathbf{O}^A \subseteq \mathbf{M}^B$, then $\overline{B} \subseteq \overline{A}$. We show that the converse holds if X is an almost P-space. For that, we need a lemma.

Recall that complemented (and hence closed) sublocales of a spatial frame are spatial. Let K be a closed subset of a Tychonoff space X. Since

$$\operatorname{Pt}(\widetilde{K}) = \{ \widetilde{w} \mid w \in K \} = \{ X \smallsetminus \{ w \} \mid w \in K \} = \operatorname{Pt} \left(\mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)}(X \smallsetminus K) \right),$$

the latter by a simple calculation, it follows that $\widetilde{K} = \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)}(X \setminus K)$ because both these sublocales are spatial.

In what follows we use the overline for both the closure in spaces and locales. There will be no danger of confusion. Observe from [35, Proposition VI.1.3.1] that if A and B are subsets of a T_D -space (and hence of a Tychonoff space), then $A \subseteq B$ if and only if $\widetilde{A} \subseteq \widetilde{B}$.

Lemma 5.1.5. If S is a subset of a Tychonoff space X, then $\overline{\widetilde{S}} = \overline{\widetilde{S}}$.

Proof. By what we have just observed, it suffices to show that $\overline{\widetilde{S}} = \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)}(X \setminus \overline{S})$. Since $\overline{\widetilde{S}}$ is a closed sublocale of $\Omega(X)$, there exists $U \in \Omega(X)$ such that $\overline{\widetilde{S}} = \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)}(U)$. So we must show that $U = X \setminus \overline{S}$. Since $S \subseteq \overline{S}$, $\widetilde{S} \subseteq \overline{\widetilde{S}}$, and since $\overline{\widetilde{S}}$ is a closed sublocale, we have $\overline{\widetilde{S}} \subseteq \overline{\widetilde{S}}$. This

says $\mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)}(U) \subseteq \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(X)}(X \setminus \overline{S})$, which implies $X \setminus \overline{S} \subseteq U$. On the other hand, the containment $\widetilde{S} \subseteq \overline{\widetilde{S}} = \widetilde{X \setminus U}$ implies $S \subseteq X \setminus U$, so that $U \cap S = \emptyset$, and hence $U \cap \overline{S} = \emptyset$ because an open set misses a set if and only if it misses the closure of that set. Therefore $U \subseteq X \setminus \overline{S}$, hence we have the desired equality, whence the lemma follows.

Corollary 5.1.6. Let X be an almost P-space and A and B subsets of βX such that $\overline{B} \subseteq \overline{A}$. Then $O^A \subseteq M^B$.

Proof. By hypothesis, $\Omega(X)$ is an almost P-frame and, for the sublocales $\widetilde{\overline{A}}$ and $\widetilde{\overline{B}}$ of $\Omega(\beta X)$ induced by \overline{A} and \overline{B} , we have $\widetilde{\overline{B}} \subseteq \widetilde{\overline{A}}$. Thus, by Lemma 5.1.5, the sublocales \widetilde{A} and \widetilde{B} of $\Omega(\beta X)$ satisfy the containment $\overline{\widetilde{B}} \subseteq \overline{\widetilde{A}}$. Proposition 5.1.4(b) implies $O^{\widetilde{B}} \subseteq M^{\widetilde{A}}$. From Corollary 2.1.3 we deduce that $\varphi_X[O^B] \subseteq \varphi_X[M^A]$, which implies $O^B \subseteq M^A$ because φ_X is a ring isomorphism.

We are now ready to present the first main result in the chapter.

Theorem 5.1.7. Regarding the maps Δ : $Idl(\mathcal{R}L) \to \mathcal{S}(\beta L)^{op}$ and $\Psi \colon \mathcal{S}(\beta L)^{op} \to Idl(\mathcal{R}L)$, we have the following results.

- (a) Δ is a quantale homomorphism and Ψ preserves meets.
- (b) Δ and Ψ are in a Galois connection, with Δ on the left, iff L is a P-frame.

Proof. (a) Let us show first that Δ preserves joins. Let $\{I_k \mid k \in K\} \subseteq \mathrm{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L)$. We claim that

$$\bigvee_{\alpha \in \sum_{k} I_{k}} r_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha) = \bigvee_{k \in K} \left(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I_{k}} r_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha) \right).$$
(5.1.1)

For a fixed $k_0 \in K$,

$$\bigvee_{\alpha \in I_{k_0}} r_L(\cos \alpha) \le \bigvee_{\alpha \in \sum_k I_k} r_L(\cos \alpha),$$

which yields the inequality \geq in (5.1.1). For the opposite inequality, let us keep in mind that

$$\bigvee_{\alpha \in \sum_k I_k} r_L(\cos \alpha) = \bigcup_{\alpha \in \sum_k I_k} r_L(\cos \alpha)$$

If a cozero element c belongs to this union, there is an α_0 in $\sum_k I_k$ such that $c \in r_L(\cos \alpha_0)$. Therefore there are finitely many indices k_1, \ldots, k_n in K and elements $\alpha_{k_i} \in I_{k_i}$, for $i = 1, \ldots, n$, such that $\alpha_0 = \alpha_{k_1} + \cdots + \alpha_{k_n}$. Since r_L preserves finite joins of cozero elements, and since $\cos \alpha_0 \leq \cos(\alpha_{k_1}) \vee \cdots \vee \cos(\alpha_{k_n})$, we have

$$r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha_0) \leq r_L(\operatorname{coz}(\alpha_{k_1})) \lor \cdots \lor r_L(\operatorname{coz}(\alpha_{k_n})) \leq \bigvee_{\alpha \in \sum_k I_k} r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha),$$

which proves the desired inequality, and hence establishes the claimed equality. We argue from this that Δ preserves joins. We need to keep in mind that joins in $\mathcal{S}(\beta L)^{\text{op}}$ are intersections. Let $\{I_k \mid k \in K\} \subseteq \text{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L)$. Then.

$$\Delta \left(\bigvee_{k \in K}^{\mathrm{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L)} I_k \right) = \Delta \left(\sum_k I_k \right) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \left(\bigvee_{\alpha \in \sum_k I_k} r_L(\cos \alpha) \right)$$
$$= \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \left(\bigvee_{k \in K} \left(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I_k} r_L(\cos \alpha) \right) \right)$$
$$= \bigcap_{k \in K} \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \left(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I_k} r_L(\cos \alpha) \right)$$
$$= \bigcap_{k \in K} \Delta (I_k)$$
$$= \bigvee_{k \in K} \Delta (I_k),$$

which proves that Δ preserves joins.

Now we show that Δ preserves the binary product. Let I and J be ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$. The product $\Delta(I) \cdot \Delta(J)$ is the meet of these two sublocales taken in $\mathcal{S}(\beta L)^{\text{op}}$, which is their join calculated in $\mathcal{S}(\beta L)$. Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \Delta(I) \cdot \Delta(J) &= \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \Big(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha) \Big) \lor \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \Big(\bigvee_{\gamma \in J} r_L(\cos \gamma) \Big) \\ &= \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \left(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha) \land \bigvee_{\gamma \in J} r_L(\cos \gamma) \Big) \\ &= \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \left(\bigvee_{(\alpha, \gamma) \in I \times J} (r_L(\cos \alpha) \land r_L(\cos \gamma)) \right) \end{split} \quad \text{by the frame law} \\ &= \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \left(\bigvee_{(\alpha, \gamma) \in I \times J} r_L(\cos(\alpha \gamma)) \right). \end{split}$$

Now, if $\rho \in IJ$, then $\rho = \alpha_1 \gamma_1 + \cdots + \alpha_n \gamma_n$, for some finitely many elements $\alpha_i \in I$ and $\gamma_i \in J$, which then, by the properties of the cozero map and the fact that r_L preserves finite joins of

cozero elements, implies that

$$r_L(\cos\rho) \leq r_L(\cos(\alpha_1\gamma_1)) \vee \cdots \vee r_L(\cos(\alpha_n\gamma_n)) \leq \bigvee_{(\alpha,\gamma)\in I\times J} r_L(\cos(\alpha\gamma)).$$

Consequently,

$$\bigvee_{\tau \in IJ} r_L(\cos \tau) \leq \bigvee_{(\alpha, \gamma) \in I \times J} r_L(\cos(\alpha \gamma)) \leq \bigvee_{\tau \in IJ} r_L(\cos \tau),$$

from which we deduce that $\Delta(IJ) = \Delta(I) \cdot \Delta(J)$. In all then, Δ is a quantale homomorphism. Next, we show that Ψ preserves meets. Undecorated joins of sublocales are understood to be taken in $\mathcal{S}(\beta L)$. If $\{A_k \mid k \in K\} \subseteq \mathcal{S}(\beta L)^{\text{op}}$, then

$$\Psi\left(\bigwedge_{k\in K}^{\mathcal{S}(\beta L)^{\mathrm{op}}}A_k\right) = \mathbf{O}^{\bigvee_{k\in K}A_k} = \bigcap_{k\in K}\mathbf{O}^{A_k} = \bigcap_{k\in K}\Psi(A_k) = \bigwedge_{k\in K}^{\mathrm{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L)}\Psi(A_k),$$

which shows that Ψ preserves meets.

(b) We comment first that the results in (a) tell us that both these maps are monotone, so it does make sense to talk about them possibly being in a Galois connection. Proposition 5.1.4(a) says $\Delta(\Psi(A)) = \overline{A}$ for every $A \in S(\beta L)^{\text{op}}$. Since $\overline{A} \leq A$ in $S(\beta L)^{\text{op}}$, we therefore have $\Delta \circ \Psi \leq \text{id}_{S(\beta L)^{\text{op}}}$. Now recall from [11, Corollary 3.10]) that L is a P-frame if and only if every ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ is neat. Since an ideal I of $\mathcal{R}L$ is neat if and only if I = mI, we have

$$L \text{ is a } P \text{-frame} \iff I \subseteq mI \text{ for every } I \in \mathcal{R}L$$
$$\iff \text{id}_{\text{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L)} \leq \Psi \circ \Delta.$$

It follows therefore that Δ is left adjoint to Ψ if and only L is a P-frame.

We now wish to interpret this in C(X). For that we need some background, sourced mainly from [36]. Recall that for any frame L, the lattice

$$\mathcal{S}_{\mathfrak{c}}(L) = \{ S \in \mathcal{S}(L) \mid S \text{ is a join of closed sublocales} \}$$

is a frame, with partial order \subseteq and joins as in $\mathcal{S}(L)$. If L is subfit, then $\mathcal{S}_{\mathfrak{c}}(L)$ is a Boolean frame, with complements equal to supplements calculated in $\mathcal{S}(L)$. Furthermore, $\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{S}(L)^{\mathrm{op}})$, the Booleanization of $\mathcal{S}(L)^{\mathrm{op}}$, is the Boolean frame $\mathcal{S}_{\mathfrak{c}}(L)^{\mathrm{op}}$. If Y is a T_1 -space and $\mathfrak{P}(Y)$ denotes the powerset of Y, then the map

$$\tau_Y \colon \mathfrak{P}(Y)^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathcal{S}_{\mathfrak{c}}(\Omega(Y))^{\mathrm{op}} \qquad \text{given by} \qquad T \mapsto T$$

is an isomorphism of Boolean algebras, and hence a frame isomorphism.

Next, any ring isomorphism $\phi: A \to B$ induces a quantale isomorphism $\widehat{\phi}: \operatorname{Idl}(A) \to \operatorname{Idl}(B)$ given by $I \mapsto \phi[I]$. Recall the ring isomorphism $\varphi_X: C(X) \to \mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$ for any Tychonoff space X, and, as in Section 2.1, view the Stone-Čech compactification of $\Omega(X)$ as being given by the dense-onto frame homomorphism $\Omega(i_X): \Omega(\beta X) \to \Omega(X)$. We consequently have the map

$$\mathsf{F}_X\colon \mathrm{Idl}(C(X)) \to \mathrm{Idl}(\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))) \to \mathcal{S}(\Omega(\beta X))^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathcal{S}_{\mathfrak{c}}(\Omega(\beta X))^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathfrak{P}(\beta X)^{\mathrm{op}}$$

given by the composite

$$\mathsf{F}_X = \tau_{\beta X}^{-1} \circ \mathsf{b}_{\mathcal{S}(\Omega(\beta X))^{\mathrm{op}}} \circ \Delta_{\Omega(X)} \circ \widehat{\varphi_X}.$$

Being a composite of quantale homomorphisms, the map F_X : $\mathrm{Idl}(C(X)) \to \mathfrak{P}(\beta X)^{\mathrm{op}}$ is itself a quantale homomorphism. We show that it is precisely the map of Gillman, Henriksen and Jerison.

Proposition 5.1.8. $F_X(I) = \bigcap \{ \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X} Z(f) \mid f \in I \}, \text{ for every ideal } I \text{ of } C(X).$

Proof. Since $(\Delta_{\Omega(X)} \circ \widehat{\varphi_X})(I)$ is a closed sublocale of $\Omega(\beta X)$ for any ideal I of C(X), and since the Booleanization map $\mathbf{b}_{\mathcal{S}(\Omega(\beta X))^{\mathrm{op}}}$ sends every closed (actually, every complemented) sublocale to itself, it suffices to show that

$$(\tau_{\beta X} \circ \mathsf{F}_X)(I) = (\Delta_{\Omega(X)} \circ \widehat{\varphi_X})(I).$$

To compute the sublocale on the left, recall that if K is a closed subset of Y then the induced closed sublocale of $\Omega(Y)$ is $\mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(Y)}(Y \setminus K)$. Recall also from the discussion preceding Lemma 2.1.1 that, for any $f \in C(X)$,

$$\beta X \smallsetminus \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X} Z(f) = \Omega(i_X)_* \big(\operatorname{coz}(\varphi(f)) \big) = r_{\Omega(X)} \big(\operatorname{coz}(\varphi_X(f)) \big).$$

Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} (\tau_{\beta X} \circ \mathsf{F}_{X})(I) &= \widetilde{\mathsf{F}_{X}(I)} = \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(\beta X)} \Big(\beta X \smallsetminus \bigcap_{f \in I} \mathrm{cl}_{\beta X} Z(f) \Big) \\ &= \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(\beta X)} \Big(\bigcup_{f \in I} (\beta X \smallsetminus \mathrm{cl}_{\beta X} Z(f)) \Big) \\ &= \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(\beta X)} \left(\bigcup_{f \in I} r_{\Omega(X)} \big(\operatorname{coz}(\varphi_{X}(f)) \big) \right) \\ &= \mathfrak{c}_{\Omega(\beta X)} \left(\bigcup_{\alpha \in \varphi_{X}[I]} r_{\Omega(X)} (\operatorname{coz} \alpha) \right) \\ &= \Delta_{\Omega(X)} (\varphi_{X}[I]) \\ &= \big(\Delta_{\Omega(X)} \circ \widehat{\varphi_{X}} \big) (I), \end{aligned}$$

whence the result follows.

Given a Tychonoff space X, we have the maps

$$\mathsf{F}_X \colon \mathrm{Idl}(C(X)) \to \mathfrak{P}(\beta X)^{\mathrm{op}}$$
 and $\mathsf{G}_X \colon \mathfrak{P}(\beta X)^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathrm{Idl}(C(X))$

given by $\mathsf{F}_X(I) = \bigcap \{ \operatorname{cl}_{\beta X} Z(f) \mid f \in I \}$ and $\mathsf{G}_X(A) = \mathbf{O}^A$. It is clear that G_X preserves meets because they are set-theoretic unions in $\mathfrak{P}(\beta X)^{\operatorname{op}}$ and intersections in $\operatorname{Idl}(C(X))$.

The first part in the next corollary follows from Proposition 5.1.8 and the discussion preceding it. We will deduce the second part from Theorem 5.1.7(b).

Corollary 5.1.9. For any Tychonoff space X, F_X is a quantale homomorphism and G_X preserves meets. Furthermore, $F_X \dashv G_X$ iff X is a P-space.

Proof. We first argue that $\mathsf{F}_X \dashv \mathsf{G}_X$ if and only if $\Delta_{\Omega(X)} \dashv \Psi_{\Omega(X)}$. As observed in the proof of Theorem 5.1.7(b), $\Delta_{\Omega(X)} \circ \Psi_{\Omega(X)} \leq \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{S}(\Omega(\beta X))^{\mathrm{op}}}$, and so

 $\Delta_{\Omega(X)} \dashv \Psi_{\Omega(X)}$ iff $I \subseteq \mathbf{O}^{\Delta_{\Omega(X)}(I)}$ for every $I \in \mathrm{Idl}(\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))).$

In our notation, [9, Lemma 1.6] says $\mathsf{F}_X(\mathsf{G}_X(A)) = \overline{A}$ for every $A \subseteq \beta X$, so that $\mathsf{F}_X \circ \mathsf{G}_X \leq \mathrm{id}_{\mathfrak{P}(\beta X)^{\mathrm{op}}}$. Thus,

$$\mathsf{F}_X \dashv \mathsf{G}_X$$
 iff $J \subseteq O^{\mathsf{F}_X(J)}$ for every $J \in \mathrm{Idl}(C(X))$.

Now suppose that $\Delta_{\Omega(X)} \dashv \Psi_{\Omega(X)}$, and let J be an ideal of C(X). Then $\varphi_X[J]$ is an ideal of $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$, and therefore $\varphi_X[J] \subseteq O^{\Delta_{\Omega(X)}(\varphi_X[J])}$, which, in light of Corollary 2.1.3 and the equality $\tau_{\beta X} \circ \mathsf{F}_X = \Delta_{\Omega(X)} \circ \widehat{\varphi_X}$ established in the proof of Proposition 5.1.8, implies

$$\varphi_X[J] \subseteq \boldsymbol{O}^{\tau_{\beta X}(\mathsf{F}_X(J))} = \boldsymbol{O}^{\widetilde{\mathsf{F}_X(J)}} = \varphi_X\left[\boldsymbol{O}^{\mathsf{F}_X(J)}\right],$$

whence we get $J \subseteq \mathbf{O}^{\mathsf{F}_X(J)}$, thus proving that $\mathsf{F}_X \dashv \mathsf{G}_X$. Conversely, suppose that $\mathsf{F}_X \dashv \mathsf{G}_X$, and let I be an ideal of $\mathcal{R}(\Omega(X))$. Since φ_X is a ring isomorphism, there exists an ideal J of C(X)such that $I = \varphi_X(J)$. Then (as $\mathsf{F}_X \dashv \mathsf{G}_X$), $J \subseteq \mathbf{O}^{\mathsf{F}_X(J)}$, which implies

$$I = \varphi_X(J) \subseteq \varphi_X\left[\boldsymbol{O}^{\mathsf{F}_X(J)}\right] = \boldsymbol{O}^{\widetilde{\mathsf{F}_X(J)}} = \boldsymbol{O}^{\tau_{\beta X}(\mathsf{F}_X(J))} = \boldsymbol{O}^{\Delta_{\Omega(X)}(\varphi_X[J])} = \boldsymbol{O}^{\Delta_{\Omega(X)}(I)},$$

whence $\Delta_{\Omega(X)} \dashv \Psi_{\Omega(X)}$.

Now, since X is a P-space precisely when $\Omega(X)$ is a P-frame, it follows from Theorem 5.1.7(b) that $\mathsf{F}_X \dashv \mathsf{G}_X$ if and only if X is a P-space.

If $f: L \to M$ is a join-preserving map between complete lattices and f_* denotes its right adjoint, then for every $b \in M$ for which $f^{-1}(b) \neq \emptyset$, the equality $f(f_*(b)) = b$ always holds. Now, since Δ is surjective on closed sublocales, we know from Theorem 5.1.7(b) that if L is a P-frame, then $\Delta_*(A) = \mathbf{O}^A$ for every closed sublocale A of βL . Below we produce an explicit example (necessarily in some frame L which is not a P-frame) of a closed sublocale A of βL for which $\Delta_*(A) \neq \mathbf{O}^A$.

Example 5.1.10. Let $L = \Omega(\mathbb{R})$, and put a = (0, 1). Since \mathbb{R} is metrizable, every element of L is a cozero element. Pick $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$ with $\operatorname{coz} \gamma = a$. Let A be the closed sublocale $A = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(r_L(a))$ of βL . Then $\Delta(\mathbf{O}^A) = A$ by Proposition 5.1.4(a), and so, $\mathbf{O}^A \leq \Delta_*(A)$. We now produce an ideal J of $\mathcal{R}L$ with $\mathbf{O}^A \subset J$ (proper containment) and $\Delta(J) = A$. This will show that $\Delta_*(A) \neq \mathbf{O}^A$. Let $J = \langle \gamma \rangle$, the ideal generated by γ . Since, for any $\tau \in \mathcal{R}L$, $\operatorname{coz} \tau \prec \operatorname{coz} \gamma$ implies $\tau \in \langle \gamma \rangle$, it is easy to see that $\bigvee_{\alpha \in J} r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha) = r_L(a)$. Also, from what we observed about the \mathbf{O} -ideals associated with closed sublocales, we see that $\mathbf{O}^A = \{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid \operatorname{coz} \alpha \prec a\}$, whence we deduce that $\gamma \notin \mathbf{O}^A$ because a is not complemented.

Naturally, one wonders if we can identify some class of closed sublocales A for which $\Delta_*(A) = \mathbf{O}^A$. Rather unexpectedly, sublocales which are generalizations of P-sets are of this type. Taking a cue from spaces, the author of [18] calls a closed sublocale a P-sublocale if it is interior to every zero-sublocale containing it. He then shows that a closed sublocale $\mathfrak{c}_L(a)$ of a frame L is a P-sublocale if and only if every cozero element of L which is below a is actually rather below a. In the proof of the next theorem we will use the fact that if $I \prec J$ in βL , then $\forall I \in J$. For a proof see the paragraph preceding [14, Example 4.11].

Theorem 5.1.11. If A is a join of P-sublocales of βL , then $\Delta_*(A) = O^A$.

Proof. We prove this first for *P*-sublocales. So let $B = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)$ be a *P*-sublocale of βL . We are going to show that for any $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$, the containment $r_L(c) \subseteq I$ implies $c \in I$. [Caution: $r_L(c)$ is not necessarily a cozero element of βL]. Find a sequence (c_n) in $\operatorname{Coz} L$ with $c_n \prec c_{n+1}$ for each n and $\bigvee_{n \in \mathbb{N}} c_n = c$. Since $r_L(c_n) \prec r_L(c_{n+1})$ for each n, $\bigvee_{n \in \mathbb{N}} r_L(c_n)$ is a cozero element of βL , and, furthermore, it is below I, and so $\bigvee_{n \in \mathbb{N}} r_L(c_n) \prec I$ because $\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)$ is a *P*-sublocale. Therefore $\left(\bigvee_{n \in \mathbb{N}} r_L(c_n)\right)^* \lor I = 1_{\beta L}$. But now

$$\left(\bigvee_{n\in\mathbb{N}}r_L(c_n)\right)^* = \bigwedge_{n\in\mathbb{N}}r_L(c_n)^* = \bigwedge_{n\in\mathbb{N}}r_L(c_n^*) = r_L\left(\bigwedge_{n\in\mathbb{N}}c_n^*\right) = r_L\left(\left(\bigvee_{n\in\mathbb{N}}c_n\right)^*\right) = r_L(c^*) = r_L(c)^*,$$

which then implies $r_L(c) \prec I$, and hence $c \in I$. Since Δ is surjective on closed sublocales,

$$\Delta_*(B) = \sum \{ J \in \mathrm{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L) \mid \Delta(J) = B \}.$$

Since $\Delta(\mathbf{O}^B) = \overline{B} = B$, $\mathbf{O}^B \leq \Delta_*(B)$. Consider any ideal J of $\mathcal{R}L$ with $\Delta(J) = B$. Then, from the definition, $\bigvee_{\alpha \in J} r_L(\cos \alpha) = I$. Thus, if $\alpha \in J$, then $r_L(\cos \alpha) \subseteq I$, and thus by what we proved above, $\cos \alpha \in I$, which implies $\alpha \in \mathbf{O}^B$. Therefore \mathbf{O}^B is the largest ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ mapped to B by Δ , hence $\Delta_*(B) = \mathbf{O}^B$.

Now suppose that $A = \bigvee_{k \in K} A_k$, for some *P*-sublocales A_k of βL . Then

$$\Delta_* \left(\bigvee_{k \in K} A_k\right) = \Delta_* \left(\bigwedge_{k \in K}^{\mathcal{S}(\beta L)^{\mathrm{op}}} A_k\right) = \bigwedge_{k \in K}^{\mathrm{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L)} \Delta_*(A_k) = \bigcap_{k \in K} O^{A_k} = O^{\bigvee_{k \in K} A_k} = O^A,$$

which proves the result.

5.2 Characterizing Woods' WN-maps

Our goal in this section is, among other things, to use the material in the previous section to characterize the WN-homomorphisms that we discussed in Chapter 3. Recall from [40, p. 25]

that if $\phi: A \to B$ is a ring homomorphism, then the map $\mathrm{Idl}(A) \to \mathrm{Idl}(B)$ given by $I \mapsto \langle \phi[I] \rangle$ is a quantale homomorphism, where $\langle - \rangle$ denotes ideal-generation. Therefore the square in the following theorem resides in the category of quantales.

Theorem 5.2.1. A frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$ is a WN-homomorphism iff the square

$$\operatorname{Idl}(\mathcal{R}M) \xrightarrow{\langle (\mathcal{R}h)[-] \rangle} \operatorname{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L)$$

$$\begin{array}{c} \Delta_M \\ \downarrow \\ \mathcal{S}(\beta M)^{\operatorname{op}} \xrightarrow{((\beta h)_*)_{-1}[-]} \mathcal{S}(\beta L)^{\operatorname{op}} \end{array}$$

commutes.

Proof. Let I be an ideal of $\mathcal{R}M$. Since for any ideal Q of $\mathcal{R}L$, the join of the form $\bigvee_{\alpha \in Q} r_L(\cos \alpha)$ can be taken over any generating subset of Q, we have

$$\Delta_L(\langle (\mathcal{R}h[I]) \rangle) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \left(\bigvee_{\tau \in (\mathcal{R}h)[I]} r_L(\operatorname{coz} \tau) \right).$$

On the other hand,

$$((\beta h)_*)_{-1}[\Delta_M(I)] = ((\beta h)_*)_{-1} \left[\mathfrak{c}_{\beta M} \Big(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha) \Big) \right]$$
$$= \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \left((\beta h) \Big(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha) \Big) \Big)$$
$$= \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \Big(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} (\beta h) \big(r_L(\cos \alpha) \big) \Big).$$

Therefore the square commutes if and only if

$$\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} (\beta h) (r_M(\cos \alpha)) = \bigvee_{\tau \in (\mathcal{R}h)[I]} r_L(\cos \tau)$$
(5.2.1)

for every ideal I of $\mathcal{R}M$.

Now we suppose that the square commutes, and show that h is a WN-homomorphism. Let $c \in \operatorname{Coz} M$, and take $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}M$ such that $c = \operatorname{coz} \gamma$. For $I = \langle \gamma \rangle$, the left side of equation (5.2.1) is $(\beta h)(r_M(c))$. Since $\mathcal{R}h$ is a ring homomorphism, the ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ generated by $(\mathcal{R}h)[\langle \gamma \rangle]$

is the principal ideal $\langle (\mathcal{R}h)(\gamma) \rangle$. Since $\operatorname{coz}((\mathcal{R}h)(\gamma)) = h(\operatorname{coz} \gamma)$, the right side of (5.2.1) with $I = \langle \gamma \rangle$ is $r_L(h(c))$, which then shows that h is a WN-homomorphism.

Conversely, suppose that h is a WN-homomorphism. Let I be an ideal of $\mathcal{R}M$, and take any $\alpha \in I$. Then $(\beta h)(r_M(\cos \alpha)) = r_L(h(\cos \alpha))$. But $h(\cos \alpha) = \cos((\mathcal{R}h)(\alpha))$, and $(\mathcal{R}h)(\alpha) \in (\mathcal{R}h)[I]$; so we deduce from this that the inequality \leq in equation (5.2.1) holds. On the other hand, let $\tau \in (\mathcal{R}h)[I]$. Then there exists $\alpha \in I$ such that $\tau = (\mathcal{R}h)(\alpha)$, hence $\cos \tau = h(\cos \alpha)$, whence

$$r_L(\cos \tau) = r_L(h(\cos \alpha)) = (\beta h)(r_M(\cos \alpha)),$$

since h is a WN-homomorphism. It follows from this that the other inequality also holds, and so the square commutes.

The upper morphism in the square in Theorem 5.2.1 is extension of ideals, and the lower morphism is localic inverse image. We can form a "dual" square, with contraction of ideals replacing extension, and direct image replacing localic inverse image. We show below that the resulting square always commutes, regardless of the homomorphism. In preparation for that, we need to recall two concepts.

A frame homomorphism is said to be *perfect* if its right adjoint preserves directed joins. It is well known that a frame homomorphism into a compact regular frame is perfect. Recall that a localic map $f: L \to M$ is said to be *closed* if the induced direct-image map sends closed sublocales to closed sublocales. This is so precisely when $f[\mathfrak{c}_L(a)] = \mathfrak{c}_M(f(a))$ for every $a \in L$. Any localic map with a compact regular domain is closed.

For use below, observe that since $(\beta h)(r_M(a)) \leq r_L(h(a))$ for any frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$ and $a \in M$, we have $r_M(a) \leq (\beta h)_*(r_L(h(a)))$.

Theorem 5.2.2. For any frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$, the square

commutes.

Proof. For any $I \in Idl(\mathcal{R}L)$,

$$\Delta_M((\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[I]) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta M} \left(\bigvee_{\tau \in (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[I]} r_M(\operatorname{coz} \tau) \right),$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} (\beta h_*)[\Delta_L(I)] &= (\beta h)_* \left[\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \Big(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha) \Big) \right] \\ &= \mathfrak{c}_{\beta M} \left((\beta h)_* \Big(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha) \Big) \Big) \qquad \text{since } (\beta h)_* \text{ is a closed map} \\ &= \mathfrak{c}_{\beta M} \Big(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} (\beta h)_* \big(r_L(\cos \alpha) \big) \Big) \qquad \text{since } \beta h \text{ is perfect }. \end{aligned}$$

Consequently, we shall be done if we can prove that, for any ideal I of $\mathcal{R}L$,

$$\bigvee_{\tau \in (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[I]} r_M(\operatorname{coz} \tau) = \bigvee_{\alpha \in I} (\beta h)_* (r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)).$$

But now if $\tau \in (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[I]$, then $(\mathcal{R}h)(\tau) \in I$ and

$$(\beta h)(r_M(\cos \tau)) \le r_L(h(\cos \tau)) = r_L(\cos(\mathcal{R}h)(\tau)),$$

so that if we set $\alpha = (\mathcal{R}h)(\tau)$, we have $\alpha \in I$ and $r_M(\cos \tau) \leq (\beta h)_*(r_L(\cos \alpha))$. We therefore have the inequality

$$\bigvee_{\tau \in (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[I]} r_M(\operatorname{coz} \tau) \leq \bigvee_{\alpha \in I} (\beta h)_* (r_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)).$$

To establish the opposite inequality, let us note that from the equality $(\beta h)_* \circ r_L = r_M \circ h_*$, which always holds,

$$\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} (\beta h)_* (r_L(\cos \alpha)) = \bigvee_{\alpha \in I} r_M(h_*(\cos \alpha)).$$

Given $\alpha \in I$, let $c \in r_M(h_*(\cos \alpha))$, and pick $\delta \in \mathcal{R}M$ such that $c \prec \cos \delta \prec h_*(\cos \alpha)$. Then $h(\cos \delta) \prec h(h_*(\cos \alpha)) \leq \cos \alpha$. This says $\cos ((\mathcal{R}h)(\delta)) \prec \cos \alpha$, which implies $(\mathcal{R}h)(\delta)$ is a multiple of α , and hence $\delta \in (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[I]$. Since $c \in r_M(\cos \delta)$, we deduce that

$$r_M(h_*(\cos \alpha)) \leq \bigvee_{\tau \in (\mathcal{R}h)^{-1}[I]} r_M(\cos \tau),$$

and, upon taking joins over all $\alpha \in I$, we get the desired inequality. This completes the proof. \Box

5.3 The Lindelöf analogue

The subcategory of **CRFrm** consisting of the compact objects is coreflective, with the coreflector β : **CRFrm** \rightarrow **KCRFrm**. The map Δ associates with each ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ a sublocale of βL defined in terms of the right adjoint of the homomorphism $j_L: \beta L \rightarrow L$. In the opposite direction, Ψ associates with each sublocale of βL an ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ defined in terms of how it relates to a certain open sublocale of βL .

Now, the subcategory of **CRFrm** consisting of the Lindelöf objects is also coreflective, with the coreflector λ : **CRFrm** \rightarrow **KCRFrm** which we will describe shortly. See [31] for details. We wish to consider a map which associates with each ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ a sublocale of λL defined analogously to the compact case, but using the right adjoint of coreflection map $\lambda_L : \lambda L \rightarrow L$ to L from Lindelöf objects. In the opposite direction, we will associate with each sublocale of λL an ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ defined in terms of how it relates to a certain open sublocale of λL .

Turning to some background, the frame of σ -ideals of $\operatorname{Coz} L$ is denoted by λL . It is a Lindelöf completely regular frame. The map $\lambda_L \colon \lambda L \to L$ that sends a σ -ideal to its join in L is a dense surjective frame homomorphism, and it is the coreflection map to L from Lindelöf completely regular frames. We denote its right adjoint by ϱ_L , and recall that, for any $a \in L$,

$$\varrho_L(a) = \{ c \in \operatorname{Coz} L \mid c \le a \}.$$

Thus, if $a \in \operatorname{Coz} L$, then $\varrho_L(a)$ is the principal ideal of $\operatorname{Coz} L$ generated by a. Comparing ϱ_L to r_L , we observe the parallelism:

 $r_{L|\operatorname{Coz} L}$: $\operatorname{Coz} L \to \beta L$ is a lattice homomorphism, and $\varrho_{L|\operatorname{Coz} L}$: $\operatorname{Coz} L \to \lambda L$ is a σ -frame homomorphism. In fact, $\varrho_{L|\operatorname{Coz} L}$: $\operatorname{Coz} L \to \operatorname{Coz}(\lambda L)$ is a σ -frame isomorphism.

For any $I \in \beta L$, let $\langle I \rangle_{\sigma}$ denote the σ -ideal of $\operatorname{Coz} L$ generated by I. Explicitly, for any $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$,

 $c \in \langle I \rangle_{\sigma}$ iff there is a sequence (c_n) in I such that $c = \bigvee_n c_n$.

We denote by k_L the dense surjective frame homomorphism

 $k_L \colon \beta L \to \lambda L$ given by $k_L(I) = \langle I \rangle_{\sigma}$.

It is not difficult to show that the composite

$$\beta L \xrightarrow{k_L} \lambda L \xrightarrow{\lambda_L} L$$

is the homomorphism $j_L: \beta L \to L$, so that $r_L = (k_L)_* \circ \varrho_L$, and hence $k_L \circ r_L = \varrho_L$ since k_L is surjective. We will use this observation below.

The map Ψ in Section 5.1 is defined in terms of O-ideals, which themselves are defined in terms of sublocales of βL . In order to have an analogy in terms of λL , we first define the following ideals.

For any sublocale A of λL , the ideal \mathbf{N}^A of $\mathcal{R}L$ is defined by

$$\boldsymbol{N}^{A} = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\lambda L}(\varrho_{L}((\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^{*})) \} = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{R}L \mid A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\lambda L}(\varrho_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^{*}) \}.$$

One checks routinely that N^A is indeed an ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$. Actually, these N-ideals are some special cases of O-ideals, as we show below.

Lemma 5.3.1. If $h: M \to L$ is a surjective frame homomorphism, A is a sublocale of L, and $a \in L$, then $A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_L(a)$ iff $h_*[A] \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_M(h_*(a))$.

Proof. It suffices to show that $A \cap \mathfrak{c}_L(a) = \mathsf{O}$ if and only if $h_*[A] \cap \mathfrak{c}_L(h_*(a)) = \mathsf{O}$. But this follows easily from the fact that h_* is injective (as h is surjective) and $h_*(1) = 1$. \Box

Proposition 5.3.2. For any sublocale A of λL , $\mathbf{N}^{A} = \mathbf{O}^{(k_{L})_{*}[A]}$.

Proof. For any $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L$,

$$\alpha \in \mathbf{N}^{A} \iff A \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\lambda L}(\varrho_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^{*})$$
$$\iff (k_{L})_{*}[A] \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}((k_{L})_{*}(\varrho_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^{*})) \qquad \text{by Lemma 5.3.1}$$
$$\iff (k_{L})_{*}[A] \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\beta L}(r_{L}(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)^{*}) \qquad \text{since } (k_{L})_{*} \circ \varrho_{L} = r_{L}$$
$$\iff \alpha \in \mathbf{O}^{(k_{L})_{*}[A]},$$

which proves the proposition.

This proposition says if we view λL as a sublocale of βL (which we can do by identifying λL with its isomorphic copy $(k_L)_*[\lambda L]$), then the **N**-ideals are exactly the **O**-ideals associated with

sublocales of λL . Since the map $A \mapsto O^A$ is not injective (indeed, for any dense sublocale D of βL , O^D is the zero ideal, as one checks readily), there is nothing a priori that says the sets of O-ideals and N-ideals do not coincide. They however generally do not; and below we identify the frames for which they do coincide.

Recall that a frame L is called *pseudocompact* if every element of $\mathcal{R}L$ is bounded, in the sense of f-rings. There are several characterizations, such as L is pseudocompact if and only if λL is compact [6, Proposition 2] if and only if $\beta L \cong \lambda L$. The latter makes one implication in Theorem 5.3.3 below unsurprising.

In the proof of the upcoming result we shall use the notion of codenseness. A frame homomorphism is called *codense* if the top of its domain is the only elements it maps to the top. In the category of regular frames, codense morphisms are exactly the injective ones. We shall also use the fact (see, for instance, [17, Corollary 3.5]) that the neat ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ are precisely the ideals \boldsymbol{O}^A for A a closed sublocale of βL . The notation used in [17] is different though. Note, further, that if A and B are closed sublocales of βL with $\boldsymbol{O}^A = \boldsymbol{O}^B$, then A = B.

Theorem 5.3.3. The O-ideals of $\mathcal{R}L$ are exactly the N-ideals iff L is pseudocompact.

Proof. If L is pseudocompact, then $k_L: \beta L \to \lambda L$ is an isomorphism, as can be deduced from the characterization of βL in [4, Corollary 8.2.7]. It then follows from Proposition 5.3.2 that the sets of **O**-ideals and **N**-ideals coincide.

Conversely, suppose that the sets of O-ideals and N-ideals coincide. We prove that λL is compact by showing that $k_L \colon \beta L \to \lambda L$ is codense. Consider then any $I \in \beta L$ with $k_L(I) = 1_{\lambda L}$. By hypothesis, there is a sublocale A of λL such that $O^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)} = \mathbb{N}^A$. Thus, by Proposition 5.3.2, $O^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)} = O^{(k_L)*[A]}$, which makes $O^{(k_L)*[A]}$ a neat ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$, and so by [19, Lemma 2.9], $O^{(k_L)*[A]} = O^{\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(k_L)*[A]}$, which then implies $\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(k_L)*[A] = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}(I)$.

Now,

$$\mathrm{cl}_{\beta L}(k_L)_*[A] = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}\Big(\bigwedge(k_L)_*[A]\Big) = \mathfrak{c}_{\beta L}\Big((k_L)_*\Big(\bigwedge A\Big)\Big),$$

which then implies $I = (k_L)_*(\bigwedge A)$, and hence, in light of k_L being surjective,

$$\bigwedge A = k_L \Big((k_L)_* \Big(\bigwedge A \Big) \Big) = k_L(I) = 1_{\lambda L}.$$

This implies that $I = 1_{\beta L}$, as desired. So k_L is injective and hence is an isomorphism, making λL compact, and hence L pseudocompact.

Now we define two maps Γ_L : $\mathrm{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L) \to \mathcal{S}(\lambda L)^{\mathrm{op}}$ and $\Phi_L \colon \mathcal{S}(\lambda L)^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathrm{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L)$ by adapting the definitions of Δ and Ψ . Namely, for any $I \in \mathcal{R}L$ and $A \in \mathcal{S}(\lambda L)^{\mathrm{op}}$,

$$\Gamma_L(I) = \mathfrak{c}_{\lambda L} \left(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} \varrho_L(\cos \alpha) \right) \quad \text{and} \quad \Phi_L(A) = \mathbf{N}^A$$

As usual, we will forget the subscripts when such selective amnesia leads to no harm.

Remark 5.3.4. A quick remark here may not come amiss. Unlike in the compact case, the join in the definition of $\Gamma_L(I)$ cannot be replaced with a union even though it is directed. Indeed, if $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$ is not complemented, then, for the ideal $I = \{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L \mid \operatorname{coz} \gamma \prec c\}$, we have $c \in \bigvee_{\alpha \in I} \varrho_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)$ but $c \notin \bigcup_{\alpha \in I} \varrho_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)$. Indeed, if the latter were false, there would exist $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$ such that $c \leq \operatorname{coz} \gamma \prec c$, making c complemented. To see the former, find a sequence (c_n) of cozero elements of L with $c_n \prec c_{n+1}$ for each n and $c = \bigvee_n c_n$. Then choose, for each n, $\gamma_n \in \mathcal{R}L$ with $c_n = \operatorname{coz}(\gamma_n)$. Then each γ_n belongs to I, whence the claimed membership holds.

The maps Γ and Δ are connected through a frame homomorphism as follows.

Proposition 5.3.5. The triangle



commutes. That is, $\Gamma = ((k_L)_*)_{-1}[-] \circ \Delta$.

Proof. For any $I \in Idl(\mathcal{R}L)$,

$$\begin{pmatrix} ((k_L)_*)_{-1}[-] \circ \Delta \end{pmatrix} (I) = ((k_L)_*)_{-1} \left[\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} \left(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha) \right) \right]$$
$$= \mathfrak{c}_{\lambda L} \left(k_L \left(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} r_L(\cos \alpha) \right) \right)$$
$$= \mathfrak{c}_{\lambda L} \left(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} k_L \left(r_L(\cos \alpha) \right) \right)$$
$$= \mathfrak{c}_{\lambda L} \left(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} \varrho_L(\cos \alpha) \right)$$
$$= \Gamma(I),$$

which proves the result.

This proposition yields a corollary that is a perfect analogue of Proposition 5.1.4(a). Recall that in the β -case we have $\Delta(\mathbf{O}^A) = \operatorname{cl}_{\beta L} A$ for any sublocale A of βL . The λ -case analogue of this is precisely the following result.

Corollary 5.3.6. For any sublocale A of λL , $\Gamma(\mathbf{N}^A) = \operatorname{cl}_{\lambda L} A$.

Proof. For brevity, we write κ for the localic map $(k_L)_*$. Now,

$$\Gamma(\mathbf{N}^{A}) = \kappa_{-1} [\Delta(\mathbf{N}^{A})] \quad \text{by Proposition 5.3.5}$$

$$= \kappa_{-1} [\Delta(\mathbf{O}^{\kappa[A]})] \quad \text{by Proposition 5.3.2}$$

$$= \kappa_{-1} [\operatorname{cl}_{\beta L} \kappa[A]] \quad \text{by Proposition 5.1.4(a)}$$

$$= \kappa_{-1} [\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} (\bigwedge \kappa[A])]$$

$$= \kappa_{-1} [\mathfrak{c}_{\beta L} (\kappa(\bigwedge A))] \quad \text{since } \kappa \text{ is a localic map}$$

$$= \mathfrak{c}_{\lambda L} (k_{L} (\kappa(\bigwedge A)))$$

$$= \mathfrak{c}_{\lambda L} (\bigwedge A) \quad \text{since } k_{L} \circ (k_{L})_{*} = \operatorname{id}_{\lambda L} \text{ as } k_{L} \text{ is onto}$$

$$= \operatorname{cl}_{\lambda L} A,$$

which proves the result.

We saw in Proposition 5.1.4(c) that, for any ideal I of $\mathcal{R}L$, $O^{\Delta(I)} = mI$; an ideal related to L by the characterization

$$\gamma \in mI \quad \iff \quad (\exists \alpha \in I)(\operatorname{coz} \gamma \prec \operatorname{coz} \alpha).$$

We shall see that we have an analogous situation in the λ -case. Towards that end, we introduce the following definition.

Definition 5.3.7. Given an ideal I of $\mathcal{R}L$, we define the ideal sI of $\mathcal{R}L$ by

$$sI = \Big\{ \gamma \in \mathcal{R}L \mid \operatorname{coz} \gamma \prec \bigvee_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{coz}(\alpha_n) \text{ for some sequence } (\alpha_n) \text{ in } I \Big\}.$$

It is routine to check that sI is indeed an ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$. Furthermore, the condition defining sI is a "countable" version of the condition characterizing mI because, by the properties of the cozero map, $\gamma \in mI$ if and only if $\cos \gamma \prec \cos(\alpha_1) \lor \cdots \lor \cos(\alpha_n)$ for some finite set $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n\} \subseteq I$. Here are some quick observations about the ideal sI.

Observation 5.3.8. For any ideal I of $\mathcal{R}L$:

- (a) sI is neat;
- (b) $mI \subseteq sI$; and
- (c) mI = sI if and only if $sI \subseteq I$, since mI is the largest neat ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ contained in I.

For use in the proof of the next lemma, let us recall that ϱ_L induces a σ -frame isomorphism $\varrho_{L|\operatorname{Coz} L}$: $\operatorname{Coz} L \to \operatorname{Coz}(\lambda L)$, as a consequence of which we have that, for any $c, d \in \operatorname{Coz} L$, $c \prec d$ if and only if $\varrho_L(c) \prec \varrho_L(d)$.

Lemma 5.3.9. For any ideal I of $\mathcal{R}L$, $\mathbf{N}^{\Gamma(I)} = sI$. That is, $\Phi(\Gamma(I)) = sI$.

Proof. Given $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$, we have

$$\gamma \in \mathbf{N}^{\Gamma(I)} \quad \text{iff} \quad \Gamma(I) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\lambda L}(\varrho_L(\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^*)$$
$$\text{iff} \quad \mathfrak{c}_{\lambda L}\left(\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} \varrho_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)\right) \subseteq \mathfrak{o}_{\lambda L}(\varrho_L(\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^*)$$
$$\text{iff} \quad \varrho_L(\operatorname{coz} \gamma)^* \lor \bigvee_{\alpha \in I} \varrho_L(\operatorname{coz} \alpha) = 1_{\lambda L}.$$

Since λL is Lindelöf, this last statement holds if and only if there is a sequence (α_n) in I such that

$$\varrho_L(\operatorname{coz}\gamma)^* \vee \bigvee_{n=1}^{\infty} \varrho_L(\operatorname{coz}(\alpha_n)) = 1_{\lambda L}.$$

Now, since the restriction of ϱ_L to $\operatorname{Coz} L$ is a σ -frame homomorphism, since the rather below relation coincides with the completely below relation in normal frames, and since λL is normal (being a regular Lindelöf frame), we have that $\gamma \in \mathbf{N}^{\Gamma(I)}$ if and only if there is a sequence (α_n) in I such that

$$\varrho_L(\operatorname{coz}\gamma)\prec \varrho_L\left(\bigvee_{n=1}^\infty \operatorname{coz}(\alpha_n)\right),$$

which, in turn, holds if and only if $\cos \gamma \prec \bigvee_n \cos(\alpha_n)$. This proves the proposition.

Now, since Δ is a quantale homomorphism, and since Γ is a composite of quantale homomorphisms (Proposition 5.3.5), it follows that Γ is a quantale homomorphism. A calculation similar to that which showed that Ψ preserves meets shows that Γ preserves meets. We now have the following analogue Theorem 5.1.7(b).

Theorem 5.3.10. The following are equivalent for a completely regular frame L.

- (1) $\Gamma \dashv \Psi$.
- (2) L is a P-frame.
- (3) $I \subseteq sI$ for every ideal I of $\mathcal{R}L$.

Proof. (1) \Leftrightarrow (3): Since $\Gamma(\Psi(A)) = \operatorname{cl}_{\lambda L} A$ for every sublocale A of λL (Corollary 5.3.6), so that we always have $\Gamma \circ \Psi \leq \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{S}(\lambda L)^{\operatorname{op}}}, \Gamma \dashv \Psi$ if and only if $I \subseteq \Psi(\Gamma(I))$ for every ideal I of $\mathcal{R}L$, that is, if and only if $I \subseteq sI$ for every I in light of Lemma 5.3.9. Therefore (1) and (3) are equivalent. (3) \Rightarrow (2): Let $c \in \operatorname{Coz} L$, and pick $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}L$ such that $c = \operatorname{coz} \gamma$. Let I be the principal ideal $\langle \gamma \rangle$. Since $\gamma \in I$, (3) says $\gamma \in sI$, so there is a sequence (γ_n) in I such that $\operatorname{coz} \gamma \prec \bigvee_n \operatorname{coz}(\gamma_n)$. Since each γ_n is a multiple of γ , $\operatorname{coz}(\gamma_n) \leq \operatorname{coz} \gamma$, and so $\operatorname{coz} \gamma \prec \operatorname{coz} \gamma$, which implies that c is complemented. Therefore L is a P-frame.

(2) \Rightarrow (3): If *L* is a *P*-frame, then every ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$ is neat. Hence, for any ideal *I* of $\mathcal{R}L$, $I = mI \subseteq sI$.

Recall from [29, Lemma V 2.8] that an ideal I of a ring A is neat if and only if $IJ = I \cap J$, for every ideal J of A. Thus, if L is a P-frame, then the quantale $(Idl(\mathcal{R}L), \cdot, \sum)$ is exactly the frame $(Idl(\mathcal{R}L), \cap, \sum)$, which then makes the map Δ : $Idl(\mathcal{R}L) \to S(\beta L)^{op}$ a frame homomorphism, and hence Γ : $Idl(\mathcal{R}L) \to S(\lambda L)^{op}$ is a frame homomorphism by Proposition 5.3.5. Thus, $sI = \Gamma_*(\Gamma(I))$, for every $I \in Idl(\mathcal{R}L)$, which makes the mapping $I \mapsto sI$ a nucleus on $Idl(\mathcal{R}L)$. We therefore have the following corollary to Theorem 5.3.10.

Corollary 5.3.11. If L is P-frame, then the set $\{sI \mid I \in Idl(\mathcal{R}L)\}$ is a sublocale of $Idl(\mathcal{R}L)$. Furthermore, it is dense.

Remark 5.3.12. It vexes us that we are unable to characterize the ideals I for which $sI \subseteq I$. We should point out though that strongly divisible ideals, as defined by Azarpanah [2], are of this kind. To recall, an ideal I in a ring is called *strongly divisible* if for every sequence (u_n) in I, there is an element $u \in I$ such that each u_n is a multiple of u. One checks easily that if I is a strongly divisible ideal of $\mathcal{R}L$, then $sI \subseteq I$. In C(X), they include the maximal ideals M such that $C(X)/M \cong \mathbb{R}$ [2, Corollary 4.3].

We close by presenting analogues of Theorems 5.2.1 and 5.2.2. Each is about commutativity of a certain square. In contrast with the β -case, we will show that the λ -version of the square in Theorem 5.2.1 always commutes.

Proposition 5.3.13. For any frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$, the square

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{Idl}(\mathcal{R}M) & \xrightarrow{\langle (\mathcal{R}h)[-] \rangle} & \mathrm{Idl}(\mathcal{R}L) \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & &$$

is commutative.

Proof. A calculation analogous to that in the proof of Theorem 5.2.1 shows that the square commutes if and only if for any ideal I of $\mathcal{R}M$,

$$\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} (\lambda h) (\varrho_M(\cos \alpha)) = \bigvee_{\tau \in (\mathcal{R}h)[I]} \varrho_L(\cos \tau).$$

Since $(\lambda h)(\varrho_L(c)) = \varrho_L(h(c))$ for every $c \in \operatorname{Coz} M$, it follows that the square in question commutes if and only if

$$\bigvee_{\alpha \in I} \varrho_L(h(\operatorname{coz} \alpha)) = \bigvee_{\tau \in (\mathcal{R}h)[I]} \varrho_L(\operatorname{coz} \tau).$$

But this last equation always holds because for any $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}L$, the element $\tau = (\mathcal{R}h)(\alpha)$ belongs to $(\mathcal{R}h)[I]$ and $h(\cos \alpha) = \cos \tau$. Therefore the square above always commutes.

The discrepancy between the two results can be explained as follows. A WN-homomorphism $h: M \to L$ is defined by requiring the containment $(\beta h)(r_M(c)) \subseteq r_L(h(c))$ to be an equality for every $c \in \operatorname{Coz} M$. On the other hand, the corresponding containment $(\lambda h)(\varrho_M(c)) \subseteq \varrho_L(h(c))$ is always an equality. Viewed differently, as remarked earlier, ϱ_L restricts to a σ -frame isomorphism

 $\operatorname{Coz} L \to \operatorname{Coz}(\lambda L)$, whereas r_L does not necessarily restrict to a σ -frame isomorphism onto $\operatorname{Coz}(\beta L)$.

Turning to the analogue of Theorem 5.2.2, let us write $S: \mathbf{Frm} \to \mathbf{Frm}$ for the functor that sends L to $S(L)^{\mathrm{op}}$ and a morphism $h: M \to L$ to the morphism $(h_*)_{-1}[-]: S(M)^{\mathrm{op}} \to S(L)^{\mathrm{op}}$, which we name S(h).

Proposition 5.3.14. For any frame homomorphism $h: M \to L$, the square



is commutative.

Proof. The square on the left of the diagrams



is known to commute, and hence the one on the right also commutes. Now, in the diagram



the triangles commute by Proposition 5.3.5, the upper trapezoid commutes by Theorem 5.2.2, and the lower trapezoid commutes, as just noted. So it follows that the outer square commutes, which is precisely what we are supposed to prove. \Box

Bibliography

- E. Abu Osba, H. Al-Ezeh, The pure part of the ideals in C(X), Math. J. Okayama Univ. 45 (2003), 73–82.
- [2] F. Azarpanah, Algebraic properties of some compact spaces, Real Anal. Exchange, 25 (1999/2000), 317–328.
- [3] D. Baboolal, B. Banaschewski, Compactification and local connectedness of frames, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 70 (1991), 3–16.
- [4] R.N. Ball, J. Walters-Wayland, C- and C*-quotients in pointfree topology, Dissert. Math. (Rozprawy Mat.), Vol. 412 (2002), 62pp.
- [5] B. Banaschewski, The real numbers in pointfree topology, Textos de Matemática Série B, No. 12, Departamento de Matemática da Universidade de Coimbra, 1997.
- B. Banaschewski, C. Gilmour, Pseudocompactness and the cozero part of a frame, Comment. Math. Univ. Carolin. 37 (1996), 577–587.
- B. Banaschewski, C. Gilmour, Oz revisited, In: Proceedings of the Conference Categorical Methods in Algebra and Topology, (H. Herrlich and H.-E. Porst, eds.), Math. Arbeitspapiere Nr. 54, pp. 19–23, Universität Bremen, 2000.
- [8] B. Banaschewski, A. Pultr, *Booleanization*, Cahiers Topologie Géom. Diff. Catég. 37 (1996), 41–60.
- [9] W.E. Dietrich, On the ideal structure of C(X), Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 152 (1970), 61–77.
- [10] T. Dube, Some notes on C- and C^{*}-quotients of frames, Order 25 (2008), 369–375.

- T. Dube, Concerning P-frames, essential P-frames, and strongly zero-dimensional frames, Algebra Universalis 61 (2009), 115–138.
- T. Dube, Remote points and the like in pointfree topology, Acta Math. Hungar., 123 (2009), 203–222.
- [13] T. Dube, Some algebraic characterizations of F-frames, Algebra Universalis, 62 (2009), 273-288.
- [14] T. Dube, Some ring-theoretic properties of almost P-frames, Algebra Universalis 60 (2009), 145–162.
- [15] T. Dube, Contracting the socle in rings of continuous functions, Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova 123 (2010), 37–54.
- [16] T. Dube, Notes on pointfree disconnectivity with a ring-theoretic slant, Appl. Categor. Struct. 18 (2010), 55-72.
- [17] T. Dube, On the ideal of functions with compact support in pointfree function rings, Acta Math. Hungar. 129 (2010), 205-226.
- [18] T. Dube, Concerning P-sublocales and disconnectivity, Appl. Categ. Structures 27 (2019), 365–383.
- [19] T. Dube, On the maximal regular ideal of pointfree function rings, and more, Topology Appl. 273 (2020), 1–18.
- [20] T. Dube, D.N. Stephen, On ideals of rings of continuous functions associated with sublocales, Topology Appl. 284 (2020), 107360.
- [21] M.J. Ferreira, J. Picado, S.M. Pinto, *Remainders in pointfree topology*, Topology Appl. 245 (2018), 21–45.
- [22] M. Ghirati, A. Taherifar, Intersections of essential (resp. free) maximal ideals of C(X), Topology Appl. 167 (2014), 62–68.
- [23] L. Gillman, M. Henriksen, M. Jerison, On a theorem of Gelfand and Kolmogoroff concerning maximal ideals in rings of continuous functions, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 5, 447–455 (1954)

- [24] L. Gillman, M. Jerison, *Rings of continuous functions* (Van Nostrand, New York, 1960).
- [25] J. Gutiérrez García, T. Kubiak, J. Picado, Perfectness in locales, Quaest. Math. 40, (2017), 507–518.
- [26] O. Ighedo, Concerning ideals of pointfree function rings, PhD thesis, University of South Africa, Pretoria, 2014.
- [27] J. Isbell, Atomless parts of spaces, Math. Scand. **31** (1972), 5–32.
- [28] D.G. Johnson, M. Mandelker, Functions with pseudocompact support, Gen. Topology Appl. 3 (1973), 331–338.
- [29] P.T. Johnstone, Stone Spaces, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1982.
- [30] R. Levy, Almost-P-spaces, Can. J. Math. **29**(2) (1977), 284–288.
- [31] J. Madden, J. Vermeer, *Lindelöf locales and realcompactness*, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 99 (1986), 473–480.
- [32] A. Majidinya, A. Mousavvi, K. Paykan, Rings in which the annihilator of an ideal is Pure, Algebra Colloq. 22 (2015), 947–968.
- [33] M. Mandelker, Round z-filters and round subsets of βX , Israel J. Math. 7 (1969), 1–8.
- [34] C.J. Mulvey, &, Suppl. Renc. Circ. Mat. Palermo Ser. II 12 (1986), 99–104.
- [35] J. Picado, A. Pultr, Frames and Locales: topology without points, Frontiers in Mathematics, Springer/Basel 2012.
- [36] J. Picado, A. Pultr, A. Tozzi, Joins of closed sublocales, Houst. J. Math. 45 (2019), 21–38.
- [37] T. Plewe, Higher order dissolutions and Boolean coreflections of locales, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 154 (2000), 273–293.
- [38] T. Plewe, Sublocale lattices, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 168 (2002), 309–326.
- [39] V. Pták, Completeness and the open mapping theorem, Bull. Soc. Math. France 86 (1958), 41-74.
- [40] K.I. Rosenthal, Quantales and their applications, Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series, 234, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1990.
- [41] R.G. Woods, Maps that characterize normality properties and pseudocompactness, J. London Math. Soc. 7 (1973), 453–461.